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Washington, D.C. 20549
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EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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or
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incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

11115 Rushmore Drive, Charlotte, North Carolina 2827
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(704) 541-5351
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Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dfie Act:

Title of Each Class Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock, $0.01 Par Value The NASDAQ Stock Market

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) tfie Act:
None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a vikelbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 40%edbéturities Act. Ye€d No X
Indicated by check mark if the registrant is najuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 astide 15(d) of the Act. Yedd No X

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant ék)filed all reports required to be filed by Secti® or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act 0f4193
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shqréeiod that the registrant was required to filehsteports), and (2) has been subject to suchyfilin
requirements for the past 90 days. ¥&s No O

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant bas#tted electronically and posted on its corpokilb site, if any, every Interactive Data File riegd to
be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 ofilegégn S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during thegeding 12 months (or for such shorter period ttet
Registrant was required to submit and post suebk)filYes[X No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquilers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (820 of this chapter) is not contained herein, witid
not be contained, to the best of Registrant's kadgé, in definitive proxy or information statemeintsorporated by reference in Part 1l of this FatthK or
any amendment to this Form 10-K1

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrantlésge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, @accelerated filer or a smaller reporting comp&se the
definitions of "large accelerated filer," "acceledfiler" and "smaller reporting company" in Rd2b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated fildd Accelerated fileEd Non-accelerated fildd Smaller reporting comparisl
(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrantsbedl company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the A¢gs O No
The aggregate market value of the voting commockdteld by non-affiliates of the Registrant aswfel 28, 2013 was $108,341,837 . For the purposes of

the forgoing calculation only, all directors andeeutive officers of the Registrant and third partigat own 5% or more of the voting common stoek ar
assumed to be affiliates of the Registrant.



As of March 14, 2014 , there w ere 11,305,642 shaf¢he Registrant's common stock, par value fpeédXkhare, outstanding.

Documents Incorporated By Reference:
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PART |

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information

This annual report on Form 10-K contains "forwandKing statements" within the meaning of the Sei@sriAct of 1933 and the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended by the Privatariies Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forwldpoking statements also include
statements related to our anticipated financidioperance, business prospects and strategy; arttcipieends and prospects in the various
industries in which our businesses operate; newymts, services and related strategies; and oitindlas matters. These forward-looking
statements are based on management's current &pestand assumptions about future events, whilnherently subject to uncertainties,
risks and changes in circumstances that are diffioypredict. The use of words such as "anticipdtéestimates,” "expects," "projects,”
"intends," "plans” and "believes," among othersagally identify forward-looking statements.

Actual results could differ materially from thosentained in the forward-looking statements. Factoirsently known to management that
could cause actual results to differ materiallyrirthose in forward-looking statements include thosdters discussed below.

Other unknown or unpredictable factors that coldd adversely affect our business, financial caodiand results of operations may arise
from time to time. In light of these risks and untaaties, the forward-looking statements discuseedtis report may not prove to be accurate.
Accordingly, you should not place undue reliancehmse forwardeoking statements, which only reflect the viewsToée.com management
of the date of this report. We undertake no obiigato update or revise forward-looking stateméoteflect changed assumptions, the
occurrence of unanticipated events or changesttiogfwperating results or expectations, excepéasired by law.

ITEM 1. Business

Our Company

Tree.com is the parent of LendingTree, LLC ("Lemdiree") and several companies owned by LendingTreedingTree, Inc. was
incorporated in the state of Delaware in June I#86commenced nationwide operations in July 1988dingTree, Inc. was acquired by
IAC/InterActiveCorp ("IAC") in 2003 and converted & Delaware limited liability company (LendingTré4.C) in December 2004. On
August 20, 2008, Tree.com, Inc. (along with itssdiary, LendingTree) was spun off from IAC/IntetideCorp into a separate publidsadec
company. We refer to the separation transactighea$spin-off" in this report. Tree.com was incored as a Delaware corporation in April
2008 in anticipation of the spin-off.

Tree.com is the owner of several brands and busisebat provide information, tools, advice, pradand services for critical transacti
in consumers' lives. Our family of brands includesndingTree®, GetSmart®, LendingTree EducaffénLendingTree Autos™, LendingTres
Home ProsMand InsuranceTree®. Together, these brands semae al$y for consumers who are looking to comparisbop for loans,
educational programs, home services providers #rat services from multiple businesses and prafesss who will compete for their
business.

Our Business

We operate as a branded performance marketerisloapacity, we serve as an ally to consumers wéidoaking to comparison-shop and
make informed purchase decisions for loans and ati@ortant transactions. We do so by providingstoners with a broad array of
information and tools free of charge, conveniehdlyated on our various websites. In addition, wavjate consumers with access to offers fron
multiple providers that can compete for their bassy usually through a single inquiry form. We asove as a valued partner to businesses
seeking customer acquisition support services diictly measurable benefits, by matching the coresunquiries we generate with these
businesses.

Through our strategically designed and executeériding and marketing campaigns promoting our liggitiree and related brands and
offerings, we attract consumers to our websitestalfdree telephone numbers. Many consumers tloenpdete inquiry forms, providing
detailed information about themselves and the ptsdor services they are seeking. We refer to snosumer inquiries as leads. We then
match these leads with businesses seeking to ge¥se consumers' needs, in a forum we refer ta agehange. In so doing, we generate
revenue from these businesses, generally at tredirtransmitting a lead to them, for which we deaa match fee. In certain instances outsid
our mortgage business, such as our auto businesshavge other kinds of fees, such as a closeddoalosed sale fee.
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Evolution and Future Growth of Our Business

At its inception, our original business was to setensumers seeking home mortgage loans by matttiengwith various lenders. We
launched the LendingTree brand nationally in 1998, aver the last sixteen years, we believe trasndhthas gained widespread consumer
recognition.

Currently, in addition to mortgage, we are focusadther personal finance-related offerings, suchaasonal loans and credit cards, as
well as the automotive industry, where we promatelendingTree Auto§"brand, the education industry, where we promote_eadingTree
Education®™brand and the home services industry, where we gi@our LendingTree Home Préébrand. We believe that consumers will
have a higher propensity to utilize our variousses by virtue of their LendingTree-branded asstians than those of other providers whose
brands consumers may not recognize.

Going forward, in addition to operating our corertgage business, we intend to focus increasinglgrowing our existing non-mortgage
businesses, seeking to penetrate new industriederedoping new product offerings and enhancenteritaprove the experiences that
consumers and businesses have as they interactsviBy expanding our portfolio of product and ses\offerings, we are seeking to grow
diversify our business and sources of revenue.némd to capitalize on our expertise in performameeketing, product development and
technology, and leverage the widespread recognitidhe LendingTree brand to pursue this strategy.

Our Segments

Our four operating segments are lending, auto, athrcand home services. We sometimes refer tethpsrating segments as our
"businesses". Of these, only our lending operagemment meets the criteria for a reportable segridémtformerly referred to this reportable
segment as our mortgage segm8&et.Note 18—Segment Information to the consolidated finandiatesnents included elsewhere in this rey

Lending

Consumers seeking home mortgage loans can acaesatmnwide network of more than 300 banks, les@ard loan brokers online (via
www.lendingtree.com or www.getsmart.com) or by calling 1-800-555-TREE. We refer to thesaks, lenders and loan brokers as our network
lenders. Loan products offered by network lenderssist primarily of home mortgages (in connectigthwefinancings and purchases), home
equity loans and reverse mortgages.

We select lenders throughout the country in anreffoprovide full geographic lending coverage amaffer a complete suite of loan
offerings available in the market. To participateaur network, lenders are required to enter iotati@acts with us that state the terms and
conditions for such participation, although thesetracts generally may be terminated for conver@dnceither party. We perform certain due
diligence procedures on prospective new lendectyding screening against a national anti-fraudldase maintained by the Mortgage Asset
Research Institute, which helps manage our risksxe. The data is utilized to determine whetHender and its principals are eligible to
participate on our network and have not been coediof and/or penalized for fraudulent activityr ftee year ended December 31, 2013, one
customer accounted for 12% of total revenue anthan@ccounted for 12% of total revenue. For the yaded December 31, 2012 , one
customer accounted for 14% of total revenue anthan@accounted for 11% of total revenue.

Consumers seeking mortgage loans through our lereterork can receive multiple conditional loan oéfécom network lenders in
response to a single loan request form. We refthegrocess by which we match consumers and nktenders as the matching process. Thi
matching process consists of the following steps:

(1) Loan Request. Consumers complete a single loan request forim wfbrmation regarding the type of home loan pidhey are
seeking, loan preferences and other data. Conswatsarsonsent to a soft inquiry regarding theidire

(2) Loan Request Form Matching and Transmission. Our proprietary systems and technology matchvargconsumer's loan request
form data, self-reported credit profile and geogiapocation against certain pre-established gatef network lenders, which may be
modified from time to time. Once a given loan resjygasses through the matching process, the lomeseis automatically
transmitted to up to five participating network diens.

(3) Lender Evaluation and Response. Network lenders that receive a loan request fevaluate the information contained in it to
determine whether to make a conditional loan offeany of the network lenders initially receiviagoan request do not respond with
a conditional loan offer, the loan request forrdirgected through the matching process a seconditirag attempt to match the
consumer with other network lenders, up to a maxinaf five.
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(4) Communication of a Conditional Offer. If one or more network lenders make a conditiaffdr, the consumer is automatically
notified via e-mail to return to our website and lo to a web page that presents the customizeddffars ("My Account"). Through
the My Account web page, consumers may access@angare the proposed terms of each conditional affeluding interest rates,
closing costs, monthly payment amounts, lender deelsother information.

(5) Loan Processing. Consumers may then elect to work offline witrexant network lenders to provide property informatand
additional information bearing on their creditwanibss. If a network lender approves a consumepkcagion, it may then underwrite
and originate a loan.

(6) Ongoing Consumer and Lender Support. Active e-mail and telephone support are provitbebloth network lenders and consumers
during the loan transaction process. This supgatesigned to provide technical assistance andaseroverall satisfaction of network
lenders and consumers.

We also offer consumers an alternative "short-fonmatching process, which provides them with lermertact information rather than
conditional offers from network lenders. This shfortm process typically requires consumers to stibess data than required in connection
with the matching process described above and moteigvolve consumer consent to an inquiry regaydiredit.

In January 2013, we expanded our mortgage offefiydaunching LoanExplorer, a "rate table" loan ke#place where consumers can
enter their loan and credit profile and dynamicaiw real-time rates from lenders without entertihgir contact information. Consumers then
have the option of calling lenders directly, clivgithrough to lenders' websites, or sending dafaests for lenders to follow up with them
directly. We developed this offering through int&rproduct development efforts.

Other lending offerings include information, toalsd access to:

» Reverse mortgage loans, a loan product avaitabd@alifying homeowners age 62 or older; we ldaucthis offering in the first
quarter of 2013 through internal product develophedforts,

» Personal loans, which are unsecured obligati@merally carrying shorter terms and smaller laaouants than mortgages; we have
historically operated a personal loan offering, launched an enhanced version of this offerindnénthird quarter of 2013, and

» Credit cards offerings from all the major is®jave launched this offering in the second quat&013 through internal product
development efforts.

We intend to continue adding new lending offerifgsconsumers and lenders, in order to grow andrdify our sources of revenue. We
may develop such new offerings through internatipod development efforts, strategic business miahips with third parties and/or
acquisitions.

LendingTree does not charge consumers for the fusar services. Substantially all revenues fromleader network are derived from
upfront match fees paid by network lenders thatikexa lead. Previously, network lenders also phiding fees when they closed a transactio
with a consumer, but this closing fee was elimidate2011 for all mortgage products, with the exmepof home equity loans. The closing fee
on home equity loan products was eliminated in danA013. Because a given loan request form canatehed with more than one network
lender, up to five match fees may be generated &@ingle consumer loan request form.

Other Operating Segments

Other operating segments include our auto, edutatiol home services businesses.

Auto . We offer a variety of resources to consumers s@dkians for purchasing new and used automobileg@méfinancing existing
auto loans. Consumers complete a loan requestdadrthen we match those applications with a natiplagform of banks, brokers and credit
unions seeking to serve these consumers. We dsoppbspective automobile buyers the opporturitgdgarch for new and used automobiles
through access to more than 4,000 dealerships.oM@tcharge fees to consumers for use of our saridces; rather, substantially all reven
from our auto customers—banks, credit unions, dglailes and dealer groups—are derived from upfraatcinfees, closed loan and closed sal
fees.
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Education. We offer referrals to more than 30 top-tier ingions and agencies for prospective students sgéhstitutions of higher
education. Supported programs include Associatash@&ors and Masters degrees across a broad raegbkject categories including Busine
Education, Healthcare, Nursing, Psychology and meltyy, among others. Our education websites peowitbrmation and a variety of
resources related to educational opportunitiepfospective students. We do not charge fees tppotise students for use of our education
services; rather, substantially all our revenuesdarived from educational institutions and agentdewhom we refer prospective students, in
the form of upfront match fees.

Home Services We offer consumers opportunities to researchfimachome improvement professional services throoghnetwork of
both local and national contractors. We have looakrage nationwide for many of the most populanddmprovement categories, through
direct contractor relationships and partner netw@/k generate consumer awareness both by offednghimprovement referrals during the
core LendingTree mortgage loan request form proesswell as through dedicated marketing effortghé fall of 2013, we rebranded this
business as LendingTree Home Pi$and launched a new, more uséendly website. We do not charge fees to conssrfmruse of our hon
services offerings; rather, substantially all raxemfrom our home services customers—independaitacors, national home services and
home improvement chains, other lead aggregatoretinedl home services marketing services providers-darived from upfront match fees.

Other Products Other also includes information, tools and actess

e Various consumer insurance products, includimgé and automobile, through which consumers arehadtwith licensed insurance
agents and insurance lead aggregators to obtaireimse offers;

» Personal credit data, through which consumengyedn insights into how prospective lenders ameiothird parties view their credit
profiles;

e  Credit repair and debt consolidation servicesyugh which consumers can obtain assistance irmmdkeir credit profiles, in order to
expand and improve loan and other financial prodpgortunities available to them; and

» Real estate brokerage services, through whioBwmoers are matched with local realtors who caistatgm in their home purchase or
sale efforts.

We refer to the various purchasers of leads fronother exchanges as lead purchasers.

Seasonality

Revenue in our lending business is subject to yokoal and seasonal trends of the U.S. housingcaadit markets. Home sales typically
rise during the spring and summer months and dedliming the fall and winter months, while refineagcand home equity activity is
principally driven by mortgage interest rates a#l a®real estate values. Revenue in our persoaal &nd credit card businesses is driven by
interest rates and availability of credit in therke.

In our other businesses, our:

» Auto business tends to have a seasonal incredie 8pring

» Education business tends to increase precedingpthenencement of new semesters;
* Home services business tends to increase duringuthenel

However, these trends in our businesses are noldsnd there have been exceptions to them.

Competition

Our lending and other businesses compete with ¢tdhdraggregators, including online intermediatied operate network-type
arrangements. We also face competition from lenthextssource consumer loan originations directipaigh their owned and operated website
or by phone. These companies typically operatewrnes-branded websites and attract consumers viaeophnner ads, keyword placement or
search engines, partnerships with affiliates arginmss development arrangements with other prageiticluding major online portals.
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Regulation and Legal Compliance

Our businesses market and provide services in lyg@gulated industries through a number of différenline and offline channels across
the United Statesdsee "ltem 1A. Risk Factors—Failure to comply with past, existing or new laws, rules and regulations, or to obtain and
maintain required licenses, could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. "). As a result, they are subject t
variety of statutes, rules, regulations, policied procedures in various jurisdictions in the Uthiftates, including:

» Restrictions on the amount and nature of fedsterest that may be charged in connection wittaa, such as state usury and fee
restrictions;

* Restrictions imposed by the Dodd-Frank Wall &tfeeform and Consumer Protection Act (the "DodzhkrAct") and current or
future rules promulgated thereunder, including,rmitlimited to, limitations on fees charged by tgage lenders, mortgage broker
disclosures and rules promulgated by the ConsumnanEial Protection Bureau, or CFPB, which was e@ander the Dodd-Frank
Act;

» Restrictions on the manner in which consumendaae marketed and originated, including the nakiirequired consumer
disclosures, such as the Federal Trade Commisditontgage Advertising Practices ("MAP") Rules, feglelTruth-inLending Act, the
federal Equal Credit Opportunity Act, the federalrFCredit Reporting Act, the federal Fair Houstj, the federal Real Estate
Settlement Procedures Act ("RESPA"), and similatestaws;

» Restrictions on the amount and nature of feasntay be charged to lenders and real estate profiegs for providing or obtaining
consumer leads, such as RESPA,;

» Restrictions on the amount and nature of feasritay be charged to consumers for real estateekagk transactions, including any
incentives and rebates that may be offered to e¢onasiby our businesses;

» Federal and State laws relating to the implematéort of the Secure and Fair Enforcement of Morgglaigensing Act of 2008 (the
"SAFE Act") that require us to be licensed in alit8s and the District of Columbia (licensing requients are applicable to both
individuals and/or businesses engaged in the satlimn of or the brokering of residential mortgagens and/or the brokering of real
estate transactions);

e State and federal restrictions on the markadictgyities conducted by telephone, mail, email, if@otdevice or the internet, including
the Telemarketing Sales Rule ("TSR"), Telephonedorer Protection Act ("TCPA"), state telemarketisngs, federal and state
privacy laws, the CAN-SPAM Act, and the Federalde&ommission Act and their accompanying regulatamd guidelines;

» Restrictions imposed by regulations promulgatethieyDepartment of Education with respect to mangéictivities and compensat
and incentive payments in connection the recruitraad enrollment of students in higher educati@gmms; and

e State "Bird Dog" laws which restrict the amoand nature of fees, if any, that may be chargetsumers for automobile direct and
indirect financing.

Intellectual Property

We believe that our intellectual property rights &ital to our success. To protect our intellecpraperty rights in our technology,
products, improvements and inventions, we rely eprabination of patents, trademarks, trade seakbther laws, and contractual restricti
on disclosure, including confidentiality agreemenith strategic partners, employees, consultandsadimer third parties. As new or improved
proprietary technologies are developed or investiare identified, we seek patent protection indhéed States and abroad, as appropriate
have two issued U.S. patents relating to our teldgies, including those relating to the method aetiork for coordinating a loan over the
internet, which expire in 2018. In March 2014, ddral jury found these two patents invalid. We@residering our legal alternatives with
respect to this jury findingsee "ltem 3. Legal Proceedings—LendingTree v. Zillowgl et al.” included elsewhere in this report. dididon to
these two issued patents, we also have four pentdliigpatent applications.

Many of our services are offered under proprieteagemarks and service marks. We generally applgdister or secure by contract our
principal trademarks and service marks as theylaveloped and used. We have 32 trademarks andsenarks registered with the United
States Patent and Trademark Office. These reg@sisatan typically be renewed at 10-year interwile.reserve and register domain names
when and where we deem appropriate and we curreatlg approximately 1,300 registered domain nakvesalso have agreements with third
parties that provide for the licensing of paterded proprietary technology used in our business.
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From time to time, we are subjected to legal prdoegs and claims, or threatened legal proceedingtaons, including allegations of
infringement of third-party trademarks, copyrighgatents and other intellectual property rightshird parties. In addition, the use of litigation
may be necessary for us to enforce our intelleqit@berty rights, protect trade secrets or to deiree the validity and scope of proprietary
rights claimed by others. Any litigation of thistnee, regardless of outcome or merit, could resusubstantial costs and diversion of
management and technical resources, any of whighl @alversely affect our business, financial caadiaind results of operatioree "ltem 3.
Legal Proceedings" included elsewhere in this refoormore information.

Employees

As of December 31, 2013 , we had approximatelyer@ployees, of which approximately 176 are full-tiamel 16 are temporary or part-
time. None of our employees are represented uralieictive bargaining agreements and we consideraations with employees and
independent contractors to be good.

Additional Information

Website and Public Filings

We maintain a corporate websitenatw.tree.comand an investor relations websiteastw.investor-relations.tree.com. None of the
information on our website is incorporated by refae in this report, or in any other filings witit,in any information furnished or submitted
to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (th&€"gE

We make available, free of charge through our viepsur reports on Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K, oawxprstatement for the annual
shareholders' meeting and beneficial ownershiprtepm Forms 3, 4 and 5 as soon as reasonablyiqatalet after we file such material with, or
furnish such material to, the SEC. Our filings witle SEC are available to the public over the tdeat the SEC's websitevatw.sec.gov , or
at the SEC's public reference room located at 18&é¢et, N.E., Washington, DC 20549. Please calsBC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further
information on the operation of the public referemgom.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

Our code of business conduct and ethics, whichiegpp all employees, including all executive ddfis and senior financial officers and
directors, is posted on our websitenaiw.investor-relations.tree.com/governance.cfm. This is our code of ethics pursuant to Iltem 4D6©C
Regulation S-K and the rules of The NASDAQ Stockrkéa Any amendments to or waivers of the codeusitess conduct and ethics that are
of the type described in Item 406(b) and (d) of Ratjon S-K, will be disclosed on our website.
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ITEM 1A. Risk Factors

Our business, financial condition and results afrafions are subject to certain risks that arerdest below.

We have incurred significant operating losses iretpast and we may not be able to generate sufficiemenue to be profitable over the long
term.

We have a history of incurring operating lossesluiding for the 2013 and 2012 years, and althougtperformance over the last few
years has been improving, we have an accumulafesit@é $807.5 million at December 31, 2013 . If we faihtaintain or grow our revenue
and manage our expenses, we may incur signifioasek in the future and not be able to maintaifitpbdity.

Adverse conditions in the primary and secondary tgarge markets, as well as the economy generallylaonaterially and adversely affe:
our business, financial condition and results of emtions.

The primary and secondary mortgage markets have déqeeriencing continued constraints, which havénpast had, and may in the
future have, an adverse effect on our businesandial condition and results of operations. Thesalitions, coupled with economic conditions
that are still recovering and residential real tespaices which, despite recent improvements, itassubstantially reduced levels from their
last peak in 2006, have resulted in and are exgdoteontinue to result in decreased demand farhase loans and greater difficulty qualify
for refinance and home equity loans. Generallyrgases in interest rates adversely affect thetwbifiour network lenders to close loans, and
adverse economic trends limit the ability of outwark lenders to offer home loans other than lowgimaconforming loans. Our businesses
may experience a decline in demand for their affggidue to decreased consumer demand as a rethdtadnditions described above, now or
in the future. Conversely, during periods with desed interest rates, network lenders have lesstime to use our networks, or in the case of
sudden increases in consumer demand, our netwudkis may lack the ability to support sudden inegean volume.

Difficult market conditions have adversely affectéide mortgage industry

Declines in the housing market from 2006 througtye2012, as measured by the S&P/Case-Schilleri®0somposite home price index,
with home price declines and increased foreclosumesmployment and under-employment, negativelyaictgd the credit performance of
mortgage loans and resulted in significant writevds of asset values by financial institutions, uitithg government-sponsored entities as wel
as major commercial and investment banks. Thede-@awns, initially of mortgage-backed securitie$ $ubsequently to other asset-backed
securities, credit default swaps and other dereadind cash securities, in turn, caused many finbhimstitutions to seek additional capital,
merge with larger and stronger institutions andsame cases, to fail.

Reflecting concern about the stability of the hagsinarkets generally and the strength of countégsamany lenders and institutional
investors reduced or ceased providing funding todveers, including to other financial institutionghis market disruption and tightening of
credit led to an increased level of commercial emasumer delinquencies, lack of consumer confidamckeincreased market volatility. The
resulting economic pressure on consumers and factrdidence in the financial markets has had enghst and may have in the future an
adverse effect on our business, financial condiiod results of operations.

While conditions in the housing markets have impabduring 2012 and 2013 , the failure to sustaai sonprovements and, thereby, a
worsening of these conditions could have adverfsetsfon us and our network lenders. Further, asirtess could be adversely affected by
actions and commercial soundness of other busis@sske financial services sector. As a resufiadés by, or even rumors or questions ak
one or more of these entities, or the financialises industry generally, have in the past led sokatwide liquidity problems and could leac
disruptions in the mortgage industry. Any suchufision could have an adverse effect on our busjriEssicial condition and results of
operations.
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Our financial results fluctuate as a result of seasality, which may make it difficult to predict ouiuture performance and may adversely
affect our common stock price.

Our lending business is historically subject tospeal trends. These trends reflect the generadnpatof housing sales, which typically
peak in the spring and summer seasons. In receintpebroader cyclical trends in interest ratasyall as the mortgage and real estate
markets, have upset the customary seasonal treiodgever, seasonal trends may resume and our gyasf@rating results may fluctuate. Our
other businesses have various seasonality trenidé wiay create further uncertainty in our quartegerating results if these business becom
more significant components of our total reverfige."Item 1. Business—Seasonality" included elsewheithis report for more information,
Any of these seasonal trends, or the combinatigherh, may negatively impact the price of our commtmck.

Litigation and indemnification of secondary marketurchasers could have a material adverse effectoom business, financial condition
results of operations and liquidity. If we cannoétile any then-existing and certain future contingeliabilities to secondary market
purchasers, a substantial portion of the purchasece for the sale of LendingTree Loans' assets w#imain in escrow indefinitely

In connection with the sale of loans to secondaayket purchasers, HLC may be liable for certairemdification, repurchase and
premium repayment obligations. In connection wiith sale of loans to secondary market purchaserg, iHade certain representations
regarding related borrower credit information, l@iotumentation and collateral. To the extent thes¢ representations were incorrect, HLC
may be required to repurchase loans or indemndgrsgary market purchasers for losses due to borrdefaults. HLC also agreed to
repurchase loans or indemnify secondary markethasers for losses due to early payment defauks (late payments during a limited time
period immediately following HLC's origination die loan). Further, HLC agreed to repay all or diporof the initial premiums paid by
secondary market purchasers in instances whetwotinewer prepays the loan within a specified peabtime. HLC has made payments for
these liabilities in the past and expects to maaments for these liabilities in the future.

We continue to be liable for these indemnificatidoligations, repurchase obligations and premiunayegent obligations following the
sale of substantially all of the operating assétsuo LendingTree Loans business. Approximately.$ziillion is being held in escrow pending
resolution of certain of these contingent liakelti We have in the past and intend to continuegmtiate in the future with secondary market
purchasers to settle any existing and future cgetibliabilities, but we cannot assure you we tdlable to do so on terms acceptable to us, c
at all. The occurrence of indemnification claimepurchase obligations or premium repayments begandeserves for these contingencies, ol
our inability to settle with secondary market pusérs, may have a material adverse effect on aindss, financial condition and results of
operations.

The asset purchase agreement for the sale of sulislly all of the operating assets of our Lendingde Loans business may expose us to
contingent liabilities.

Under the asset purchase agreement, we have agriemnify Discover for a breach or inaccuracyny representation, warranty or
covenant made by us in the asset purchase agredoreaty liability of ours that was not assumeat,dny claims by our stockholders against
Discover and for our failure to comply with any &pable bulk sales law, subject to certain limivas. Discover submitted a claim for
indemnification relating to our sale prior to tHesing of certain loans that were listed in thesagsirchase agreement as to be conveyed to
Discover at closing. In May 2013, the claim washesd (see Note 16 —Discontinued Operations to the consadddinancial statements
included elsewhere in this report).

We cannot compete in the business of originatingnéling or selling of mortgages until June 2015. Tée restrictions may prevent certain
strategic transactions or discourage potential irsters from purchasing our stocl

Subject to specified exceptions, we have agreedilaot establish, own, manage, operate, contnelest in or otherwise engage in the
business of origination, funding or sales of maggmwithin the United States for three years frbendlosing of the sale of substantially all of
the operating assets of our LendingTree Loans kasirShould market conditions or our strategicctliva change, we will not be able to re-
establish mortgage lending as part of our busidassg the restricted period. This non-competeriggin may bind an acquirer of more than
fifty percent of our total outstanding voting sdties unless such acquirer derives less than fiifiscent of its revenue from the business of
origination, funding or sales of mortgages.

This non-compete restriction could delay, defepmavent a change of control, merger, consolidat@kgover or other business
combination involving us that our board of direstor our stockholders may otherwise support, andbcalso discourage a potential investor
from acquiring our common stock and might harmrttegket price of our common stock.
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We depend on relationships with network lenders ardy adverse changes in these relationships couddeasely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operation:

Our success depends in significant part on thenfiiad strength of lenders participating on our rets. Network lenders could, for any
reason, experience financial difficulties and cqzesgicipating on our lender network, fail to pagteh and/or closing fees when due and/or
drop the quality of their services to consumers ®bcurrence of one or more of these events wiiraficant number of network lenders
could, alone or in combination, have a materialeasle effect on our business, financial conditiodh i@sults of operations.

Network lenders affiliated with our networks are hprecluded from offering products and services side of our exchange:

Because our businesses do not have exclusiveorgaips with network lenders, consumers may olitains directly from these third-
party service providers without having to use owthanges. Network lenders can offer loans dirgctigonsumers through marketing
campaigns or other traditional methods of distitutsuch as referral arrangements, physical dtorg-operations or broker agreements.
Network lenders may also offer loans and servioggdspective customers online directly, through onmore online competitors of ¢
businesses, or both. If a significant number ofscwners seek loans and services directly from nétlemders as opposed to through our
exchanges, our business, financial condition aadlt®of operations would be adversely affected.

Some of our lending services are new to the marked may fail to achieve or maintain customer accapte and profitability.

In 2013, we expanded our lending offerings by ldumg LoanExplorer, a “rate table” loan marketplaaed loan marketplaces for reverse
mortgages, personal loans and credit card offerMfsdo not have as much experience with theseupteds with the mortgage marketplaces
Accordingly, these new offerings may be subjedrater risks than our more mature mortgage mddcsp.

The success of these and other new products weoffeaywill depend on a number of factors, including
* Implementing at an acceptable cost product featexpected by consumers and lead purche

» Market acceptance by consumers and lead purch

» Offerings by current and future competiti

*  Our ability to attract and retain management ahermskilled personnel for these busines

e Our ability to collect amounts owed to us from dhirarties

e Our ability to develop successful and cefective marketing campaigns; ¢

«  Our ability to timely adjust marketing expenditumaselation to changes in demand for the undegyroducts and services offered
our lead purchasers.

Our results of operations may suffer if we faistaccessfully anticipate and manage these issuesiatesl with new products.

We rely on the performance of highly skilled persw and if we are unable to attract, retain and niate well-qualified employees, our
business could be harmed.

We believe our success has depended, and contmdepend, on the efforts and talents of our mamagé team and our highly skilled
employees, including our software engineers, atsglysarketing professionals and sales staff. Owréusuccess depends on our continuing
ability to attract, develop, motivate and retaighty qualified and skilled employees. The lossmof af our senior management or key
employees could materially adversely affect oulitglto build on the efforts they have undertakewl & execute our business plan, and we
may not be able to find adequate replacements.affeat ensure that we will be able to retain theises of any members of our senior
management or other key employees. If we do natemctin attracting well-qualified employees or irétay and motivating existing
employees, our business and results of operatioug be harmed.
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Network lenders and lead purchasers on our exchasgeay not provide competitive levels of servicedasumers, which could adverse
affect our brands and businesses and their abilibyattract consumers.

The ability of our businesses to provide consuméiis a high-quality experience depends, in partconsumers receiving competitive
levels of convenience, customer service, priceraggonsiveness from network lenders and lead psecsgarticipating on our other
exchanges with whom they are matched. If theseigeos do not provide consumers with competitiveelewf convenience, customer service,
price and responsiveness, the value of our vabioaisds may be harmed, the ability of our businesagiract consumers to our websites may
be limited and the number of consumers matchedigirour exchanges may decline, which could havatemal adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of openast

Failure to maintain brand recognition and attractrad retain customers in a cost-effective manner cdadversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operation:

In order to attract visitors to our websites, cahteese visitors into leads for our network lersdand lead purchasers and generate repea
visits from consumers, our businesses must proardemaintain their various brands successfullynBraromotion and maintenance requires
the expenditure of considerable money and resodocesline and offline advertising, marketing aethted efforts, as well as the continued
provision and introduction of high-quality produetisd services.

Brand recognition is a key differentiating facton@ng providers of online services. We believe tmattinuing to build and maintain the
recognition of our various brands is critical tdhiving increased demand for the services provijedur businesses. Accordingly, we have
spent, and expect to continue to spend, signifiaardunts of operating capital on, and devote dianit resources to, branding, advertising
other marketing initiatives, which may not be sissfel or cost-effective. The failure of our busisesto maintain the recognition of their
respective brands and attract and retain custoimersost-effective manner could adversely affesthusiness, financial condition and results
of operations.

Adverse publicity from legal proceedings againsbusur businesses, including governmental procggsdand consumer class action
litigation, or from the disclosure of informatioaaurity breaches, could negatively impact our waibrands, which could adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of openst In addition, the actions of our thipdrty marketing partners who engage in advertisin
our behalf could negatively impact our various loisan

We depend on search engines and other online sositoeattract visitors to our websites, and if wesamable to attract these visitors and
convert them into leads for our network lenders atghd purchasers in a cost-effective manner, oursimess and financial results may be
harmed.

Our success depends on our ability to attract erdnsumers to our websites and convert them irgtomers in a cost-effective manner.
We depend, in part, on search engines and otheresstburces for our website traffic. We are inchidesearch results as a result of both paid
search listings, where we purchase specific sdaratis that result in the inclusion of our listirgnd algorithmic searches, that depend upon tt
searchable content on our sites. Search enginesthedonline sources revise their algorithms ftore to time in an attempt to optimize their
search results.

If one or more of the search engines or other erdisurces on which we rely for website traffic werenodify its general methodology for
how it displays our websites, resulting in fewensamers clicking through to our websites, our bessn could suffer. If any free search engine
on which we rely begins charging fees for listimgptacement, or if one or more of the search ersgorether online sources on which we rely
for purchased listings, modifies or terminategeélationship with us, our expenses could rise, mddlose customers and traffic to our
websites could decrease, all of which could hareaterial adverse effect on our business, finargabition and results of operations.

If we are unable to continually enhance our prodwscand services and adapt them to technological s and consumer and custom
needs, including the emergenod new computing devices and more sophisticatedrambkervices, we may lose market share and reveamd
our business could suffer.

We need to anticipate, develop and introduce n@auymts, services and applications on a timely arst-effective basis that keep pace
with technological developments and changing comswand customer needs. For example, the numbadiiduals who access the internet
through devices other than a personal computeh asipersonal digital assistants, mobile telephdekisions and set-top box devices has
increased significantly and this trend is likelyctantinue. Because each manufacturer or distribatyr establish unique technical standards fc
its devices, our websites may not be functionaliewable on these devices. Additionally, new dewiaad new platforms are continually being
released. Consumers access many traditional weltegion mobile devices through applications, gsap
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It is difficult to predict the problems we may enoder in improving our websites' functionality withese alternative devices or develoy
apps for mobile platforms. If we fail to developravebsites or apps to respond to these or othbntdogical developments and changing
consumer and customer needs cost effectively, welose market share, which could adversely affectmsiness, financial condition and
results of operations.

Failure to comply with past, existing or new lawsiles and regulations, or to obtain and maintaingaired licenses, could adversely affect
our business, financial condition and results of emtions.

We market and provide services in heavily regulatédstries through a number of different chanei®ss the United States. As a result
our businesses have been and remain subject tdetyvaf statutes, rules, regulations, policies anatedures in various jurisdictions in the
United States, which are subject to change atiarg. fThe failure of our businesses to comply waistpexisting or new laws, rules and
regulations, or to obtain and maintain requiredriges, could result in administrative fines angfoceedings against us or our businesses by
governmental agencies and/or litigation by consgmehich could adversely affect our business, fargrcondition and results of operations
and our brand.

Our businesses conduct marketing activities vigetephone, the mail and/or through online marketihannels, which general marketing
activities are governed by numerous federal arté ségulations, such as the Telemarketing Sales, Rtdte telemarketing laws, federal and
state privacy laws, the CAN-SPAM Act, the Teleph@ansumer Protection Act and the Federal Trade Gesiom Act and its accompanying
regulations and guidelines, among others. Increeegdation by the U.S. Federal Trade CommissidrOFand Federal Communications
Commission (FCC) has resulted in restrictions ¢epteone calls to residential and wireless teleplariscribers.

Additional federal, state and in some instanceslldaws regulate residential lending activiti€sese laws generally regulate the manner
in which lending and lending-related activities ararketed or made available, including advertising other consumer disclosures, payments
for services and record keeping requirements; ttagg include the Real Estate Settlement ProceddeeRESPA), the Fair Credit Reporting
Act, the Truth in Lending Act, the Equal Credit @pjunity Act, the Fair Housing Act and various stiws. State laws often restrict the
amount of interest and fees that may be chargelegder or mortgage broker, or otherwise reguteenanner in which lenders or mortgage
brokers operate or advertise.

Failure to comply with applicable laws and regutgtiequirements may result in, among other thinggocation of or inability to renew
required licenses or registrations, loss of apdrstzdus, termination of contracts without compéinsa administrative enforcement actions anc
fines, private lawsuits, including those styledtckss actions, cease and desist orders and civitaminal liability.

Most states require licenses to solicit, brokemake loans secured by residential mortgages ard otimsumer loans to residents of those
states, as well as to operate real estate retarchbrokerage services, and in many cases redpgifecensure or registration of individual
employees engaged in aspects of these business¥8, Congress mandated that all states addpirceninimum standards for the licensing
of individuals involved in mortgage lending or lolrokering, and many state legislatures and stgga@es are in the process of adopting or
implementing additional licensing, continuing edima and similar requirements on mortgage lendmakers and their employees.
Compliance with these new requirements may rendeoie difficult to operate or may raise our intdroosts. While our businesses have
endeavored to comply with applicable requiremehis application of these requirements to persoesating online is not always clear.
Moreover, any of the licenses or rights currentydhby our businesses or our employees may be eevpkor to, or may not be renewed upon
their expiration. In addition, our businesses ar@mployees may not be granted new licenses otsrigh which they may be required to apply
from time to time in the future.

Likewise, states or municipalities may adopt sedudr regulations making it unattractive, impraatie or infeasible for our businesses to
continue to conduct business in such jurisdictidie withdrawal from any jurisdiction due to emegiegal requirements could adversely
affect our business, financial condition and ressaftoperations.

Our businesses are also subject to various staterdl and/or local laws, rules and regulationsringulate the amount and nature of fees
that may be charged for transactions and incentstesh as rebates, that may be offered to consumgesar businesses, as well as the mannelr
in which these businesses may offer, advertiseampte transactions. For example, RESPA generatlipits the payment or receipt of
referral fees and fee shares or splits in connectith residential mortgage loan transactions, ettitp certain exceptions. The applicability of
referral fee and fee sharing prohibitions to lesderd real estate providers, including online netgomay have the effect of reducing the ty
and amounts of fees that may be charged or paidrinection with real estate-secured loan offerrgactivities, including mortgage
brokerage, lending and real estate brokerage ssnvic otherwise limiting the ability to conductnkgting and referral activities.
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Various federal, state and in some instances, |tmab also prohibit unfair and deceptive salestwas. We have adopted appropriate
policies and procedures to address these requitsr(grch as appropriate consumer disclosures dinstaating, call monitoring and other
quality assurance and compliance measures), lmundt possible to ensure that all employees comly our policies and procedures at all
times.

Compliance with these laws, rules and regulatisresignificant component of our internal costs, aew laws, rules and regulations are
frequently proposed and adopted, requiring us tpedew procedures and practices. Changes torgxistivs, rules and regulations or change
to interpretation of existing laws, rules and regjoins could result in further restriction of adiis incidental to our business and could have ¢
material adverse effect on our business, resultgefation and financial condition.

Parties through which our businesses conduct bssisienilarly may be subject to federal and stagelegion. These parties typically act as
independent contractors and not as agents ingbbkditations and transactions with consumers. Afeot ensure that these entities will con
with applicable laws and regulations at all tinfegilure on the part of a lender, secondary marksethaser, website operator or other third
party to comply with these laws or regulations dawsult in, among other things, claims of vicasidiability or a negative impact on our
reputation and business.

Regulatory authorities and private plaintiffs mélgge that we failed to comply with applicable lawsles and regulations where we
believe we have complied. These allegations maadb past conduct and/or past business operatiook as our discontinued real estate
brokerage operation (which was subject to varidatesand local laws, rules and regulations). Elegations that our activities have not
complied or do not comply with all applicable laarsd regulations may have an adverse effect onwminéss, financial condition and results
of operations. The alleged violation of such lamses or regulations may entitle an individual ptif to seek monetary damages, or may
entitle an enforcing government agency to seekifségnt civil or criminal penalties, costs and aiteys' fees. Regardless of its merit, an
allegation typically requires legal fee expenditure defend against. We have in the past and mtgeifuture decide to settle allegations of
non-compliance with laws, rules and regulationsmve determine that the cost of settlement istless the cost and risk of continuing to
defend against an allegation. Settlements may reqsito pay monetary fines and may require usloptanew procedures and practices, whicl
may render it more difficult to operate or may eadair internal costs. The future occurrence of@mmore of these events could have an
adverse effect on our business, financial condiiod results of operations.

Changes in the regulation of the Internet could natively affect our business.

Laws, rules and regulations governing Internet camications, advertising and e-commerce are dynamicthe extent of future
government regulation is uncertain. Federal ant segulations govern various aspects of our ofdiugness, including intellectual property
ownership and infringement, trade secrets, theiligton of electronic communications, marketinglauvertising, user privacy and data
security, search engines and Internet trackingn@oigies. Future taxation on the use of the Inteon@-commerce transactions could also be
imposed. Existing or future regulation or taxatémuld hinder growth in or negatively impact the oé¢he Internet generally, including the
viability of Internet e-commerce, which could redumur revenue, increase or operating expensesx@ode us to significant liabilities.

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Peotion Act and related legislative and regulatorgtons may have a significant
impact on our business, results of operations ambfcial condition.

In July 2010, the President signed into law the dBdank Act, which contains a comprehensive sgrovVisions designed to govern the
practices and oversight of financial institutiomslather participants in the financial markets. Tioeld-Frank Act requires various federal
agencies to adopt a broad range of new rules gqudatéons, and to prepare numerous studies andtssjoo Congress, which could result in
additional legislative or regulatory action. Theldeal agencies are given significant discretiodrafting the rules and regulations and,
consequently, many of the details and much ofriiigact of the Dodd-Frank Act may not be known fongnenonths or years.

The DoddFrank Act, as well as other legislative and regulathanges, could have a significant impact ohyygor example, requiring t
to change our business practices, limiting ouritgltib pursue business opportunities, imposing taltil costs on us, limiting fees we can
charge, impacting the value of our assets, or wiiseradversely affecting our businesses. Amongrdttiegs, the Dodd-Frank Act established
the Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection to latgiconsumer financial services and productsuiiog credit, savings and payment
products. The effect of the Dodd-Frank Act on ousibess and operations could be significant, dépgngon final implementing regulations,
the actions of our competitors and the behaviatbér marketplace participants. In addition, we rbayequired to invest significant
management time and resources to address the sgmiouvisions of the Dodd-Frank Act and the numeregsilations that are required to be
issued under it.
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In light of recent conditions in the U.S. financmhrkets and economy, as well as a heightenedateguland Congressional focus on
consumer lending, regulators have increased thaitiny of the financial services industry, theule®f which has included new regulations
and guidance. We are unable to predict the long-tempact of this enhanced scrutiny. We are alsblen@ predict whether any additional or
similar changes to statutes or regulations, incigdhe interpretation or implementation thereof| aécur in the future.

If network lenders fail to produce required documisnfor examination by, or other affiliated partiefgil to make certain filings with, stat
regulators, we may be subject to fines, forfeiturasd the revocation of required licenses.

Some of the states in which our businesses mailitginses require them to collect various loan doents from network lenders and
produce these documents for examination by stgtdators. While network lenders are contractualiligated to provide these documents
upon request, these measures may be insufficiaittiré to produce required documents for examinatiould result in fines, as well as the
revocation of our licenses to operate in certaatest which could have a material adverse effectunrbusiness, financial condition and results
of operations.

Regulations promulgated by some states may impm®@léance obligations on directors, executive @ff&; large customers and any
person who acquires a certain percentage (for ebearip% or more) of our common stock, includinguieiag such persons to periodically file
financial and other personal and business infoonatiith state regulators. If any such person refusdails to comply with these requireme
we may be unable to obtain certain licenses argtiegilicensing arrangements may be jeopardized.iffdbility to obtain, or the loss of,
required licenses could have a material adversetedin our business, financial condition and resiltoperations.

Our success depends, in part, on the integrity af systems and infrastructures. System interruptiand the lack of integration and
redundancy in these systems and infrastructures nhiaye an adverse impact on our business, finan@ahdition and results of operations.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability towtaai the integrity of our systems and infrastrues, including websites, information and
related systems, call centers and distributionfalftiment facilities. System interruption and theck of integration and redundancy in our
information systems and infrastructures may adWeed@ect our ability to operate websites, procasd fulfill transactions, respond to custol
inquiries and generally maintain cost-efficient @timns. We may experience occasional system iggans that make some or all systems or
data unavailable or prevent our businesses frommiarftly providing services or fulfilling orders. &\also rely on affiliate and third-party
computer systems, broadband and other communisasigstems and service providers in connection thighprovision of services generally,
well as to facilitate, process and fulfill trandans. Any interruptions, outages or delays in gigtams and infrastructures, our businesses, oul
affiliates and/or third parties, or deteriorationthe performance of these systems and infrastestaould impair the ability of our businesses
to provide services, fulfill orders and/or processisactions. Fire, flood, power loss, telecommaitidns failure, hurricanes, tornadoes,
earthquakes, acts of war or terrorism, acts of Gaduthorized intrusions or computer viruses, amilar events or disruptions may damage ol
interrupt computer, broadband or other communicatgystems and infrastructures at any time. Arthede events could cause system
interruption, delays and loss of critical data, aodld prevent our businesses from providing sesyitulfilling orders and/or processing
transactions. While our businesses have backupragstor certain aspects of their operations, tegstems are not fully redundant and disaste
recovery planning is not sufficient for all evertties. In addition, we may not have adequate iasoe coverage to compensate for losses frol
a major interruption. If any of these adverse evevdre to occur, it could adversely affect our bess, financial condition and results of
operations.

A breach of our network security or the misapprogtion or misuse of personal consumer information snaave an adverse impact on o
business, financial condition and results of opeiats.

Any penetration of network security or other misaygpiation or misuse of personal consumer infororatnaintained by us or our third-
party marketing partners could cause interruptiorthe operations of our businesses and subjeitt ingreased costs, litigation and other
liabilities. Claims could also be made against usuw third-party marketing partners for other nsiswf personal information, such as for
unauthorized purposes or identity theft, which dawsult in litigation and financial liabilitiessavell as administrative action from
governmental authorities. Real or perceived secbritaches could also significantly damage ourtajon with consumers and third parties
with whom we do business. In that regard, in 20@8announced that several mortgage companies liaeldganauthorized access to our
customer information database and had used thematon to solicit mortgage loans directly from austomers. We promptly reported the
situation to the Federal Bureau of Investigatiod have been cooperating fully with the FBI's inigetion. While we do not believe this
situation resulted in any fraud on the consumedentity theft, we notified affected consumerseguired by applicable law. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, following our announcement, sevptahtive class action lawsuits were filed agairsst u
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seeking to recover damages for consumers allegedied by this incident. All of these lawsuits lealyeen dismissed or withdrawseg "ltem
3. Legal Proceedings" in our 2011 Form 10-K).

We may be required to expend significant capital eftner resources to protect against and remedyai@ntial or existing security
breaches and their consequences. We also faceassksiated with security breaches affecting thadies with whom we are affiliated or
otherwise conduct business with online. Consumerganerally concerned with security and privacthefinternet, and any publicized
security problems affecting our businesses antitwsé of third parties may discourage consumers ffoimg business with us, which could
have an adverse effect on our business, finanoiaiton and results of operations.

The collection, processing, storage, use and disale of personal data could give rise to liabilisi@s a result of governmental regulation,
conflicting legal requirements or differing viewsf @ersonal privacy rights.

In the processing of consumer transactions, ounbsses receive, transmit and store a large voafrpersonally identifiable information
and other user data. The collection, sharing, diselosure and protection of this information ao@&yned by the privacy and data security
policies maintained by us and our businesses. Merethere are federal, state and internationas lagarding privacy and the storing, shar
use, disclosure and protection of personally idiafifie information and user data. Specifically,qurally identifiable information is
increasingly subject to legislation and regulationsumerous jurisdictions around the world, the of which is to protect the privacy of
personal information that is collected, processatiteansmitted in or from the governing jurisdicti?Ve could be adversely affected if
legislation or regulations are expanded to rectli@nges in business practices or privacy policied,governing jurisdictions interpret or
implement their legislation or regulations in walyat negatively affect our business, financial ¢bod and results of operations.

Our businesses may also become exposed to potigtitities as a result of differing views on thavacy of consumer and other user ¢
collected by these businesses. Our failure, arttiéofailure by the various third-party vendors apdvice providers with whom we do business
to comply with applicable privacy policies or federstate or similar international laws and regala or any compromise of security that
results in the unauthorized release of persondéyptifiable information or other user data couldhdge the reputation of these businesses,
discourage potential users from our products andcges and/or result in fines and/or proceedinggyernmental agencies and/or consumers
one or all of which could adversely affect our Imesis, financial condition and results of operations

We may fail to adequately protect our intellectyaioperty rights or may be accused of infringing gltectual property rights of third parties.

We regard our intellectual property rights, inchulpatents, service marks, trademarks and domanesiacopyrights, trade secrets and
similar intellectual property (as applicable), asical to our success. Our businesses also radyihyeupon software codes, informational
databases and other components that make up tbdugis and services.

We rely on a combination of laws and contractusirretions with employees, customers, supplieffdjaes and others to establish and
protect these proprietary rights. Despite theseaurons, it may be possible for a third party ¢py or otherwise obtain and use trade secre
copyrighted intellectual property without authotiea which, if discovered, might require legal actito correct. In addition, third parties may
independently and lawfully develop substantiallyigr intellectual properties.

We have generally registered and continue to ajgpiggister, or secure by contract when appropr@aie principal trademarks and service
marks as they are developed and used, and resahregister domain names when and where we deeromie. We generally consider the
protection of our trademarks to be important forpmses of brand maintenance and reputation. Wheleigorously protect our trademarks,
service marks and domain names, effective tradepratiection may not be available or may not be bbirgevery country in which products
and services are made available, and contractspiitis may affect the use of marks governed byfricontract. Similarly, not every variat
of a domain name may be available or be registenesh) if available. Our failure to protect our ligetual property rights in a meaningful
manner or challenges to related contractual rigbtsgd result in erosion of brand names and limitatility to control marketing on or through
the Internet using our various domain names orrafise, which could adversely affect our busineisgrfcial condition and results of
operations.
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We have been granted patents and we have patditadions pending with the United States Patent Bradiemark Office and various
foreign patent authorities for various propriet@ghnologies and other inventions. The status pfp@tent involves complex legal and factual
guestions, and the breadth of claims allowed igtam. Accordingly, any patent application filehymot result in a patent being issued or
existing or future patents may not be adjudicat@dhby a court or be afforded adequate protedigainst competitors with similar technolo
In March 2014, a federal jury found our two isspadients invalid. We are considering our legal aliéves with respect to this jury findingee
"ltem 3. Legal Proceedings—LendingTree v. Zillowg. et al." included elsewhere in this report. didition, third parties may create new
products or methods that achieve similar resulteout infringing upon patents that we own.

Likewise, the issuance of a patent to us does ®eatnnthat our processes or inventions will be fouoicto infringe upon patents or other
rights previously issued to third parties.

From time to time, in the ordinary course of busgee are subjected to legal proceedings, claimsannterclaims, or threatened legal
proceedings, claims or counterclaims, includinggdtions of infringement of the trademarks, cogysgpatents and other intellectual property
rights of third parties. In addition, litigation mae necessary in the future to enforce our intell@ property rights, protect trade secrets or to
determine the validity and scope of proprietarptigclaimed by others. Any litigation of this nauregardless of outcome or merit, could
result in substantial costs and diversion of mamage and technical resources, any of which couleembly affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations. Patent lit@yatends to be particularly protracted and expendduring the first quarter of 2014, we
participated in a jury trial for the litigation daghed in Item 3. Legal Proceedings—LendingTregillow, Inc. et al. The legal expenses
associated with this jury trial were material, avil negatively affect our operating income or Ides such quarter.

Our framework for managing risks may not be effeati in mitigating our risk of loss.

Our risk management framework seeks to mitigatearsl appropriately balance risk and return. Weetestablished processes and
procedures intended to identify, measure, monitdrraport the types of risk to which we are subjieciuding credit risk, market risk, liquidi
risk, operational risk, legal and compliance rishd strategic risk. We seek to monitor and coruolrisk exposure through a framework of
policies, procedures and reporting requirementsiddament of our risks in some cases depends uparsthof analytical and/or forecasting
models. If the models that we use to mitigate thieskes are inadequate, we may incur increased dossaddition, there may be risks that exist
or that develop in the future, that we have notrappately anticipated, identified or mitigated.odir risk management framework does not
effectively identify or mitigate our risks, we colduffer unexpected losses and could be materdihersely affected.

Acquisitions or strategic investments that we puesmay not be successful and could disrupt our besis and harm our financial conditior

We may consider or undertake strategic acquisitdfnser material investments in, businesses, prtsdoictechnologies. We may not be
able to identify suitable acquisition or investmeandidates, or even if we do identify suitabledidates, they may be difficult to finance,
expensive to fund and there is no guarantee thatwebtain any necessary regulatory approvalsmptete such transactions on terms that
are favorable to us. To the extent we pay the @selprice of any acquisition or investment in céshiould reduce our cash balances, which
may have an adverse effect on our business andciadacondition. If the purchase price is paid wétlr stock, it would be dilutive to our
stockholders. In addition, we may assume liabgiissociated with a business acquisition or investnincluding unrecorded liabilities that
not discovered at the time of the transaction, tardepayment of those liabilities may have an esbrseffect on our financial condition. There
may also be litigation or other claims arising anoection with an acquisition itself.

We may not be able to successfully integrate tlisqmmel, operations, businesses, products or témies of an acquisition or investment.
Integration may be particularly challenging if weter into a line of business in which we have lediexperience and the business operates ir
difficult legal, regulatory or competitive envirormmt. We may find that we do not have adequate tipasaor expertise to manage the new
business. The integration of any acquisition oestimment may divert management's time and resotnaesour core business, which could
impair our relationships with our current employemasstomers and strategic partners and disrupbjperations. Acquisitions and investments
also may not perform to our expectations for vasieasons, including the loss of key personneustorners. If we fail to integrate acquisitit
or investments or realize the expected benefitayay lose the return on these acquisitions or tmvests or incur additional transaction costs
and our business and financial condition may benkdras a result.
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If our goodwill or amortizable intangible assets é@me impaired, we may be required to record a sigant charge to earnings

Under GAAP, we review the carrying value of goodaild indefinite-lived intangible assets on an aitasis as of October 1, or more
frequently if an event occurs or circumstances ghahat would more likely than not reduce the Yailue of a reporting unit below its carrying
value. Factors that may be considered a changecimnestances, indicating that the carrying valuewfgoodwill or indefinite-lived intangible
assets may not be recoverable, include a declis®ak price and market capitalization, reducedritash flow estimates and slower growth
rates in our industry or our customers' industi®s.may be required to record a significant chamgeur financial statements during a perio
which any impairment of our goodwill or indefinitiwed intangible assets is determined, negativelgadcting our results of operations.

The market price and trading volume of our commotosk may be volatile and may face negative pressure

The market price for our common stock has beentil@kince our spin-off. The market price for oontmon stock could continue to
fluctuate significantly for many reasons, includihg risks identified in this report or reasonsalated to our performance. These factors may
result in short- or long-term negative pressurg¢henvalue of our common stock.

If securities or industry analysts do not publiskesearch or publish inaccurate or unfavorable resehrabout our business, our stock pris
and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for internet lead-generation jganies depends, in part, on the research and sapattsecurities or industry analysts
publish about the industry and specific comparifezne or more analysts covering us currently athia future fail to publish reports on us
regularly, demand for our common stock could deglimhich could cause our stock price and tradirignae to decline. If one or more
recognized securities or industry analysts thaecour company or our industry in the future dovaugrs our common stock or publishes
inaccurate or unfavorable research about our bssioeindustry, our stock price would likely deelin

Two holders of our common stock own a substantialjion of our outstanding common stock, which contteates voting control and limits
your ability to influence corporate matter:

As of March 14, 2014 , Douglas Lebda, our Chairmad Chief Executive Officer, and Liberty Interaeti€orporation beneficially owned
approximately 17% and 25% , respectively, of oustanding common stock. Liberty Interactive alse tiee right to nominate 20% of the total
number of directors serving on the board, rounded.iberty Interactive has nominated one diredi®al Dermer, and presently has the right
to nominate a second director if it chooses toalo s

Therefore, for the foreseeable future, Mr. Lebda laiberty Interactive will each have influence ower management and affairs and all
matters requiring shareholder approval, includimgelection or removal (with or without cause) wédtors and approval of any significant
corporate transaction, such as a merger or otfeo§as or our assets. The interests of Mr. Letrdaiberty Interactive may not necessarily
align with the interests of our other stockholdditsis concentrated control could delay, defer @vpnt a change of control, merger,
consolidation, takeover or other business comhndtivolving us that other stockholders may otheeasupport. This concentrated control
could also discourage a potential investor fromugaeg our common stock and might harm the markitepof our common stock.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents andder Delaware law could make an acquisition of uore difficult, limit attempts by
shareholders to replace or remove our managemend affect the market price of our common stoc

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation dmdaws, as amended and restated, may have the effdelaying or preventing a change
of control or changes in our management. Our antkadd restated articles of incorporation and/orraded and restated bylaws include
provisions that:

» Authorize our board of directors to issue, withturther action by our shareholders, up to fiiliom shares of undesignated preferrec
stock;

»  Prohibit cumulative voting in the election of ditexs;

» Provide that vacancies on our board of direateay be filled only by the affirmative vote of a joidty of directors then in office or by
the sole remaining director;

» Provide that only our board of directors may chatigesize of our board of directc

»  Specify that special meetings of our stockhadeay be called only by or at the direction of baard of directors or by a person
specifically designated with such authority by ward; and
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»  Prohibit stockholders from taking action by writteonsen

The provisions described above may frustrate orgmeany attempts by our stockholders to replacgemiove our current management by
making it more difficult for stockholders to reptamembers of our board of directors, which is resfae for appointing our management. In
addition, because we are incorporated in the $fdbelaware, we are governed by the provisionfief@elaware General Corporation Law,
which prohibits certain business combinations betweas and certain significant shareholders uniessified conditions are met. These
provisions may also have the effect of delayingrewventing a change of control of our company, a/setockholders support such a change o
control.

ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.

ITEM 2. Properties

Our principal executive offices are currently lamhtn approximately 37,800 square feet of officecgpin Charlotte, North Carolina under
a lease that expires in July 2015. Personnel fotemding segment are located in both our officacepin Charlotte, North Carolina, as well as
approximately 6,100 square feet of office spadBurlingame, California under a lease that expirellarch 2015.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of business, we are partjig@ation involving property, contract, intelleal property and a variety of other claims.
The amounts that may be recovered in such mattaysbe subject to insurance coverage.

Intellectual Property Litigation

LendingTree v. Zillow, Inc., et al. Civil Action Na3:10-cv-439. On September 8, 2010, we filed an action formgatdringement in the
US District Court for the Western District of NCaigst Zillow, Inc., Nextag, Inc., Quinstreet, InQuinstreet Media, Inc., and Adchemy, Inc.
The complaint was amended to include Leadpoint,dffw’a Securerights on September 24, 2010. Thelkam alleges that each of the
defendants infringe one or both of U.S. Patent®®835,594, entitled "Method and Computer Network@o-Ordinating a Loan over the
Internet,” and U.S. Patent No. 6,611,816, entitMdthod and Computer Network for Gardinating a Loan over the Internet.” Collectivelye
asserted patents cover computer hardware and seftwsad in facilitating business between computersiand multiple lenders on the inter
The defendants in this action asserted variousteotlaims against us, including the assertion jage of the defendants of counterclaims
alleging illegal monopolization via our maintenammddéhe asserted patents. In July 2011, we reaatssitlement agreement with
Leadpoint, Inc., pursuant to which all claims agaireadpoint, Inc. and all counter-claims agairssby Leadpoint, Inc. were dismissed. In
November 2012, we reached a settlement agreem#nfQuinstreet, Inc. and Quinstreet Media, Inc.lémively, the "Quinstreet Parties'
pursuant to which all claims against the QuinStRaaties and all counterclaims against us by thespeet Parties were dismissdthis matte!
went to trial beginning in February 2014, and orréhal2, 2014, the jury returned a verdict. The jioynd that the defendants Zillow, Inc.,
Adchemy, Inc. and NexTag, Inc. did not infringe the patents referenced above and determinedhbaétpatents are invalid due to
inventorship defects. The jury found in our favarthe defendants' counterclaims alleging inequitabhduct and antitrust violations. As of
March 13, 2014, a formal judgment had not yet be®rred in the case and certain issues not bdfereity remain to be resolved. We believe
we have strong grounds for appeal; however, we hatget determined what actions we will take wikpect to the verdict or the findings of
patent invalidity. The verdict will not impact oability to offer our current suite of products asefvices, and we do not expect the verdict to
affect our business prospects.

Internet Patents Corporation f/k/a InsWeb v. Treem, Inc., No. C-12-6505 (U.S. Dist. Ct., N.D. Callp December 2012, the plaintiff
filed a patent infringement lawsuit against us gegela judgment that we had infringed a patent hglthe plaintiff. Process was formally
served with respect to this matter in April 2018eTplaintiff sought injunctive relief, damages, tspgxpenses, pre- and post-judgment interes
punitive damages and attorneys' fees. The plagit#fyed that we infringe U.S. Patent No. 7,707,%08itled "Dynamic Tabs for a Graphical
User Interface". On October 25, 2013, the coumndised the suit based on the finding that the fiftsnclaims failed as a matter of law
because the asserted patent is invalid for laglatént-eligible subject matter. The plaintiff filachotice of appeal on November 7, 2013. We
believe the plaintiff's allegations lack merit antend to defend against this action vigorously.
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The Money Suite Company v. LendingTree, LLC, Nol13:ev-986 (U.S. Dist. Ct, D Del.Jn June 2013, the plaintiff filed a patent
infringement lawsuit against LendingTree seekijgdgment that we infringed a patent held by plé#intihe plaintiff alleges that LendingTree
infringes U.S. Patent No. 6,684,189 for "an apparaind method using front end network gatewayssaadch criteria for efficient quoting at a
remote location". The plaintiff seeks damages (idtig pre- and post- judgment interest thereorgtscand attorneys' fees. In December 2013
the court stayed this case pending review of thenpdy the United States Patent and Trademark®fflVe believe the plaintiff's allegations
lack merit and intend to defend against this actigorously.

Other Litigation

Boschma v. Home Loan Center, Inc., No. SACV07-618%. Dist. Ct., C.D. Cal.).On May 25, 2007, the plaintiffs filed this putei
class action against HLC in the U.S. District Cdartthe Central District of California. The plaififié allege that HLC sold them an option
"ARM" (adjustable-rate mortgage) loan but faileddisclose in a clear and conspicuous manner, arottreg things, that the interest rate was
not fixed, that negative amortization could occud ¢hat the loan had a prepayment penalty. Based tese factual allegations, the plaintiffs
asserted violations of the federal Truth in Lendém, violations of the Unfair Competition Law, lagh of contract, and breach of the covenar
of good faith and fair dealing. The plaintiffs parpto represent a class of all individuals whonesn June 1, 2003 and May 31, 2007 obtaine
an option ARM loan through HLC on their primaryicesice located in California, and seek rescissiamages, attorneys' fees and injunctive
relief. The plaintiffs have not yet filed a motifor class certification, but have filed a totaledght complaints in connection with this lawsuit.
Each of the first seven complaints has been digudiby the federal and state courts. The plairfiiidl the eighth complaint (a "Second
Amended Complaint") in Orange County (Californiajp8rior Court on March 4, 2010 alleging only theufit and Unfair Competition Law
claims. As with each of the seven previous versandaintiffs' complaint, the Second Amended Coanutl was dismissed in April 2010. The
plaintiffs appealed the dismissal and on August20d,1, the appellate court reversed the trial todismissal and directed the trial court to
overrule the demurrer. The case was remanded trisugourt. During 2013, the parties agreed td30$000 settlement, which was approved
in the fourth quarter of 2013. We expect admintgiraof the settlement to be completed by the thirdrter of 2014.

Mortgage Store, Inc. v. LendingTree Loans d/b/a Herhoan Center, Inc., No. 06CC00250 (Cal. Super.,Cirange Cty.). On
November 30, 2006, The Mortgage Store, Inc. andl&asw Home Loans, Inc. filed this putative classion against HLC in the Californ
Superior Court for Orange County. The plaintiffgptformer network lenders, alleged that HLC integtewith LendingTree's contracts with
network lenders by taking referrals from Lendingdvethout adequately disclosing the relationshipveen them and that HLC charged the
plaintiffs higher rates and fees than they otheawisuld have been charged. Based upon these fadkegdtions, the plaintiffs assert claims
intentional interference with contractual relatipimentional interference with prospective econoadvantage, and violation of the California
Unfair Competition Law and California Business &@rdfessions Code §17500. The plaintiffs purporefmesent all network lenders from
December 14, 2004 to date, and seek damagesuytiestjtattorneys' fees and punitive damages.

The plaintiffs' motion for class certification wgganted April 29, 2010. On October 17, 2011, thercgranted HLC's motion for summary
judgment. Judgment was entered in favor of HLC g@nil®, 2012. On June 15, 2012, the plaintiffsdil@ Notice of Appeal. The plaintiffs file
their opening appellate brief on December 17, 2041 filed HLC's opposition to the plaintiffs' apla¢é brief in April 2013. Oral arguments
were heard on this matter on September 25, 201D&drember 11, 2013, the Court of Appeal affirmezidhant of summary judgment in fav
of HLC and the time for plaintiffs to further appsach decision has expired.

Lijkel Dijkstra v. Harry Carenbauer, Home Loan Ceat, Inc. et al., No. 5:11-cv-152-JPB (U.S. Dist..CO.D.WV). On November 7,
2008, the plaintiff filed this putative class actim Circuit Court of Ohio County, West Virginiaagst Harry Carenbauer, HLC, HLC
Escrow, Inc. et al. The complaint alleges that Hiri@aged in the unauthorized practice of law in Wigfinia by permitting persons who we
neither admitted to the practice of law in Westgifiia nor under the direct supervision of a langémitted to the practice of law in West
Virginia to close mortgage loans. The plaintiff @ss claims for declaratory judgment, contempuragive relief, conversion, unjust
enrichment, breach of fiduciary duty, intentionasrapresentation or fraud, negligent misrepresemtatiolation of the West Virginia
Consumer Credit and Protection Act ("CCPA"), vimatof the West Virginia Lender, Broker & Servickst, civil conspiracy, outrage and
negligence. The claims against all defendants dtizer Mr. Carenbauer, HLC and HLC Escrow, Inc. haeen dismissed. The case was
removed to federal court in October 2011. On JgnBaR013, the court granted a conditional classfimation only with respect to the
declaratory judgment, contempt, unjust enrichmadt@CPA claims. The conditional class includes oamers with mortgage loans in effect
any time after November 8, 2007 who obtained saahd through HLC, and whose loans were closed tsops not admitted to the practice of
law in West Virginia or by persons not under theedi supervision of a lawyer admitted to the practf law in West Virginia. On February !
2014, the court granted and denied certain of pady's motions for summary judgment. With respedhe claims subject to class
certification, the court granted plaintiff's motsfor summary judgment with respect to declarapodgment, unjust enrichment and violation
of the CCPA. The court granted HLC's motion
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for summary judgment with respect to contempt.ddition, the court denied HLC's motion to decerttig class. With respect to the claims
applicable to the named plaintiff only (the "Indivial Claims"), HLC's motions for summary judgmemrevgranted with respect to conversion
breach of fiduciary duty, intentional misrepreséiotg negligent misrepresentation and outrage. lh@ the plaintiff have reached a tentative
settlement agreement with respect to the remaimdiyidual Claims. The trial for the claims subjégtclass certification has not yet been
scheduled by the court. We believe that the plsghtllegations lack merit and intend to defendiagt this action vigorously.

Massachusetts Division of Bank€n February 11, 2011, the Massachusetts DivisidBaniks (the "Division") delivered a Report of
Examination/Inspection to LendingTree, which idBed various alleged violations of Massachusetts faderal laws, including the alleged
insufficient delivery by LendingTree of various clissures to its customers. On October 14, 2011Dthision provided a proposed Consent
Agreement and Order to settle the Division's aliega, which the Division had shared with othetestaortgage lending regulators. Thiftyur
of such state mortgage lending regulators (thenfdgiRegulators") indicated that if LendingTree \Webenter into the Consent Agreement and
Order, they would agree not to pursue any analogbegations that they otherwise might assert. #the date of this report, none of the
Joining Regulators have asserted any such alletsatio

The proposed Consent Agreement and Order calis fioe to be allocated among the Division andJihi@ing Regulators and for
LendingTree to adopt various new procedures anctipes. We commenced negotiations toward an adoleptonsent Agreement and Order.
We do not believe our mortgage exchange businessted any federal or state mortgage lending lawsdo we believe that any past
operations of the mortgage business have resultadriaterial violation of any such laws. ShouldEfeision or any Joining Regulator bring
any actions relating to the matters alleged inRbleruary 2011 Report of Examination/Inspectionjntend to defend against such actions
vigorously.

ITEM 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Skiwlder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seities

General Market Information, Holders and Dividends

Tree.com common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ dI8dect Market under the ticker symbol "TREE". Thble below sets forth, for
the calendar periods indicated, the high and |dessarices per share for Tree.com common stockarted on the NASDAQ Stock Market.
The stock price information is based on publishedrfcial sources.

Year Ended December 31, 2012 High Low
First Quarter $ 8.2t $ 5.37
Second Quarter 11.6¢ 7.21
Third Quarter 17.0C 11.117
Fourth Quarter 18.0¢ 13.0Z
Year Ended December 31, 2013 High Low
First Quarter $ 18.78 % 16.0(
Second Quarter 21.4¢ 16.3:
Third Quarter 26.8¢ 16.5¢
Fourth Quarter 33.2¢ 26.3(

As of March 14, 2014 , there were approximately@,Bolders of record of our common stock and thsinb price of the common stock
was $31.71 .

On December 26, 2012, we paid a special divider®lLdiO per share to our shareholders of recordememMber 17, 2012. Other than the
special dividend, we have not declared or paidsh cividend on our common stock during the two mesént fiscal years. We have no cur
intention to declare or pay cash dividends on ammon stock in the foreseeable future. The dedtargbayment and amount of future cash
dividends, if any, will be at the discretion of duvard of directors.

Performance Graph

Under the rules and regulations of the SEC, asalenreporting company, we are not required tovjgi® the information required by this
item.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use Bfoceeds

During the year ended December 31, 2013 , we didssae or sell any shares of our common stocklereequity securities in
transactions that were not registered under tharfies Act of 1933.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

We did not repurchase any equity securities dutiegquarter ended December 31, 20h8wever, we do have a stock repurchase pro
that was approved by our board of directors ondigniil, 2010. Under this program, we can repurchtsek for an amount up to $10 million
in the open market or through privately-negotiatadsactions. We began this program in Februar 20 we have used available cash to
finance these repurchases. We will determine thing and amount of any additional repurchases basexir evaluation of market conditiol
applicable SEC guidelines and regulations, andrddwtors. This program may be suspended or disumed at any time at the discretion of
board of directors. At December 31, 2013, appretaly $0.8 million remains authorized for shareurepase.

Additionally, the Tree.com Second Amended and Redta008 Stock and Award Incentive Plan allows eygs to forfeit shares of our
common stock to satisfy federal and state withimgjdibligations upon the vesting of restricted staslards granted to those individuals under
this plan. The withholding of those shares doesiffect the dollar amount or number of sharesthay be purchased under the stock
repurchase program described above.

20




Table of Contents

ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data

Under the rules and regulations of the SEC, asalenreporting company, we are not required tosjgi® the information required by this
item.

ITEM 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations

The following Management's Discussion and Analg$iBinancial Condition and Results of Operationsusti be read together with our
consolidated financial statements and accompamtgs included elsewhere within this report. Thsedssion includes both historical
information and forward-looking information thatwives risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Owahcesults may differ materially from
management's expectations as a result of variatisréa including but not limited to those discussethe sections entitled "Risk Factors" and
"Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Lookinginfation."

Company Overview

Tree.com is the parent of LendingTree, LLC whicmeweveral brands and businesses that providenatam, tools, advice, products ¢
services for critical transactions in consumevgdi Our family of brands includes: LendingTeeeGetSmart , LendingTree Educatioi,
LendingTree Auto$", LendingTree Home Pré¥ and InsuranceTree. Together, these brands serve as an ally for consunte are looking
to comparison-shop for loans and other servicas fraultiple businesses and professionals that withete for their business.

The businesses of RealEstate.com and RealEstateRiel TORSe® and LendingTree Loans are presented as discontioperations in
the accompanying consolidated balance sheets arsblodated statements of operations and cash flomall periods presented. The analysis
within Management's Discussion and Analysis of Raia Condition and Results of Operations refleets continuing operations.

Reportable and Operating Segments

Our four operating segments are lending, auto, athrcand home services. We sometimes refer tethpsrating segments as our
“businesses”. Of these, only our lending operasiegment meets the criteria for a reportable segridémtformerly referred to this reportable
segment as our mortgage segment. The auto, edueatibhome services operating segments are reportied "Other" category in our
segment reconciling informatioBee Note 18—Segment Information to the consolidatedroial statements included elsewhere in this repor

Recent Mortgage Interest Rate Trends

Interest rate and market risks can be substantife mortgage lead generation business. Fluchsiiinterest rates affect consumer
demand for new mortgages and the level of refimanactivity which, in turn, affects lender demand hortgage leads. Typically, a decline in
mortgage interest rates will lead to reduced leniéenand for leads from third-party sources, assthee more consumers in the marketplace
seeking refinancings and, accordingly, lendersiveamore organic lead volume. Conversely, an ireega mortgage interest rates will
typically lead to an increase in lender demandHod-party leads, as there are fewer consumettseinmarketplace and, accordingly, the suppl
of organic mortgage lead volume decreases.

According to Freddie Mac, 2012 began the year atwiere then record low mortgage interest rategppfoximately 3.92% on 30-year
fixed rate mortgages. Mortgage interest rates dedlthroughout the year to new lows, reaching amame of 3.35% in December 2012. As a
result, according to Mortgage Bankers AssociatidhBA") data, mortgage originations were estimatedhave increased by 22% during 2012
as compared with 2011. However, stringent qualificeguidelines on the part of lenders and govemtaleagencies had made it difficult for
many consumers seeking mortgage financings torotii@im, notwithstanding the favorable interest est@ironment.

Beginning in January 2013, the trend of decliningrigrage interest rates reversed and rates rosaahathrough the first five months of
the year. In June 2013, mortgage interest ratesased more significantly, peaking at 4.49% in Smyier 2013, then dropped more than a
guarter-point early in the fourth quarter of 2048l ahen increased again to 4.46% by the end of . 20h3average, mortgage interest rates wer
3.98% in 2013 as compared to 3.66% in 2012, acegridi Freddie Mac.
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This increase in mortgage interest rates durin@@2@%ulted in a 1% decline in the total dollar volume of mortgag@rations in 2013 ¢
compared to 2012, according to MBA data. Duringfitet nine months of 2013, the total dollar voluofenortgage originations was estimatec
to have increased 1% as compared to the same per2@d 2; however, the total dollar volume of maigg originations declined sharply in the
fourth quarter of 2013, by 27% and 51% as comptélde third quarter of 2013 and the fourth quanfgueriod in 2012, respectively, resulti
in the 14 % year-over-year decline, according toAviiata.

In 2014, MBA is projecting the dollar volume of mgaige originations to continue to decline in thistfquarter, before rebounding to
fourth quarter 2013 levels, on average, for theaiader of 2014. In addition, the mix of mortgagewrations will continue to move towards
purchase, with estimated refinance share of origina of 63% in 2013 dropping to 39% in 2014, adawy to MBA data.

The U.S. Real Estate Market

In 2012, the average nationwide seasonally adjumtedal rate of existing homes sales rose by 9%peaoead with 2011, according to the
National Association of Realtors, while total hawginventory tightened. The demand for homes gdlgérareased, as mortgage interest r:
dropped to their lowest levels in the precedingé8rs, whereas the number of homes for sale dilleeyt pace with actual sales during 2012.
Accordingly, prices of existing home sales increbdering 2012, with the national median existingnieoprice up 11.5% in December 2012 as
compared with the year prior. According to the S&&3e-Schiller U.S. National Home Price Index, ayefaome prices were similar to levels
last seen in the fall of 2003. While distressed ésrontinued to account for a significant portibowerall home sales in 2012, representing
24% in December 2012, this figure was down from 3)sompared with the year prior period.

In 2013, nationwide sales of existing homes inardamnother 9% over 2012, according to the Nati#sabciation of Realtors, as job
growth improved and demand drove the market, desiging mortgage interest rates. In fact, existiogne sales for all of 2013 were the
highest since 2006 and median prices maintainedgirowth, up 11.5% from 2012, partially attridul&ato the shrinking share of distressed
home sales. Although home prices as of Decembed @@te up 24% from their March 2012 lows, they wailt approximately 20% below
their mid-2006 peaks. Additionally, with mortgageerest rates on the rise in 2013, the number ofdsofor sale rose slightly from 4.5 months
supply at December 2012 to 4.6 months at the el2018, according to the National Association of IRes.

Sale of Assets of LendingTree Loans

On May 12, 2011, we entered into an asset purcigieement with Discover, as amended on Febru@912, for the sale of substantially
all of the operating assets of our LendingTree Isdausiness. The sale was completed on June 6, 2012.

The asset purchase agreement as amended providegtdochase price of approximately $55.9 milliorcash for the assets, subject to
certain conditions. Of this total purchase pricg0dmillion was paid prior to the closing, $37.9limh was paid upon the closing and $10.0
million was paid and recognized as a gain from sldiscontinued operations in the second quaft@0a3.

Discover generally did not assume liabilities ¢f ttendingTree Loans business that arose beforeldbig date, except for certain
liabilities directly related to assets Discoveraicgd. Of the purchase price paid, as of DecembeP@13 , $18.1 million is being held in
escrow pending resolution of certain actual andémtingent liabilities that remain with us follovgrihe sale. This escrowed amount is reco
as restricted cash at December 31, 2013 .

Separate from the asset purchase agreement, Treagreed to provide certain marketing-related ses/to Discover in connection with
its mortgage origination business for approximagsayenteen months following the closing, or sualiezgoint as the agreaapon services a
satisfactorily completed. The services were satisfily completed in the second quarter of 2013ddver remains a network lender on our
mortgage exchange following completion of the szsi
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Results of Operations for the Years ended Decemb8i, 2013 and 2012

Revenue
$ %
2013 Change Change 2012

(Dollars in thousands)
Lending $ 127,98¢ $ 66,80¢ 10€% $ 61,17¢
Other 10,63: (3,989 27% 14,62(
Corporate 623 (1,029 (62)% 1,64
Total revenue $ 139,24( $ 61,79° 80% $ 77,44:

Following the June 6, 2012 closing of the salewfloendingTree Loans business to Discover, leaaswould previously have been
provided to LendingTree Loans became availables&te on our mortgage exchange and such leadsfdteradded to revenue in our mortg
exchange business, with an associated increagdlimgsand marketing expense. Prior to the saleuwfLendingTree Loans business, we dic
record revenue in our mortgage exchange busine$sads provided to LendingTree Loans. Insteadyusesl a cost-sharing approach for
marketing expenses, whereby the mortgage exchargjedss and LendingTree Loans shared marketingiegpen a pro rata basis, based on
the quantity of leads provided to network lendesssus matched with LendingTree Loans.

Revenue from our lending segment increase d in 20&®ared to 2012 through an increase in the salescity of both new and existing
lenders and the expansion of our marketing chantretddition, 2013 revenue from our lending segimese as a result of selling leads at
market prices on our mortgage exchange that woaNe been provided to LendingTree Loans before cetiopl of its sale in June 2012.
Consumers matched on our mortgage exchange inaldas89% to 1.4 million in 2013 from 0.8 million 2012. Additionally, as compared
2012 , our 2013 average revenue earned from neti@nders per matched consumer increase d by 11% .

Other revenue, which includes our auto, educatimhf@me services businesses and other producteasecd in 2013 compared to 2012 .
The decrease in other revenue was due primarityte@ducation business, partially offset by anéase in our auto business. Our education
business was impacted by the increased regulatiectiag clients engaged in for-profit post-secarydeducation services which, in turn,
affected their marketing practices. Revenue fromantio business increased in 2013, primarily assalt of the addition of new lending and
marketing partners.

Corporate revenue was primarily related to feecéotain marketing-related services provided inngmtion with the sale of our
LendingTree Loans business. We completed thes&ssiin the second quarter of 2013 and, theretlwraot anticipate additional such
revenue in future periods.

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue consists primarily of costs assediaith compensation and other employee-relatstsqincluding stock-based
compensation) relating to internally-operated congocall centers, third-party customer call cefaes, credit scoring fees, credit card fees an
website network hosting and server fees.

$ %
2013 Change Change 2012

(Dollars in thousands)
Lending $ 5,46¢ $ 2,231 6S% $ 3,23¢
Other 61z 77 14% 53€
Corporate 46C (62) (12)% 521
Total cost of revenue $ 6,54z % 2,247 52% $ 4,29¢

As a percentage of total revenue 5% 6 %

Lending cost of revenue increased in 2013 from 2Qdr&marily due to increases of $0.8 million iredit card fees, $0.4 million
compensation and other employee-related costs,millidn in third-party customer service fees, $t#lion in credit scoring fees, and $0.1
million in server fees. In addition, cost of reverin 2012 benefited by $0.3 million due to the digmuance of certain consumer incentive
rebates.

Other cost of revenue increased in 2013 from 2Qd#marily due to increases in server fees.
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Corporate cost of revenue decreased in 2013 fral 2@rimarily due to reduced costs associated thi¢hdecreases in marketing-related
services provided in connection with the sale oflaendingTree Loans business.

The total cost of revenue as a percentage of reviEm013 declined as compared to 2012 .

Selling and marketing expense

Selling and marketing expense consists primarilgcbfertising and promotional expenditures, feed palead sources and compensation
and other employee-related costs (including staxded compensation) for personnel engaged in safearketing functions. Advertising and
promotional expenditures primarily include onlinanketing, as well as television, print and radiersfing. Advertising production costs are
expensed in the period the related ad is first run.

$ %
2013 Change Change 2012

(Dollars in thousands)
Lending $ 83,69 $ 48,44 137% $ 35,25(
Other 7,44¢ (6,22¢) (46)% 13,677
Corporate (22 (29) (414)% 7
Total selling and marketing expense $ 91,12: $ 42,187 8€% $ 48,93¢

As a percentage of total revenue 65 % 63 %

The significant increase in total lending sellinglanarketing expense in 2013 compared to 2012nsapity due to an increase of $46.0
million in advertising expense, which is discusbetbw. The increase in lending advertising expeimsiirn, corresponds to the 89% increase
in consumers matched with network lenders in 2013 .

In addition, lending selling and marketing expemseeased immediately following the sale of subédy all of the operating assets of
our LendingTree Loans business on June 6, 2012tcdoier no longer sharing the cost of such expewdtsthe former LendingTree Loans
business. Selling and marketing expense of $6.[Bmivas allocated to LendingTree Loans during 2012

Selling and marketing expense in our other busegsdscrease d in 2013 from 2012, primarily duestrehses in online and direct
marketing.

Total selling and marketing expense as a percemigayenue increase d slightly in 2013 , primadlye to the new national advertising
campaign for our LendingTree brand launched irsgeond quarter of 2013, partially offset by a daseein compensation and other employee
related costs as a percentage of revenue.

Advertising expense is the largest component dihgednd marketing expense, and is comprised ofdtewing:

$ %
2013 Change Change 2012
(Dollars in thousands)
Online $ 61,86: $ 28,69 87% $ 33,16«
Broadcast 10,61t 7,14(C 205% 3,47¢
Other 8,20¢ 4,08¢ 9%% 4,11¢
Total advertising expense $ 80,68( $ 39,92t 9% $ 40,75¢

We increased our advertising expenditures botmerdnd in traditional media in order to generagitaahal mortgage lead volume to m
the demand of network lenders on our mortgage exgghan addition, we further increased our broatspend to support the launch of our
new national advertising campaign for our LendiregTbrand, which commenced in the second quar2013.

We will continue to adjust selling and marketingpemrditures dynamically in relation to anticipatesienue opportunities.
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General and administrative expense

General and administrative expense consists piliynafrcompensation and other employee-related dasthuding stock-based
compensation) for personnel engaged in finance) |léax, corporate information technology, humasoregces and executive management
functions, as well as facilities and infrastructaosts and fees for professional services.

$ %
2013 Change Change 2012

(Dollars in thousands)
Lending $ 3,62¢ $ 15¢ 5% $ 3,47(
Other 2,24k (643%) (22)% 2,88¢
Corporate 18,78 2,911 18 % 15,87:
Total general and administrative expense $ 24,65¢ $ 2,42] 11% $ 22,231

As a percentage of total revenue 18 % 29%

Lending general and administrative expense wasivela consistent in 2013 and 2012.

General and administrative expense in our otheinbases decreased in 2013 from 2012 primarily d@edecrease in loss on disposal of
assets of $0.3 million and a decrease in compudéntenance of $0.2 million.

Corporate general and administrative expense iserdan 2013 due to a compensation charge of $lli®mrelated to a discretionary
cash bonus payment to employee stock option hgldengase s in other compensation and employeagerktosts, and a one-time contributior
in the fourth quarter of 2013 of $0.4 million to educational trust.

However, the increase d general and administratipense in 2013 was spread over proportionateptgreevenue during the period,
resulting in an improvement in general and admiaiste expense as a percentage of revenue.

Product development

Product development expense consists primarilyofpensation and other employee-related costs @imgdustock-based compensation)
that are not capitalized, for personnel engagebardesign, development, testing and enhancemeetlofiology.

$ %
2013 Change Change 2012

(Dollars in thousands)
Lending $ 4,30z $ 2,02t 89% $ 2,271
Other 962 (29¢) (29)% 1,25¢
Corporate — 6 10C % (6)
Total product development $ 526¢  $ 1,73t 49% $ 3,62¢

As a percentage of total revenue 4% 5%

Product development expense increase d in 20132@i4A, primarily due to increase s in compensadimh other employee-related costs.
We launched new offerings in 2013, such as our Eaplorer rate table, reverse mortgage and credit camparison offerings, as well as
enhanced existing tools and products, such asamsopal loan offering and mobile experience, thioingernal product development efforts.

Depreciation

Depreciation expense decreased to $3.5 millior0it8%From $4.1 million in 2012 . The decrease wamsarily due to certain fixed assets
that fully depreciated in 2012.

Litigation settlements and contingencies

Litigation settlements and contingencies consiexpenses related to actual or anticipated litigasettlements, in addition to legal fees
incurred in connection with various patent litigaticlaims we pursue against others. During the gaded December 31, 2013, we recorded
$9.0 million in expenses. The expenses in 2013 weecprimarily to legal fees incurred in connectigith patent litigation we were pursuing.
In 2012 , we recognized income of $3.1 millionmajority of which is attributable to the settlementur estimation of loss on various legal
cases.
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During the first quarter of 2014, we participatadijury trial for the litigation described in "ite3. Legal Proceedings— LendingTree v.
Zillow, Inc. et al." included elsewhere in this ogp The legal expenses associated with this juaywill materially increase our litigation
settlements and contingencies expense for thedfiistter of 2014 and, therefore, negatively aftestoperating income or loss for such qua
We are unable to predict the effect of this litigaton full year 2014 litigation settlements andiogencies.

Operating loss

$ %
2013 Change Change 2012

(Dollars in thousands)
Lending $ 29,36( $ 13,97¢ 91% $ 15,38t
Other (2,507) 3,59¢ 59 % (6,099
Corporate (27,96¢) (15,827 (130% (12,137
Operating loss $ (1,10%) $ 1,744 61% $ (2,85))

As a percentage of total revenue ()% (4)%

Operating loss improved by $1.7 million in 2013caspared with 2012, primarily due to the $61.8 imillincrease in revenue, a majority
of which was offset by significant increases iisgland marketing expense of $42.2 million anditigation settlements and contingencies of
$12.1 million , as well as additional, less subs#hincreases in cost of revenue, general and ridtmitive expense and product development
expense, as discussed above.

Interest Expense

Interest expense decreased to $19,000 in 2013$6enmillion in 2012 . Interest expense in 2012 wamarily due to interest on the
Series A Redeemable Preferred Stock of our whaollgex subsidiary LendingTree Holdings Corp. that veateemed in 2012.

Adjusted Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreci&n and Amortization

Adjusted EBITDA is the primary metric by which thkief operating decision maker evaluates the perdnce of our businesses, on wt
our internal budgets are based and by which managieism compensated. Adjusted EBITDA is definedTinee.com's Principles of Financial
Reporting" below. The following tables provide aaaciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income (I9fsom continuing operations by
segment.

Year Ended December 31, 2013

Lending Other Corporate Total
(in thousands)
Adjusted EBITDA by segment $ 3257: $ 52 § (13,907 $ 18,71
Adjustments to reconcile to net income (loss) frmontinuing
operations:
Amortization of intangibles — (147) — (147)
Depreciation (1,459 (1,647 (40€) (3,507
Restructuring and severance (78) (46) (35) (159
Loss on disposal of assets — — (165) (165)
Non-cash compensation (1,687) (689) (3,257%) (5,627)
Discretionary cash bonus — — (920 (920
Trust contribution — — (350) (350
Litigation settlements and contingencies — (3D (8,929 (8,955
Other expense, net — — (19 (19
Income tax benefit — — 452 452
Net income (loss) from continuing operations $ 29,36( $ (2,509 $ (27,530 $ (673%)
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Year Ended December 31, 2012

Lending Other Corporate Total
(in thousands)
Adjusted EBITDA by segment $ 18,31¢ $ (2,887) $ (11,650 $ 3,77¢
Adjustments to reconcile to net income (loss) frmontinuing
operations:
Amortization of intangibles — (35¢) — (358
Depreciation (1,536 (1,997 (57¢) (4,105
Restructuring and severance (20) (11) 88 57
Loss on disposal of assets (389 (34%) (5) (739
Non-cash compensation (987) (507) (3,099 (4,587)
Litigation settlements and contingencies — — 3,101 3,101
Other expense, net — — (881) (887)
Income tax benefit — — 1,48: 1,48:
Net income (loss) from continuing operations $ 15,38¢ $ (6,099 $ (11,53) $ (2,249

Income tax provision

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012
(in thousands, except percentages)
Income tax benefit $ 457 % 1,48:
Effective tax rate 40.2 % 39.7%

In both 2013 and 2012, the effective tax rate wghdr than the 35% federal statutory rate due jpaily to the effect of state taxes.

Discontinued Operations

During both 2013 and 2012 , income from discontthaperations of $4.6 million and $48.9 million spectively, is primarily attributable
to the LendingTree Loans business, the sale offwivies completed on June 6, 2012. As a result, @42 Pesults of discontinued operations
include approximately five months of results of @gi®ns and a gain on the sale of the busines@4#million, net of tax. In 2013, the results
of discontinued operations was primarily due taextax gain of $10.0 million for an additional phase price payment made on the first
anniversary of the sale of the business, offsaifmrating losses relating to the ongoing wind-dofvthe business.

Financial Position, Liquidity and Capital Resources

General

We expect our cash and cash equivalents and aagh fiom operations to be sufficient to fund ouexgiing and other needs for the next
twelve months. Except for cash and cash equivalar@dave no material sources of liquidity.

As of December 31, 2013, we had $91.7 millionadtcand cash equivalents and $26.0 million oficéstt cash and cash equivalents,
compared to $80.2 million of cash and cash equitaland $29.4 million of restricted cash and caghwalents as of December 31, 2012 .
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Cash Flows from Continuing Operations

Our cash flows attributable to continuing operagiane as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012

(in thousands)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 10,23¢ $ (4,727)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 647 (3,717
Net cash used in financing activities (5,987%) (12,927

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities attriblggto continuing operations in 2013 was $10.2iarilland consisted primarily of losses
from continuing operations of $0.7 million , poséiadjustments for non-cash items of $9.8 milliad aash provided by working capital of
$1.2 million . Adjustments for non-cash items cetesl primarily of $5.6 million in non-cash compeisa expense and $3.5 million of
depreciation. Accounts receivable increased $3l6omiprimarily due to increases in revenue. Acasypayable, accrued expenses and other
current liabilities increased $6.8 million , printpidue to increased marketing efforts and a neantling campaign.

Net cash used in operating activities attributableontinuing operations in 2012 was $4.7 milliovd @onsisted of losses from continuing
operations of $2.2 million , positive adjustmerdsrion-cash items of $9.7 million and cash usedviatking capital of $12.2 million .
Adjustments for non-cash items primarily consigté84.6 million of non-cash compensation expense®&h1 million of depreciation.
Accounts receivable increased by $6.0 million leetfng increased revenue primarily from leads thatild formerly have been provided to
LendingTree Loans becoming available for sale ameartgage exchange. Accounts payable and otheertuiabilities decreased by $6.6
million , as we managed our net working capitaliffms and paid previously incurred expenses fromroved cash flow.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Net cash provided by investing activities attritliléato continuing operations in 2013 of $0.6 milliconsisted primarily of capital
expenditures of $2.8 million , which was more tlodiset by a decrease in restricted cash of $3.4amil The decrease in restricted cash is
associated with a reduction in the collateral regraent for certain of our surety bonds, which aguired by the various states in which we
currently operate or previously operated. As alte$4.0 million of cash previously held in escrows released.

Net cash used in investing activities attributagbleontinuing operations in 2012 of $3.7 milliorsuéted primarily from capital
expenditures of $2.6 million and an increase itrieted cash of $1.1 million .

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities attributaleontinuing operations in 2013 of $6.0 milliomsested primarily of the vesting and
issuance of stock to employees (less withholdirggpof $2.8 million and the repurchase of Tree.stmek of $3.3 million .

Net cash used in financing activities 2012 of $Ihiion was primarily due to a special dividend®i#1.4 million , the repurchase of
Tree.com stock of $0.9 million and the issuanceashmon stock to employees (less withholding taré$0.8 million , partially offset by a
decrease in restricted cash requirements of $ll@mielated to warehouse lines of credit.

Warehouse Lines of Credit for LendingTree Loans

As a result of the closing of the sale of subs#digtall of the operating assets of our LendingTreans business on June 6, 2012, all thre
then-existing warehouse lines of credit expired &mohinated on July 21, 2012. Borrowings underaHeses of credit were used to fund, and
were secured by, consumer residential loans thet tveld for sale. Loans under these lines of créit repaid using proceeds from the sales
of loans by LendingTree Loans.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any other off-balance sheet arraagtsmther than our operating lease obligationsfamding commitments pursuant to
our surety bondsSee Note 11—Commitments to the consolidated finanditesnents included elsewhere in the report fohkrrtetails.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The following disclosure is provided to supplemera description of our accounting policies contdiireNote 2 —Significant Accountin
Policies to the consolidated financial statememttuded elsewhere in this report in regard to $iggmt areas of judgment. This disclosure
includes accounting policies related to both caritig operations and discontinued operations. Mamage is required to make certain
estimates and assumptions during the preparatitireafonsolidated financial statements in accorelavith generally accepted accounting
principles. These estimates and assumptions intbaceported amount of assets and liabilities asdasures of contingent assets and
liabilities as of the date of the consolidated ficial statements. They also impact the reporteduatnaf net earnings during any period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates. Becaigbe size of the financial statement elemenistiwh they relate, some of our accounting
policies and estimates have a more significant @npa our consolidated financial statements thaerst A discussion of some of our more
significant accounting policies and estimates fofo

Loan Loss Obligations

We make estimates as to our exposure related toldigiation to repurchase loans previously soltht@stors or to repay premiums paid
by investors in purchasing loans, and reserveudon €ontingencies accordingly. Such payments testors may be required in cases where
underwriting deficiencies, borrower fraud, docunagion defects, early payment defaults and early fweyoffs occurred.

Our HLC subsidiary continues to be liable for thegemnification obligations, repurchase obligati@md premium repayment obligatic
following the sale of substantially all of the oating assets of our LendingTree Loans businessioa 8, 2012. Approximately $21.2 millids
being held in escrow pending resolution of certdithese contingent liabilities. We have been niagjag with certain secondary market
purchasers to settle any existing and future cgefibliabilities, but we may not be able to complatich negotiations on acceptable terms,
all. Because we do not service the loans LendingLoans sold, we do not maintain nor have accefwtourrent balances and loan
performance data with respect to the individuahtpreviously sold to investors. Accordingly, we anable to determine, with precision, our
maximum exposure for breaches of the representatind warranties LendingTree Loans made to thestovethat purchased such loans.

We estimate the liability for loan losses usingtilement discount framework. This approach eststte lifetime losses on the
population of remaining loans originated and sgld_bendingTree Loans using actual defaults for loaith similar characteristics and
projected future defaults. It also considers tkelihood of claims expected due to alleged breachespresentations and warranties made by
LendingTree Loans and the percentage of those slawestors estimate LendingTree Loans may agresptarchase. We then apply a
settlement discount factor to the result of thedaming to reflect publicly announced bulk settletador similar loan types and vintages, as
as LendingTree Loans' non-operating status, inrdodestimate a range of the potential obligati©hanges to any one of these factors could
significantly impact the estimate of the liabiliypd could have a material adverse impact on ouitsesf operations for any particular period.

We have considered both objective and subjectie®fa in our estimation process, but given curgamteral industry trends in mortgage
loans as well as housing prices, market expectaaonl actual losses related to LendingTree Lodigladions could vary significantly from
the obligation recorded as of December 31, 2018f5 million or the range of remaining loan los&es Note 16 —Discontinued
Operations—LendingTree Loans—Loan Loss Obligationthe consolidated financial statements includsevehere in this report for
additional information on the loan loss reserve.

Recoverability of Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

We review the carrying value of goodwill and indée-lived intangible assets on an annual basaf &ctober 1, or more frequently if an
event occurs or circumstances change that woula tilaly than not reduce the fair value of a rejpgriunit below its carrying value. We
determine the fair value of a reporting unit bagpdn an evaluation of its expected discounted flagls and a market approach, with each
method being equally weighted in the calculatiome Biscounted cash flow analysis requires us toenaskumptions and judgments related to
factors used in the calculation, including, but lited to, management’s expectations for futyserations and projected cash flows.

The annual goodwill impairment test as of Octohe2(13 included the following key assumptions: scdunted cash flow model utilizing
a discount rate of 13%-20% , a terminal growth cdt8% and Adjusted EBITDA $ee "Tree.com's Principles of Financial Reporting" bvelo
for the definition of Adjusted EBITDA) margin rate$ 10%-15% of revenue from 2014 through 2022 .uRe®f testing indicated a fair value
in excess of the carrying value of our goodwillrbgre than 150%.
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The material assumptions included in the annuafinde-lived intangible assets impairment tesbB®ctober 1, 2013 were an assumed
relief-from-royalty model, a discount rate of 13%92 , a terminal growth rate of 3% and a royalty @it 3%-6%. Results of testing indicate«
fair value more than seven times the carrying vafusur indefinite-lived intangible assets.

We do not expect any material changes in the mear to the assumptions underlying these tests pdimment at October 1, 2013 .

The value of goodwill and indefinite-lived intanfgtassets that is subject to assessment for impatris $3.6 million and $10.1 million ,
respectively, at December 31, 2013 .

Recoverability of Long-Lived Assets

We review the carrying value of all long-lived asse@rimarily property and equipment, and defitited intangible assets for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances irdibat the carrying value of an asset may be iragalmpairment is considered to have
occurred whenever the carrying value of a longdiasset cannot be recovered from cash flows tieadygrected to result from the use and
eventual disposition of the asset. This recoveitghigst requires us to make assumptions and judtgmelated to factors used in a calculation
of undiscounted cash flows, including, but not texdito, management’s expectations for future opmraiand projected cash flows. The key
assumptions used in this calculation include Adid€EBITDA, the remaining useful lives of the primaash flow generating asset in the asse
group and, to a lesser extent, the deduction afalaxpenditures and taxes paid in cash to aatuget cash flows.

Due to a history of operating losses, certain oflong-lived asset groups with an aggregate cagryalue of $1.7 million were reviewed
for impairment at December 31, 2013 . Results gtirig indicated undiscounted cash flows exceededggregate carrying value of each asse
group by a range of 100% to more than 400%. Wead@xpect any material changes in the near terineg@ssumptions underlying these tests
of impairment. However, if changes in these assigngtdo occur, and, should those changes be signtfithey could have a material impact
on our determination of whether or not there hanlka impairment.

The value of long-lived assets subject to assessioempairment is $5.9 million at December 31130

Income Taxes

Estimates of deferred income taxes and the sigmifitems giving rise to the deferred assets aiiliies are shown in Note 9 —Income
Taxes to the consolidated financial statementsided elsewhere in this report, and reflect managémassessment of actual future taxes
paid on items reflected in the consolidated finahsiatements, giving consideration to both timangl the probability of realization. Actual
income taxes could vary from these estimates dfigtioe changes in income tax law, state incometgortionment or the outcome of any
review of our tax returns by the IRS, as well asialcoperating results that may vary significarfitym anticipated results.

We also recognize liabilities for uncertain taxifioss based on the two-step process prescribédéogiccounting guidance for uncertainty
in income taxes. The first step is to evaluatetdxegposition for recognition by determining if theight of available evidence indicates it is
more likely than not that the position will be saised on audit, including resolution of related eqip or litigation processes, if any. The sec
step is to measure the tax benefit as the largestiat which is more than 50% likely of being reatizupon ultimate settlement. This
measurement step is inherently difficult and reggiBubjective estimations of such amounts to déterthe probability of various possible
outcomes. We consider many factors when evaluatingestimating our tax positions and tax benefitéich may require periodic adjustments
and which may not accurately anticipate actual autes.

A valuation allowance is provided on deferred tageds if it is determined that it'isore likely than not" that the deferred tax asset will
be realized.

At December 31, 2013, we have recorded a valuatiomwance of $49.7 million .

Stock-Based Compensation

The forms of stock-based awards granted to our@yepk are principally restricted stock units ("R9Uestricted stock and stock
options. The value of RSU and restricted stock d&/& measured at their grant dates as the faiewafl common stock and amortized ratably
as non-cash compensation expense over the vesting The value of stock options issued, as discuissBote 4 —Stock-Based
Compensation to the consolidated financial statesienluded elsewhere in this report, is estimatgidg a Black-Scholes option pricing
model. We did not grant any stock options durin20
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As of December 31, 2013, there was approximatelg #illion , $5.6 million , $2.3 million and $0rillion of unrecognized
compensation cost, net of estimated forfeiturdated to stock options, RSUs, restricted stockrastricted stock with a market condition,
respectively. These costs are expected to be remmhover a weighted-average period of approxingdted year for stock options, 1.9 years
for RSUs, 2.6 years for restricted stock, andy@drs for restricted stock with a market condition

New Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 —Significant Accounting Policies to the solidated financial statements included elsewhethis report for a description of
recent accounting pronouncements.

Tree.com's Principles of Financial Reporting

We report Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Deptietiand Amortization, adjusted for certain iteniscdssed below (Adjusted EBITDA),
as a supplemental measure to GAAP. This measworeei®f the primary metrics by which we evaluategbgormance of our businesses, on
which our internal budgets are based and by whighagement is compensated. We believe that investtordd have access to the same set ¢
tools that we use in analyzing our results. This-GRAAP measure should be considered in additioedalts prepared in accordance with
GAAP, but should not be considered a substitutefauperior to GAAP results. We provide and enagarinvestors to examine the
reconciling adjustments between the GAAP and norABMneasure discussed below.

Definition of Adjusted EBITDA

We report Adjusted EBITDA as operating income @sl@which excludes interest expense and taxesjtedjto exclude amortization of
intangibles and depreciation, and to further exel(fd non-cash compensation expense, (2) non-ngehgible asset impairment charges,
(3) gain/loss on disposal of assets, (4) restrirgguand severance expenses, (5) litigation setiiésrend contingencies and legal fees for ce
patent litigation, (6) adjustments for significaiquisitions or dispositions, and (7) one-time gefdjusted EBITDA has certain limitations in
that it does not take into account the impact tostatement of operations of certain expensesjdit) depreciation, non-cash compensation
and acquisition-related accounting. We endeavoptopensate for the limitations of the non-GAAP nuees presented by also providing the
comparable GAAP measures with equal or greater ipmmse and descriptions of the reconciling itemsluding quantifying such items, to
derive the non-GAAP measures. These non-GAAP measuay not be comparable to similarly titted measwsed by other companies.

One-Time Items

Adjusted EBITDA is adjusted for one-time itemsaffplicable. Items are considered one-time in nafuhey are norrecurring, infrequer
or unusual and have not occurred in the past tvaosyer are not expected to recur in the next tvaygién accordance with SEC rules. For the
periods presented in this report, there are nosamgents for one-time items, except for $0.9 millrefated to a discretionary cash bonus
payment to employee stock option holders and atiome€ontribution of $0.4 million to an educatiomalst.

Non-Cash Expenses that are Excluded from Adjusted EHTDA

Non-cash compensation expense consists principhixpense associated with grants of restricteckstestricted stock units and stock
options. These expenses are not paid in cash, andolude the related shares in our calculatiorfslof diluted shares outstanding. Upon
settlement of restricted stock units, exerciseenfain stock options or vesting of restricted staakards, the awards may be settled, on a net
basis, with us remitting the required tax withhafglamount from our current funds.

Amortization of intangibles are non-cash expenskging primarily to intangible assets acquiredtiyh acquisitions. At the time of an
acquisition, the intangible assets of the acqui@dpany, such as purchase agreements, technoldgyuatomer relationships, are valued and
amortized over their estimated lives.

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MakRisk

Under the rules and regulations of the SEC, asalsnreporting company, we are not required tovjgi® the information required by this
item.
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ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Eams, Inc.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated badasheets and the related consolidated statemfenpei@tions, shareholders' equity
and cash flows present fairly, in all material s, the financial position of Tree.com, Inc. @&sdubsidiaries at December 31, 2013 and
2012, and the results of their operations and ttash flows for the years then ended in conformitih accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. In addjtin our opinion, the financial statement schedigted in the index appearing under Item 1
(a)(2) presents fairly, in all material respedi® information set forth therein when read in cagfion with the related consolidated financial
statements. Also in our opinion, the Company maiet in all material respects, effective interoahtrol over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2013, based on criteria establishétennal Control—Integrated Framework (1992) issbg the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSOg Tbmpany's management is responsible for thespdial statements and financial
statement schedule, for maintaining effective ma¢control over financial reporting and for itsassment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting, included in Maeagent's Report on Internal Control over Financigp&ting appearing under Item 9A. Our
responsibility is to express opinions on theserfoia statements, on the financial statement sdbednd on the Company's internal control
over financial reporting based on our audits (whigs an integrated audit in 2013). We conductedaadits in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boarai(eld States). Those standards require that wegsldmperform the audits to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the finanatehsénts are free of material misstatement andheheffective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all matergdpects. Our audits of the financial statememisiited examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the fiahstatements, assessing the accounting prirscyled and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financé&éstent presentation. Our audit of internal cordxa@r financial reporting included obtain
an understanding of internal control over finanogdorting, assessing the risk that a material wes&k exists, and testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internalrcbivased on the assessed risk. Our audits altadiedt performing such other procedures as
we considered necessary in the circumstances. Weyd¢hat our audits provide a reasonable basisdo opinions.

A company's internal control over financial repagtis a process designed to provide reasonableasgsuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegeinerally accepted accounting princip
A company's internal control over financial repogtincludes those policies and procedures thakfiain to the maintenance of records ths
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetsofdmpany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@anith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expendituref®ttbmpany are being made only in accordance witibaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readnaassurance regarding prevention or timely detectf unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company's assets that could hawaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssaubject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Charlotte, North Carolina
March 17, 2014
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Revenue $ 139,24( $ 77,44
Costs and expenses:

Cost of revenuéexclusive of depreciation shown separately bel ow) 6,542 4,29t

Selling and marketing expense 91,12: 48,93«

General and administrative expense 24,65¢ 22,23:

Product development 5,26¢ 3,52¢

Depreciation 3,501 4,10¢

Amortization of intangibles 147 35¢

Restructuring and severance 15¢ (57)

Litigation settlements and contingencies 8,95¢ (3,100
Total costs and expenses 140,34 80,29
Operating loss (1,10%) (2,85))
Other income (expense):

Interest expense (19 (8817)
Loss before income taxes (1,12¢) (3,737
Income tax benefit 452 1,48:
Net loss from continuing operations (673) (2,249)
Discontinued operations:

Gain from sale of discontinued operations, netaf t 9,561 24,37:

Income (loss) from operations of discontinued opena, net of tax (4,947 24,50:
Income from discontinued operations 4,62( 48,87
Net income $ 3947 $ 46,62¢
Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic 11,03t 10,69:

Diluted 11,03t 10,69¢
Net loss per share from continuing operations:

Basic $ (0.06) $ (0.2

Diluted $ (0.0¢) $ (0.23)
Net income per share from discontinued operations:

Basic $ 04z $ 4.57

Diluted $ 04z $ 4.57
Net income per share attributable to common shareHders:

Basic $ 03¢ $ 4.3¢€

Diluted $ 03¢ $ 4.3¢€

The accompanying notes to consolidated financékgstents are an integral part of these statements.
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

(in thousands, except par value
and share amounts)

ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 91,667 $ 80,19(
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 26,01° 29,41«
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $408 ab@R$ respectively 12,85( 11,48¢
Prepaid and other current assets 1,68¢ 773
Current assets of discontinued operations 521 407
Total current assets 132,74« 122,27.
Property and equipment, net 5,34¢ 6,15¢
Goodwill 3,63 3,63:
Intangible assets, net 10,68¢ 10,83:
Other non-current assets 111 152
Non-current assets of discontinued operations 12¢ 12¢
Total assets $ 152,64: $ 143,17:
LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable, trade $ 4,881 $ 2,741
Deferred revenue 49 64¢
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 23,26¢ 19,96(
Current liabilities of discontinued operations (Bldi5) 32,00¢ 31,01°
Total current liabilities 60,19¢ 54,36¢
Other non-current liabilities 334 93¢
Deferred income taxes 4,84¢ 4,69¢
Non-current liabilities of discontinued operations 254 253
Total liabilities 65,63¢ 60,24¢

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 11 and 12)

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY:
Preferred stock $.01 par value; authorized 5,0@gb@res; none issued or outstanding — —
Common stock $.01 par value; authorized 50,000sb@0es; issued 12,619,835 and 12,195,209

shares, respectively, and outstanditd,250,903 and 11,006,730 shares, respectively 12¢ 122
Additional paid-in capital 907,14¢ 903,69:
Accumulated deficit (807,53)) (811,480
Treasury stock 1,368,932 and 1,188,479 sharesctgply (12,739 (9,412
Total shareholders' equity 87,00¢ 82,92:
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 152,64: $ 143,17:

The accompanying notes to consolidated financékstents are an integral part of these statements.
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Common Stock

Treasury Stock

Additional
Number Paid-in Accumulated Number
Total of Shares Amount Capital Deficit of Shares Amount
(in thousands)
Balance as of December 31,2011 $  45,47: 12,16¢ $ 121 $ 911,98 $ (858,109 1,12 $ (8,539
Revision (Note 1) — (349 ©)] 3 — — —
Balance as of December 31, 2011
(Revised) $ 45,47 11,82¢ $ 11€ $ 911,99 $ (858,109 1,12¢ $ (8,53
Comprehensive income:
Net income for the year ended
December 31, 2012 46,62! — — — 46,62¢ — —
Comprehensive income $ 46,62¢
Stock-based compensation 4,75¢€ — — 4,75¢€ — — —
Issuance of common stock upon
exercise of stock options and vesting
of restricted stock units, net of
withholding taxes (819 45¢€ 5 (819 — — —
Purchase of treasury stock (880) — — — — 65 (880)
Dividends (12,23¢) — — (12,23¢) — — —
Revision (Note 1) — (87) (D) 1 — — —
Balance as of December 31, 2012
(Revised) $ 82,92: 12,198 $ 12z $ 903,69 $ (811,48 1,18 $ (9,41)
Comprehensive income:
Net income for the year ended
December 31, 2013 3,941 — — — 3,941 — —
Comprehensive income $ 3,94
Stock-based compensation 5,62¢ — — 5,62¢ — — —
Issuance of common stock upon
exercise of stock options and vesting
of restricted stock units, net of
withholding taxes (2,80¢) 42~ 4 (2,810 — — —
Purchase of treasury stock (3,32)) — — — — 181 (3,32))
Dividends 637 — — 637 — — —
Balance as of December 31,2013 $  87,00¢ 12,62( $ 12€ $ 907,14¢ $ (807,53) 1,36¢ $ (12,73)

The accompanying notes to consolidated financékgstents are an integral part of these statements.
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012
(in thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities attributaldecbntinuing operations:
Net income 3947 $ 46,62¢
Less: Income from discontinued operations, neawf t (4,620 (48,87¢)
Net loss from continuing operations (673) (2,249
Adjustments to reconcile net loss from continuipgm@tions to net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities attributable to continuing ogi@®ns:
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 16E 747
Amortization of intangibles 147 35¢
Depreciation 3,501 4,10¢
Non-cash compensation expense 5,62 4,58
Deferred income taxes 64 (92
Bad debt expense (benefit) 24¢ 4
Changes in current assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (3,619 (6,011)
Prepaid and other current assets (a70) 62C
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other tliedeifities 6,83: (6,59%)
Income taxes payable (610 (98
Deferred revenue (675) 472
Other, net (604) (562)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activitieattributable to continuing operations 10,23¢ (4,727)
Cash flows from investing activities attributabdecontinuing operations:
Capital expenditures (2,750 (2,637)
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash 3,391 (1,085
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activitieattributable to continuing operations 647 (3,71%)
Cash flows from financing activities attributabtedontinuing operations:
Issuance of common stock, net of withholding taxes (2,80€) (815)
Purchase of treasury stock (3,32)) (879
Dividends 144 (11,429
Decrease in restricted cash — 1,19¢
Net cash used in financing activities attributableo continuing operations (5,987%) (12,927
Total cash provided by (used in) continuing operatins 4,902 (20,367)
Discontinued operations:
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activiittebutable to discontinued operations (3,42%) 226,74
Net cash provided by investing activities attritibisto discontinued operations 10,00( 25,92!
Net cash used in financing activities attributaoleliscontinued operations — (197,659
Total cash provided by discontinued operations 6,57t 55,01:
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 11,477 34,64¢
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 80,19( 45,54
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 91,667 $ 80,19(

The accompanying notes to consolidated financékgstents are an integral part of these statements.
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1—ORGANIZATION

Company Overview

Tree.com, Inc. ("Tree.com" or the "Company") is pagent of LendingTree, LLC, which owns severahbisasand businesses that provide
information, tools, advice, products and servigefitical transactions in consumers' lives. #sfly of brands includes: LendingTree®,
GetSmart®, LendingTree AutdY, LendingTree Educatiott', LendingTree Home Pré¥ and InsuranceTree®&ogether, these brands serv
an ally for consumers who are looking to comparisbap for loans, education programs, home seryiceaders and other services from
multiple businesses and professionals that will peta for their business.

The consolidated financial statements include twmants of Tree.com and all its wholly-owned eestilntercompany transactions and
accounts have been eliminated.

Spin-Off

On August 20, 2008, Tree.com was spun off fronpéent company, IAC/InterActiveCorp ("IAC"), intosgparate publicly-traded
company. In connection with the spin-off, Tree.cwas incorporated as a Delaware corporation in A¥18.

Discontinued Operations

The businesses of RealEstate.com and RealEstateRIBAL TORS® (which, together, represent the foriReral Estate segment) and
LendingTree Loans are presented as discontinuedibqes in the accompanying consolidated balaneetstand consolidated statements of
operations and cash flows for all periods preserithd notes accompanying these consolidated finhstEtements reflect the Company's
continuing operations and, unless otherwise naecude information related to the discontinuedrapiens.

Real Estate

On March 10, 2011, management made the decisioffirmalized a plan to close all of the field officekthe proprietary full-service real
estate brokerage business known as RealEstateRioAl, TORS®. The Company exited all markets in whitghreviously operated by
March 31, 2011. In September 2011, the remainisgtasf RealEstate.com were sold, which consistiethply of internet domain names and
trademarks, for $8.3 million , resulting in a gaimsale of $7.8 million .

LendingTree Loans

On May 12, 2011, the Company entered into an gssehase agreement with Discover, as amended andgbr, 2012, for the sale of
substantially all of the operating assets of itadiegTree Loans business. The sale was completddrmn6, 2012,

The asset purchase agreement as amended provideg@diocchase price of approximately $55.9 milliorcash for the assets, subject to
certain conditions. Of this total purchase pricg0dmillion was paid prior to the closing, $37.9liah was paid upon the closing and $10.0
million was paid and recognized as a gain from e&ldiscontinued operations in the second quarfteda3.

Discover generally did not assume liabilities af ttendingTree Loans business that arose beforeldbing date, except for certain
liabilities directly related to assets Discoveraiogd. Of the initial purchase price payment, aBe€ember 31, 2013 , $18.1 million is being
held in escrow pending resolution of certain actral/or contingent liabilities that remain with tBempany following the sale. This escrowed
amount is recorded as restricted cash at Decendh@033 .

Separate from the asset purchase agreement, Treagreed to provide certain marketing-related ses/to Discover in connection with
its mortgage origination business for approximagsayenteen months following the closing, or sualiezgoint as the agreaapon services a
satisfactorily completed. The services were satisfily completed in the second quarter of 2013ddver remains a network lender on the
Company's mortgage exchange following completiothefservices.
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Revisions of Prior Period Financial Statements

In connection with the preparation of the consdéddinancial statements for the first quarter @12, it was determined that the numbe
outstanding shares had been overstated in pri@ydsedue to issuances of unrestricted shares wgt@iastion of vesting conditions on
restricted shares from 2009 to 2012, without cangehe original restricted share certificates.sTéiror resulted in double-counting of certain
vested restricted shares in the calculation ofeshautstanding. Management determined that urststrshares issued upon vesting of
restricted shares should not have been consided@tiywissued or outstanding until the associatdricted shares were canceled. All of the
restricted stock awards that were double-counte@ vesued to the Chairman and CEO. This error émeshwas not reflected in the Chairman
and CEO's filings made under Section 13(d) or 8pct6 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 dhandisclosures of his holdings in public
filings. In addition, the weighted average shafewdation erroneously included restricted sharesuiting in errors in the previously reported
weighted average shares and earnings per share.

On December 26, 2012, the Company paid a speeiaetid of $1.00 per share to its shareholdersadrceon December 17, 2012. The
dividend was paid on all shares shown as outstgnidiits records, including shares granted to thai@nan and CEO, which management has
determined should not have been considered issueatstanding. As a result, $0.4 million in dividisnwere unintentionally overpaid to the
Chairman and CEO in 2012 and is presented as acfimg cash outflow in the consolidated statemermiash flows for the year ended
December 31, 2012. The dividend overpayment waaiddyy the Chairman and CEO to the Company durdiznd is presented as a
financing cash inflow in the consolidated statenartash flows for the year ended December 31, 2@tBer than that special dividend, no
declarations or payments of any cash dividendf©iertommon stock have occurred.

In addition to the special dividend overpaymengréhwas also a related error in the dividend at¢cacarded for nonvested shares entitlec
to the special dividend upon vesting, resultingrinover-accrual of $0.2 million in the consolidabedance sheet at December 31, 2012.

In accordance with ASC 2510, the Company assessed the materiality of theseseand concluded that the errors were not nateriany
of the previously issued financial statements. Adtwly, all previously issued 2012 interim finaalkcstatements were corrected for these shal
errors and revised prospectively in the 2013 qusur&EC filings.

The following table presents the effect of theseeaxions on the Company's annual consolidatedrstnt of operations for the year en
December 31, 201@n thousands, except per share amounts) :

Year Ended December 31, 2012

As Reported Adjustment As Revised

Weighted average basic shares outstanding 11,31 (61¢) 10,69t
Weighted average diluted shares outstanding 11,31 (61¢) 10,69¢
Net loss per share from continuing operations:

Basic $ 020 $ (0.00) $ (0.2

Diluted $ (0.20 $ (0.07) $ (0.23)
Net income per share from discontinuing operations:

Basic $ 43z $ 0.2t $ 4.57

Diluted $ 43z $ 02t % 4.57%
Net income attributable to common shareholderspare:

Basic $ 41z $ 024 $ 4.3¢€

Diluted $ 41z $ 024 $ 4.3¢€

For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Compashjolsses from continuing operations and, as atyesupotentially dilutive
securities were included in the denominator for potimg diluted earnings per share, because theampauld have been anti-dilutive.
Accordingly, the weighted average basic shareganding were used to compute all earnings per sdraunts.
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following table presents the effect these erhad on common stock:

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
As Reported Adjustment As Adjusted As Reported Adjustment As Adjusted
Issued shares 12,625,67 (430,469 12,195,20 12,169,22 (342,969 11,826,25
Outstanding shares 11,437,19 (430,469 11,006,73 11,045,96 (342,969 10,702,99

NOTE 2—SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Revenue Recognition

The Company derives its revenue primarily from mdees, which are earned through the delivery afified leads that originated
through one of its websites or affiliates. The Camprecognizes revenue when persuasive eviderene afrangement exists, delivery has
occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable andeotdibility is reasonably assured. Delivery is dedioehave occurred at the time a qualified
lead is delivered to the customer, provided thasigaificant obligations remain.

In its auto business, the Company also deriveswexg&from lenders for closing fees on auto prodwbisn a transaction is closed with the
consumer. Closed loan fees and closed sale fe@s@rgnized at the time the lender reports theeddsan or closed sale to the Company,
which could be several months after the origingLiesst form is transmitted.

Prior to January 2013, the Company also derivedmee from lenders for closing fees on home equody Iproducts, which were
recognized in the same manner as the closed learofeits auto loan products. During the years eéerember 31, 2013 and 2012 , the
Company recognized $0.1 million and $0.6 milliaespectively, in closed loan fee revenue on honuéyetpan products.

In addition, during the years ended December 31320hd December 31, 2012 , the Company recognem@mately $0.6 million and
$1.9 million of revenue, respectively, from marketirelated services provided to Discover as dismigs Note 1— Organization—
Discontinued Operations—LendingTree Loans. Revérarme these services was recognized in the periedéhvices were provided.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and shortéghly liquid money market investments withginial maturities of three months or
less.

Restricted Cash

Cash escrowed or contractually restricted for &ifipgurpose is designated as restricted cash.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are stated at amounts due di@tomers, net of an allowance for doubtful acceunt

The Company determines its allowance for doubtfebants by considering a number of factors, inclgdhe length of time accounts
receivable are past due, previous loss historyspieeific customer's current ability to pay itsigation and the condition of the general
economy and the customer's industry as a wholeoudxts receivable are considered past due whenatfeegutstanding longer than the
contractual payment terms.

Accounts receivable are written off when managenderis them uncollectible. The Company's write-offaccounts receivable during
the year ended December 31, 2013 were $0.3 méli@himmaterial during 2012 .
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Loan Loss Obligations

The Company's HLC subsidiary, which during its perof active operation primarily conducted busines$ endingTree Loans, sold loans
it originated to investors on a servicing-relealasis and the risk of loss or default by the boeowas generally transferred to the investor.
However, LendingTree Loans was required by thegesitors to make certain representations relatirgetdit information, loan documentation
and collateral. To the extent LendingTree Loansndidcomply with such representations or theresarty payment defaults, LendingTree
Loans may be required to repurchase loans or indeitiie investors for any losses from borrower détea LendingTree Loans maintains a
liability for the estimated exposure relating telswwontingent obligations and changes to the estisu@ recorded in income from discontinuec
operations in the periods they occur.

The Company estimates the liability for loan losssisg a settlement discount framework. This apgrasstimates the lifetime losses on
the population of remaining loans originated and by LendingTree Loans using actual defaults éamis with similar characteristics and
projected future defaults. It also considers tkelihhood of claims expected due to alleged breachespresentations and warranties made by
LendingTree Loans and the percentage of those slmwestors estimate LendingTree Loans may agrespiarchase. The Company then
applies a settlement discount factor to the resithe foregoing to reflect publicly announced bs#ttlements for similar loan types and
vintages, as well as LendingTree Loans' non-opegatiatus, in order to estimate a range of potdiatility. Changes to any one of these
factors could significantly impact the estimatehad liability and could have a material impact ba Company's results of operations for any
particular periodSee Note 16—Discontinued Operations—LendingTree Loansar Loss Obligations for additional informationtbe loan
loss reserve.

Segment Reporting

The Company has four operating segments: lendirtg, aducation and home services. The lending tipgraegment is in the Company's
core business of lead generation in the lendindetplace, matching consumers looking for lendingdpicts with network lenders. Similarly,
the auto, education and home services businesgeh nansumers with auto financing providers andetsaprospective students with
educational institutions and agencies, and homemsmmith home improvement professionals, respegtivel

The Company's review of these operating segmemgsetmber 31, 2013 indicates that only its lendipgrating segment meets the
guantitative threshold to be reported as a replatsdgment.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, including internally-depeld software and significant improvements, arendaat cost less accumulated
depreciation. Repairs and maintenance and any gainsses on dispositions are recognized as iedurr current operations.

Depreciation is recorded on a straigihe basis to allocate the cost of depreciabletagseoperations over their estimated service lifée
following table presents the estimated useful liiceseach asset category:

Asset Category Estimated Useful Lives
Computer equipment and capitalized software 1to 5 years

Leasehold improvements Lesser of asset life or life of lease
Furniture and other equipment 3to 7 years

Software Development Costs

Software development costs primarily include iné@nd external labor expenses incurred to deviblegoftware that powers the
Company's websites. Certain costs incurred duhingapplication development stage are capitalizeddan specific activities tracked on
internal time sheets and external invoices (or timeets), while costs incurred during the preliminaoject stage and post-
implementation/operation stage are expensed asr@ttuCapitalized software development costs areréred over an estimated useful life of
one to three years .
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

Goodwill acquired in business combinations is assibto the reporting units that are expected tetiginom the combination as of the
acquisition date. Goodwill and indefinite-livedanigible assets, primarily the Company's trade nanddrademarks, are not amortized.
Rather, these assets are tested annually for impairas of October 1, or more frequently upon tmioence of certain events or substantive
changes in circumstances.

Goodwill impairment is determined using a two-spepcess. The first step is to compare the fairevalua reporting unit with its carrying
amount, including goodwill. In performing the firstiep, the Company determines the fair value okp®rting units by using a market appro
and a discounted cash flow ("DCF") analysis. Deteimg fair value using a DCF analysis requiresdaRercise of significant judgments,
including judgments about appropriate discounts;gterpetual growth rates and the amount and tiwirepected future cash flows. If the f
value of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying anmipgoodwill of the reporting unit is not impairadd the second step of the impairment test i
not required. If the carrying amount of a reportingt exceeds its fair value, the second step@fthodwill impairment test is required to be
performed to measure the amount of impairmennyt ahe second step of the goodwill impairment teshpares the implied fair value of the
reporting unit's goodwill with the carrying amouwftthat goodwill. The implied fair value of goodWi$ determined in the same manner as the
amount of goodwill recognized in a business contimnalf the carrying amount of the reporting umifoodwill exceeds the implied fair value
of that goodwill, an impairment loss is recognize@dn amount equal to that excess.

The impairment test for indefinite-lived intangildesets involves a comparison of the estimated/éire of the intangible asset with its
carrying value. If the carrying value of the inaéte-lived intangible asset exceeds its estimaa@dvalue, an impairment loss is recognized in
an amount equal to that excess. The estimatesrofdae of indefinite-lived intangible assets determined using a DCF valuation analysis
that employs a relief-from-royalty methodology stiating the fair value of trade names and tragks&ignificant judgments inherent in
this analysis include the determination of roya#ttes, discount rates, perpetual growth ratestamdrmount and timing of future revenues.

For the October 1, 2013 annual impairment tesiootgvill, the fair value of the lending reportingitwas estimated using a DCF analysis
and a market comparable method, with each methiog) legually weighted in the calculation. Resultshaf October 1, 2013 annual impairm
test for goodwill and the indefinite-lived intantghassets indicated that no impairments had oadurre

Long-Lived Assets and Intangible Assets with Defité Lives

Long-lived assets include property and equipmedtiatangible assets with definite lives. Amortipatiof definitelived intangible assets
recorded on a straight-line basis over their egtohéives.

Long-lived assets are tested for recoverability mever events or changes in circumstances indibateheir carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. The carrying amount of a long-liveseaiss not recoverable if it exceeds the sum ofitidiscounted cash flows expected to resul
from the use and eventual disposition of the a#siite carrying amount is deemed to not be recalvier, an impairment loss is recorded as the
amount by which the carrying amount of the longdthasset exceeds its fair value.

Due to a history of operating losses, certain efltng-lived assets were reviewed for impairmemetember 31, 2013 and 2012 . Neithel
of the reviews resulted in impairment charges.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company categorizes its assets and liabiltieasured at fair value into a fair value hierartttat prioritizes the assumptions used in
pricing the asset or liability into the followinpree levels:

* Level 1: Observable inputs, such as quoted prices fotticErassets and liabilities in active markets otsd from independent
sources.

» Level 2: Other inputs that are observable directly orriectly, such as quoted prices for similar assetmbilities in active markets,
quoted prices for identical or similar assets abilities in markets that are not active and inpliég are derived principally from or
corroborated by observable market data.
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» Level 3: Unobservable inputs for which there is littlerar market data and which require the Company teldevits own
assumptions, based on the best information availatdier the circumstances, about the assumptiorietaarticipants would use in
pricing the asset or liabilitysee Note 17 —Fair Value Measurements for a discussfassets measured at fair value using Level 3
inputs.

The Company's non-financial assets, such as golpdhtingible assets and property and equipmenima@sured at fair value when there
is an indicator of impairment and recorded at ¥aiue only when an impairment charge is recognidetth fair value measurements are base
predominantly on Level 3 inputs.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue consists primarily of expensesaateal with compensation and other employee-reledsts (including stock-based
compensation) related to customer call centerslitcseoring fees and website network hosting amdesdees.

Product Development

Product development expense consists primarilyofpensation and other employee-related costs @imgdustock-based compensation)
for personnel engaged in the design, developmesting and enhancement of technology that areaptadized.

Litigation Settlements and Contingencies

Litigation settlements and contingencies consitexpenses related to actual or anticipated litigasettiements, in addition to legal fees
incurred in connection with various patent litigaticlaims the Company pursues against others.

Advertising

Advertising costs are expensed in the period imtliexcept for production costs which are initiahpitalized and then recognized as
expense when the advertisement first runs) anaipatly represent offline costs, including telewisj print and radio advertising, and online
advertising costs, including fees paid to seardjires and distribution partners. Advertising exgewsas $80.7 million and $40.8 million for
the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 , tesgbgcand is included in selling and marketingperse on the consolidated statements of
operations.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the liahitigthod, and deferred tax assets and liabilitiesesregnized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences betwe=firthncial statement carrying amounts of existingets and liabilities and their respective
tax bases. In estimating future tax consequendesy@ected future events are considered. Defdae@dssets and liabilities are measured usin
enacted tax rates in effect for the year in whietse temporary differences are expected to be eeedwr settled. A valuation allowance is
provided on deferred tax assets if it is determited it is more likely than not that the defertax asset will not be realized. Interest is recd
on potential tax contingencies as a componentaafiire tax expense and recorded net of any applicalsleed income tax benefit. During 2C
and 2013, the Company reported losses from continoperations and income from discontinued operatids a result, the Company
followed the accounting guidance prescribed in A80-20-45-7, which provides an exception to thehivand "without" approach to
intraperiod tax allocation for determination of gn@ount of tax benefit to allocate to continuingi@ions in such circumstances.

In accordance with the accounting standard for dair#ty in income taxes, liabilities for uncertaax positions are recognized based ot
two-step process prescribed by the accounting standBnddirst step is to evaluate the tax positionrézognition by determining if the weic
of available evidence indicates it is more likdipm not that the position will be sustained on gunitluding resolution of related appeals or
litigation processes, if any. The second step im¢asure the tax benefit as the largest amountwidimmore than 50% likely of being realized
upon ultimate settlement.
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Stock-Based Compensation

The forms of stoclbased awards granted to Tree.com employees a@paily restricted stock units ("RSUs"), stock omis and restricte
stock. RSUs are awards in the form of units, denaieid in a hypothetical equivalent number of shaf@gee.com common stock and with
value of each award equal to the fair value of To@® common stock at the date of grant. RSUs masetiked in cash, stock or both, as
determined by the Compensation Committee at the tihgrant. The Company does not have a histosgtifing these awards in cash. Each
stock-based award is subject to senbiesed vesting, where a specific period of contirrragloyment must pass before an award vests. @
restricted stock awards also include performansedaesting, where certain performance targetatghe time of grant must be achieved
before an award vests.

Tree.com recognizes as expenses non-cash compentatall stock-based awards for which vestingdesidered probable. The amount
of non-cash compensation is reduced by estimatéeitiores, as the amount recorded to the conseliistatement of operations is based on
awards ultimately expected to vest. The forfeitate is estimated at the grant date, based orricstexperience and revised, if necessary, in
subsequent periods if the actual forfeiture ratfedi from the estimated rate.

For service-based awards, non-cash compensatinadsured at fair value on the grant date and erpenasably over the vesting term.
The fair value of each stock option award is estatausing the Blaclscholes option pricing model, while the fair vabfean RSU or restricte
stock award is measured as the closing common stdok on the day preceding the grant date. Fdopaance-based awards, the fair value i
measured on the grant date as the fair value dEtmpany's common stock awarded and recognizedrasash compensation, using a grade«
vesting attribution model that considers the prdigiof the targets being achieved.

Tax benefits resulting from tax deductions in esoaisthe non-cash compensation recognized in thedlinlated statement of operations
are reported as a component of financing cash flawa012, while there were excess tax benefithfrmn-cash compensation, the tax benefit
are not reflected in the consolidated statemenpefations because of the utilization of NOLs.

Litigation Contingencies

The Company is involved in legal proceedings omm@going basis. If the Company believes that adoissng from such matters is
probable and can be reasonably estimated, theagstirfiability is accrued in the consolidated fioihstatements. If only a range of estimated
losses can be determined, an amount within theerengccrued that, in the Company's judgment,aefltne most likely outcome; if none of
estimates within that range is a better estimata #ny other amount, the low end of the rangedsuad. For those proceedings in which an
unfavorable outcome is reasonably possible bupraitable, an estimate of the reasonably possiBkedorange of losses or a conclusion that
an estimate of the reasonably possible loss orrafpsses arising directly from the proceeding.(imonetary damages or amounts paid in
judgment or settlement) are not material is dissdod egal expenses associated with these mateereeognized as incurre

Accounting Estimates

Management is required to make certain estimatésaasumptions during the preparation of the codatdd financial statements in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accouptimgiples. These estimates and assumptions intpaceported amount of assets and
liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets labilities as of the date of the consolidatethficial statements. They also impact the rept
amount of net earnings during any period. Actualilts could differ from those estimates.

Significant estimates underlying the accompanyimgsolidated financial statements, including distargd operations, include: loan loss
obligations; the recoverability of long-lived assegoodwill and intangible assets; the determimatibincome taxes payable and deferred
income taxes, including related valuation allowancestructuring reserves; contingent considerattated to business combinations; various
other allowances, reserves and accruals; and asismsipelated to the determination of stock-bassdpensation.

Certain Risks and Concentrations

Tree.com's business is subject to certain riskscandentrations including dependence on third-p@tiinology providers, exposure to
risks associated with online commerce security@sdit card fraud.
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Financial instruments, which potentially subjectaigoncentration of credit risk at December 311,20consist primarily of cash and cash
equivalents and accounts receivable, as disclostitticonsolidated balance sheet. Cash and casralents are in excess of Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation insurance limits, but arenta@ed with quality financial institutions of higinedit. The Company generally requires
certain network lenders to maintain security degsosith the Company, which in the event of non-pagimwould be applied against any
accounts receivable outstanding.

Due to the nature of the mortgage lending indugtitgrest rate increases may negatively impacréutevenue from the Company's lender
network.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, one netiender accounted for revenue representing 12%talf tevenue and another network
lender accounted for 12% of total revenue. Forytrer ended December 31, 2012, one network lendeuated for revenue representing 14%
of total revenue and another network lender acealfar 11% of total revenue.

Lenders participating on the Company's lender nékwan offer their products directly to consumén®ugh brokers, mass marketing
campaigns or through other traditional methodsedlit distribution. These lenders can also offeirtproducts online, either directly to
prospective borrowers, through one or more onlorapetitors, or both. If a significant number of gratial consumers are able to obtain loans
from participating lenders without utilizing the @pany's service, its ability to generate revenug bealimited. Because the Company doe:
have exclusive relationships with the lenders whoaar offerings are offered on its online marketplaconsumers may obtain offers and loans
from these lenders without using its service.

The Company maintains operations solely in the é¢h@tates.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2011, the Financial Accounting Stansi&ualard ("FASB") issued new accounting guidancérbguires additional
disclosures on financial instruments and derivaitisgruments that are either offset in accordanitie @xisting accounting guidance or are
subject to an enforceable master netting arrangearesimilar agreement. The new requirements dachahge the accounting guidance on
netting, but rather enhance the disclosures to rlealy show the impact of netting arrangementa aompany's financial position. This new
accounting guidance is effective on a retrospediaas for all comparative periods presented baéggnon January 1, 2013. The adoption of
this guidance did not have a material impact orctivesolidated financial statements.

In July 2012, the FASB issued new guidance whitdwal an entity to first assess qualitative factordetermine whether events and
circumstances indicate that it is more likely time that an indefinite-lived intangible asset ipaited. This assessment should be used as a
basis for determining whether it is necessary téope the quantitative impairment test. An entitpuld not be required to calculate the fair
value of the intangible asset and perform the dtadive test unless the entity determines, basedh ifs qualitative assessment, that it is more
likely than not that its fair value is less thamdarrying value. The update expands previous gualay providing more examples of events
circumstances that an entity should consider ierd@hing whether it is more likely than not that flair value of an indefinite-lived intangible
asset is less than its carrying amount. The uplateallows an entity the option to bypass theitatale assessment for any indefinite-lived
intangible asset in any period and proceed dirgotlyerforming the quantitative impairment test. éuatity will be able to resume performing
the qualitative assessment in any subsequent périnsl update is effective for annual and interienipds beginning after September 15, 2012
with early adoption permitted. The adoption of thisdance did not have a material impact on thesalisated financial statements.

In February 2013, the FASB issued new accountindagice that requires an entity to measure obligatiesulting from joint and several
liability arrangements for which the total amouhttte obligation within the scope of this guidamedixed at the reporting date, as the sum of
the amount the reporting entity agreed to pay erbtisis of its arrangement among its co-obligodsaany additional amount the reporting
entity expects to pay on behalf of its co-obligdiise guidance also requires an entity to disclbeentiture and amount of these obligations, as
well as other information about them. The new aotiog guidance is effective for fiscal years, angbiim periods within those years,
beginning after December 15, 2013. The Companyatuating the impact that the adoption will haveitsrconsolidated financial statement:
fiscal 2014.

In July 2013, the FASB issued guidance on the firdrstatement presentation of an unrecognizedémefit when a net operating loss
carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax creditrgforward exists. The new accounting guidancsfisctive for interim and annual reporting
periods beginning after December 15, 2013, withyesdoption permitted. Prospective or retrospecéipplication is permitted. The adoption
this guidance is not expected to have a materiphohon the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 3—RESTRICTED CASH

Restricted cash and cash equivalents consistedbtlowing (in thousands) :

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Cash in escrow for surety bonds $ 245: $ 6,50(
Cash in escrow for corporate purchasing card prmgra 40C 80C
Cash in escrow for sale of LTL (Note 1) 18,117 17,077
Cash in escrow for earnout related to an acquisitio 1,95¢ 1,95¢
Cash restricted for loan loss obligations 3,051 3,051
Other 40 30
Total restricted cash and cash equivalents $ 26,017 $ 29,41

NOTE 4 —STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company currently has one active plan, thedTAimended and Restated Tree.com 2008 Stock andahimeentive Plan (the "Equity
Award Plan"), under which future awards may be tgdywhich currently covers outstanding stock apito acquire shares of the Company's
common stock and RSUs, and provides for the fujumats of these and other equity awards. UndeEthaty Award Plan, the Company is
authorized to grant stock options, RSUs and othaity-based awards for up to 3.35 million share$refe.com common stock to employees,
officers and directors. This Equity Award Plan aljgwverns certain equity awards of IAC that wereveoted into equity awards of Tree.com in
connection with the spin-off.

The Equity Award Plan has a stated term of tensyaad provides that the exercise price of stoclonptgranted will not be less than the
market price of the common stock on the grant detie. Equity Award Plan itself does not specify gréates or vesting schedules, as those
determinations are delegated to the Compensatiom@itee of the board of directors. Each grant ages# reflects the vesting schedule for
that particular grant, as determined by the Comgims Committee.

Prior to the 2008 spin-off from IAC, employees riged equity awards that were granted under varid@sstock and annual incentive
plans. Upon spin-off, these IAC awards were comekimito awards of both Tree.com and other formé&® tdmpanies, which vested in 2012.

Non-cash compensation expense related to equitydavigincluded in the following line items in taecompanying consolidated
statements of operatiofis thousands) :

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012
Cost of revenue $ 13 % 6
Selling and marketing expense 931 75C
General and administrative expense 3,841 3,20t
Product development 84z 62€
Total non-cash compensation expense before inconaxes $ 5627 $ 4,58
Income tax benefit (2,229 (1,817
Total non-cash compensation expense after incomexts $ 3,40¢ $ 2,77¢

As of December 31, 2013, there was approximatelg #illion , $5.6 million , $2.3 million and $0rillion of unrecognized
compensation cost, net of estimated forfeiturdated to stock options, RSUs, restricted stock, rastticted stock with a market condition,
respectively. These costs are expected to be remmhover a weighted-average period of approxingdted year for stock options, 1.9 years
for RSUs, 2.6 years for restricted stock andy@drs for restricted stock with a market condition.
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Stock Options

A summary of the changes in outstanding stock aptis as follows:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Number of Options Price Term Value ©
(per option) (in years) (in thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 1,072,50: $ 8.97
Granted — —
Exercised® (31,64 8.3¢
Forfeited — —
Expired (1,862) 11.5:
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 1,038,99' $ 8.9¢ 4.8 $ 24,78¢
Options exercisable 887,707 $ 9.34 4.2 $ 20,86¢

(&) The aggregate intrinsic value representsdtad pre-tax intrinsic value (the difference betwélege Company's closing stock price of
$32.84 on the last trading day of 2013 and thedseiprice, multiplied by the number of in-the-mpmgtions) that would have been
received by the option holders had all option haddexercised their options on December 31, 201®.iftrinsic value changes based
on the fair market value of the Company's commonkst

(b) Upon exercise, the intrinsic value represéimspre-tax difference between the Company's ajosiock price on the exercise date and
the exercise price, multiplied by the number otktoptions exercised. During the years ended Deeelib, 2013 and 2012 , the total
intrinsic value of stock options that were exerdiseas $0.4 million and $0.3 million , respectiveBash received from stock option
exercises and the related actual tax benefit rglivere $0.3 million and $0.2 million for the yesided December 31, 2013 and $0.7
million and $0.1 million for the year ended DecemBg, 2012 .

All stock options granted during 2012 were grantethe Chairman and CEO with a weighted averagetgtate fair value per share of
$3.63 and vest over a period of three years frar tespective grant date. For purposes of deténgistock-based compensation expense, th
grant date fair value per share of the stock optiwas estimated using the Black-Scholes optionngrimodel, which requires the use of
various key assumptions, including the following:

Expected tern® 7.0 year
Expected dividené® —
Expected volatility® 45%
Risk-free interest rat& 2.t%

(1) The expected term of stock options grantdzhied on analyses of historical employee terminatites and option exercise patterns,
giving consideration to expectations of future emgpk behavior.

(2) For all stock options granted in 2012 , naalwnds are expected to be paid over the contraterral of the stock options, resulting in a
zero expected dividend rate.

(3) The expected volatility rate is based on the hisaébwrolatility of common stock of a peer group otee expected ter

(4) The risk-free interest rate is specific to tlade of grant. The risk-free interest rate is HaseU.S. Treasury yields for notes with
comparable expected terms as the awards, in efféloe grant date.

Substantially all options outstanding at Decemlgr2R13 are vested or are expected to vest oveighted-average period of

approximately 1.0 year . During the years endecebdser 31, 2013 and 2012, the total fair value dibog vested was $3.2 million and $0.3

million , respectively.
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A summary of the information about stock optionsstanding and exercisable is as follows:

Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

Weighted
Average
Remaining Weighted Weighted
Contractual Average Average
Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding Life Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
(in years) (per option) (per option)
$0.01 to $4.99 164 0.2 $ 2.61 164 $ 2.61
$5.00 to $7.45 304,18: 7.7 6.6E 152,89: 6.3¢
$7.46 to $9.99 601,78 4.0 8.4¢€ 601,78 8.4¢€
$10.00 to $14.99 6,081 0.7 12.2¢ 6,081 12.2¢
$15.00 to $19.99 80,12¢ 1.4 15.0C 80,12t 15.0(
$20.00 to $20.19 46,66: 1.4 20.1¢ 46,66: 20.1¢
Options at December 31, 2013 1,038,99' 4.8 $ 8.9¢ 887,70° $ 9.34
Restricted Stock Units and Restricted Stock
A summary of the changes in outstanding nonvesf&dsRand restricted stock is as follows:
Restricted Stock
RSUs Restricted Stock Market Condition
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Grant Grant Grant
Number of Date Fair Number of Date Fair Number of Date Fair
Shares Value Shares Value Shares Value
(per share) (per share) (per share)
Nonvested at December 31, 2012 757,11 % 9.0¢ 187,50: $ 7.44 — —
Granted®® 310,44! 18.7¢ 119,50( 22.41% 62,50( 13.9:
Vested®® (357,079 8.7¢ (187,50:) 7.44 — —
Forfeited (111,356 10.6¢€ — — — —
Nonvested at December 31, 2013 599,12 $ 14.1¢ 119,50( $ 22.4 62,50( 13.9:

(a) The grant date fair value per share of the K&tdl restricted stock is calculated as the clasiacket price of Tree.com's common

stock the day preceding the grant date.

(b) The grant date fair value per share of theioted stock with an underlying market conditioasacalculated using a Monte Carlo
simulation model. These shares vest based on thievaenent of a market-based performance targetrwiltinee years, but not earlier
than one year from the grant date. The fair valugrant date is recognized over the requisite serpéeriod.

(c) The total fair value of RSUs that vested dgtine years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 wasrfilion and $4.3 million ,

respectively.

(d) The total fair value of restricted stock thasted during the years ended December 31, 2012Gk®Iwas $3.2 million and $0.8

million , respectively.
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NOTE 5—GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The balance of goodwill and intangible assetsjgas follows(in thousands) :

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Goodwill $ 486,72( % 486,72
Accumulated impairment losses (483,089 (483,089
Net goodwill $ 3,632 % 3,632
Intangible assets with indefinite lives $ 10,14: $ 10,14:
Intangible assets with definite lives, net 54z 68¢
Total intangible assets, net $ 10,68 $ 10,83:

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

The Company's goodwill is associated with its mep@orting unit, lending. There were no changesédarrying amount of goodwill duri
the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 . Refdlie annual impairment test as of October 132Adicated that no impairment had
occurred.

Intangible assets with indefinite lives relatetie Company's trademarks. Results of the annualiimpat test as of October 1, 2013
indicated that no impairment had occurred.
Intangible Assets with Definite Lives

Intangible assets with definite lives relate to fibléowing (dollarsin thousands) :

Weighted Average Accumulated

Amortization Life Cost Amortization Net
Purchase agreements 5.0 years $ 23¢ ¢ (212) $ 24
Technology 3.0years 25,19« (25,199 —
Customer lists 4.2 years 6,68 (6,16€) 51€
Other 25years 1,515 (1,519 2
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 33,62¢ % (33,08) $ 542

Weighted Average Accumulated

Amortization Life Cost Amortization Net
Purchase agreements 5.0 years $ 23¢ ¢ (165) $ 71
Technology 3.0years 25,19 (25,15%) 36
Customer lists 4.2 years 6,68 (6,10€) 57€
Other 2.5years 1,515 (1,517
Balance at December 31, 2012 $ 33,62¢ % (32,940 $ 68¢
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Amortization of intangible assets with definitedasis computed on a straight-line basis and, basduhlances as of December 31, 2013,
future amortization is estimated to be as folldimshousands) :

Amortization

Expense
Year ending December 31, 2014 $ 86
Year ending December 31, 2015 60
Year ending December 31, 2016 60
Year ending December 31, 2017 60
Year ending December 31, 2018 60
Thereafter 21€
Total intangible assets with definite lives, net $ 54z

NOTE 6—PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

The balance of property and equipment, net is lk@afe (in thousands) :

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Computer equipment and capitalized software $ 18,13( $ 25,59;
Leasehold improvements 2,09¢ 2,05¢
Furniture and other equipment 981 1,30z
Projects in progress 2,14t 50C
Total gross property and equipment 23,35: 29,44¢
Accumulated depreciation (18,009 (23,299
Total property and equipment, net $ 534 $ 6,15¢

Unamortized capitalized software development castservice or under development, total $4.3 millaond $4.8 million at December 31,
2013 and 2012 , respectively. Capitalized softveeclopment depreciation expense was $3.0 millimh%8.1 million for the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012 , respectively.

NOTE 7—ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITI ES

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities isbrasg the following(in thousands) :

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Litigation accruals $ 50C $ 53¢
Accrued advertising expense 8,83 6,63¢
Accrued compensation and benefits 3,37¢ 2,60z
Accrued professional fees 1,80¢ 1,39¢
Accrued restructuring cosfs 284 364
Customer deposits and escrows 4,27¢ 2,101
Deferred rent 24t 217
Other 3,93¢ 6,10:
Total accrued expenses and other current liabilitie $ 23,26¢ % 19,96(

(a) An additional $0.2 million and $0.5 million a€crued restructuring liability is classified ither long term liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2@LBerember 31, 2012 , respectively.
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NOTE 8—EARNINGS PER SHARE
The basic and diluted earnings per share wererdeted based on the following share d@tethousands) :

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012

Weighted average basic common shares 11,03¢ 10,69¢
Effect of stock options — —
Effect of dilutive share awards — —
Weighted average diluted common shares 11,03t 10,69¢

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 20&82Cdmpany had losses from continuing operations asd result, no potentially
dilutive securities were included in the denomindto computing diluted earnings per share, bec#usémpact would have been anti-dilutive.
Accordingly, the weighted average basic sharedanding were used to compute earnings per sharar#stor these periods. For the years
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 , approximatélgnBlion and 0.6 million shares, respectively ateld to potentially dilutive securities
were excluded from the calculation of diluted eagsi per share, because their inclusion would haee hnti-dilutive.

See Note 4 —Stock-Based Compensation for a full desiom of outstanding equity awards.

Common Stock Repurchases

On January 11, 2010, the board of directors authdrthe repurchase of up to $10 million of Tree.scsommon stock. During 2013, the
Company purchased 180,453 shares of its commoh &ipaggregate consideration of $3.3 million . Dgr2012 , the Company purchased
65,218 shares of its common stock for aggregatsideration of $0.9 million . At December 31, 20X proximately $0.8 million remains
authorized for share repurchase.

Special Dividend

On December 6, 2012, the Company announced a spasladividend of $1.0per share. The dividend was paid on December 2B f§
shareholders of record on December 17, 2012. Ttaeamount of the dividend was approximately $Itilion , giving effect to a 2013
correction to the overpayment of dividends totath@g4 million , and has been presented as a rexfucfiadditional paid-in capital in the
consolidated financial statemen$ise Note 1—Organization-Revisions of Prior Period Financial Statementsafiditional details regarding t
overpayment of dividends in 2012.

NOTE 9 —INCOME TAXES

Income Tax Provision
The components of the income tax benefit are devisi(in thousands) :

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012
Current income tax benefit:
Federal $ (425 % (1,35¢)
State (92 (33
Current income tax benefit (517) (1,397
Deferred income tax provision (benefit):
Federal 63 147
State 1 (239
Deferred income tax provision ( benefit) 64 (92

Income tax benefit $ (459 $ (1,489
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A reconciliation of the income tax benefit to thre@unts computed by applying the statutory federabine tax rate to loss from continu
operations before income taxes is shown as follpmhousands) :

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012
Income tax benefit at the federal statutory rat@85fo $ 399 $ (1,30¢)
State income taxes, net of effect of federal taneffie (6C) a77)
Other, net 1 —
Income tax benefit $ (453 $ (1,489

Deferred Income Taxes

The tax effects of cumulative temporary differenttes give rise to significant portions of the dedel tax assets and deferred tax liabilitie:
are as followgin thousands) :

December 31,

2013 2012
Deferred tax assets:
Provision for accrued expenses $ 13,00¢ $ 11,68:
Net operating loss carryforwarés 26,36" 28,40«
Non-cash compensations expense 2,75 2,28t
Goodwill 1,82t 1,82¢
Intangible and other assets 49 811
Other 1,12¢ 5,44
Total gross deferred tax assets 45,12¢ 50,45:
Less: valuation allowanc® (49,679 (54,967)
Total deferred tax assets, net of the valuation allvance (4,54 (4,509
Deferred tax liabilities:
Other (1949 (169
Total gross deferred tax liabilities (199 (169
Net deferred taxes $ (4,742) $ (4,67¢)

(a) At December 31, 2013 and 2012 , the Compadyphertax consolidated federal net operating lo§$¢8Ls") of $30.1 million and
$24.2 million , respectively. The 2013 carryforwamount excludes $8.0 million of windfall tax beitefwhich will be recorded to
additional paid in capital when realized. The fedl®&OLs will expire between 2031 and 2033. In additthe Company has separate
state NOLs of approximately $300.7 million at Detem31, 2013 that will expire at various times betw 2014 and 2033.

(b) The valuation allowance is related to itemsvibich it is"more likely than not" that the tax benefit will not be realiz
Deferred income taxes are presented in the accoymupoonsolidated balance sheets as foll@wshousands) :

December 31,

2013 2012
Deferred tax assets $ 107 $ 1€
Deferred tax liabilities (4,849 (4,699
Net deferred taxes $ (4,742) $ (4,67¢)
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Valuation Allowance

The Company had a valuation allowance recordeceaeiber 31, 2013 and 2012 related to the portidaxobperating loss carryforwards
and other deferred tax assets for which finmere likely than not" that the tax benefit will not be realized. Durin@l3 , the valuation allowance
decreased by $5.3 million to $49.7 million .

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amsurftunrecognized tax benefits, excluding inteagst penalties, is as followim
thousands) :

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012

Balance, beginning of the period $ — 3 3
Additions based on tax positions of prior years 36 —
Lapse of statute of limitations — (©)]
Balance, end of the period $ 36 $ —

Interest and, if applicable, penalties are recagphizlated to unrecognized tax benefits in incoameskpense. Interest and penalties on
unrecognized tax benefits included in income taxesse for each of the years ended December 31,2@13012 is immaterial. There are no
significant accruals for interest and penaltieBetember 31, 2013 and 2012 .

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012 , the accrualfioecognized tax benefits, including interest, %48,000 and $0 , respectively, all of
which would benefit the effective tax rate if reaixed.

Tax Audits

Tree.com is subject to audits by federal, statelacal authorities in the area of income tax. Theseits include questioning the timing
and the amount of deductions and the allocatidnafme among various tax jurisdictions. Income sapayable include amounts considered
sufficient to pay assessments that may result Eramination of prior year returns; however, any ants paid upon resolution of issues raise
may differ from the amount provided. Difference$wren the reserves for tax contingencies and theuata owed by us are recorded in the
period they become known. As of December 31, 20%&8Company is subject to a federal income tax éxaition for the tax years 2010
through 2012. In addition, the Company is subjedtate and local tax examinations for the taxy@809 through 2012.

The Company was indemnified by its previous owoerainy federal and/or combined state income tdilities resulting from years
prior to the spin-off in 2008. The Joint CommittefeTaxation has completed its review of IAC/IntetikeCorp's tax returns and approved the
audit settlement previously agreed to with therimiéRevenue Services for the years ended Dece®ih@001 through 2008. The statute of
limitations for the years 2001 through 2008 expoesluly 1, 2014. Various state and local jurisditd are also currently under examination,
the most significant of which are California, Newsrk and New York City for various tax years begimnivith 2006.

NOTE 10—SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash paid (received) by the Company is as follwshousands) :

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012
Interest $ 19 $ 1,30¢
Income tax payments 654 1,23¢
Income tax refunds 4 (25)
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NOTE 11—COMMITMENTS

Operating Leases

The Company leases office space, equipment anétssmrsed in connection with its operations unéeious operating leases, many of
which contain escalation clauses. The Companysgsi operating leases relate to our office spacghiarlotte, North Carolina and
Burlingame, California, each of which expire in 301

Future minimum payments as of December 31, 2012munypkrating lease agreements having an initie¢mining non-cancelable lease
term in excess of one year are as follgimghousands) :

Year ending December 31, Amount
2014 $ 1,80¢
2015 1,00

Total @ $ 2,812

(a) The Company subleases certain of its offi@eepo third parties. These future minimum paymébate not been reduced by the $0.4
million of minimum sublease rental income to beeieed in the future under non-cancelable subleases.

Rental expense for all operating leases, excegethadth terms of a month or less that were notweitke charged to continuing operations
was $1.3 million and $1.1 million , net of $18,08d $42,000 sublease rental income, for each ofehes ended December 31, 2013 and
2012 , respectively, and a majority of which islined in general and administrative expense irctmsolidated statements of operations.
Surety Bonds

The Company has funding commitments that couldriia®y require performance in the event of demaogshird parties or contingent
events, as followén thousands) :

Commitments Due By Period

Less Than More Than
Total 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years
Surety bonds $ 4,45¢ % 4,45¢ % — 3 — 3 —

NOTE 12 —CONTINGENCIES

Overview

Tree.com is involved in legal proceedings on anoimgybasis. In assessing the materiality of a lpgateeding, the Company evaluates,
among other factors, the amount of monetary damelgesed, as well as the potential impact of nomeatary remedies sought by plaintiffs
(e.g., injunctive relief) that may require it toactge its business practices in a manner that ¢@id a material adverse impact on the busines
With respect to the matters disclosed in this Nbfe, unless otherwise indicated, the Company &blento estimate the possible loss or range
of losses that could potentially result from thelagation of such non-monetary remedies.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012 , the Companlitigation settlement accrual of $0.5 million @5 million , respectively. The
litigation settlement accrual relates to litigatioatters that were either settled or a firm oftardettlement was extended, thereby establishing
an accrual amount that is both probable and reé$peatimable.
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Specific Matters
Intellectual Property Litigation

Zillow

LendingTreev. Zillow, Inc., et al. Civil Action No. 3:10-cv-439 . On September 8, 2010, the Company filed an aétiopatent infringemel
in the US District Court for the Western Distri¢tNorth Carolina against Zillow, Inc., Nextag, InQuinstreet|nc., Quinstreet Media, Inc. al
Adchemy, Inc. The complaint was amended to incluekedpoint, Inc. d/b/a Securerights on Septembe2@20. The complaint alleges that
each of the defendants infringe one or both ofGbmpany's patents—U.S. Patent No. 6,385,594, emtiMethod and Computer Network for
Co-Ordinating a Loan over the Internet," and U.&eRt No. 6,611,816, entitled "Method and Comphtetwork for Co-Ordinating a Loan
over the Internet.” Collectively, the asserted p&teover computer hardware and software usectilitéding business between computer user:
and multiple lenders on the internet. The deferslamthis action asserted various counterclaimiagthe Company, including the assertion
by certain of the defendants of counterclaims @ligglegal monopolization via our maintenancelod asserted patents. In July 2011, the
Company reached a settlement agreement with Leaigoc., pursuant to which all claims against Lgaidt, Inc. and all counter-claims
against the Company by Leadpoint, Inc. were disatisin November 2012, the Company reached a settieagreement with Quinstreet, Inc.
and Quinstreet Media, Inc. (collectively, the "Catieet Parties"), pursuant to which all claims agihe Quinstreet Parties and all
counterclaims against the Company by the QuinsRa#gtes were dismissed. This matter went to begjinning in February 2014, and on
March 12, 2014, the jury returned a verdict. Thg found that the defendants Zillow, Inc., Adchenng., and NexTag, Inc. did not infringe
the two patents referenced above and determinéthibse patents are invalid due to inventorshigetst The jury found in the Company’s
favor on the defendants' counterclaims alleginguiitable conduct and antitrust violations. As ofrbtal3, 2014, a formal judgment had not
yet been entered in the case and certain issudmfare the jury remain to be resolved. The Comgaglieves it have strong grounds
appeal; however, the Company has not yet determitned actions it will take with respect to the \vietar the findings of patent invalidity.
The verdict will not impact the Comparsyability to offer its current suite of productsdaservices, and the Company does not expect thukct
to affect its business prospects.

Internet Patents Corp.

Internet Patents Corporation f/k/a InsWeb v. Tree.com, Inc., No. C-12-6505 (U.S. Dist. Ct.,, N.D. Cal.). In December 2012, the plaintiff
filed a patent infringement lawsuit against the @amy seeking a judgment that it had infringed @mpiatheld by the plaintiff. Process was
formally served with respect to this matter in A@013. The plaintiff sought injunctive relief, dages, costs, expenses, pre- and pakimen
interest, punitive damages and attorneys' feespHietiff alleged that the Company infringes UPtent No. 7,707,505, entitled "Dynamic
Tabs for a Graphical User Interface". On OctoberZZ8 3, the court dismissed the suit based onitldinfy that the plaintiff's claims failed as a
matter of law because the asserted patent is thf@lilack of patent-eligible subject matter. Thaitiff filed a notice of appeal on November
7, 2013. The Company believes the plaintiff's altemns lack merit and intends to defend againstabtion vigorously.

Money Suite

The Money Suite Company v. LendingTree, LLC, No. 1:13-ev-986 (U.S. Digt. Ct, D Dél.). In June 2013, the plaintiff filed a patent
infringement lawsuit against LendingTree, LLC ("ldemgTree") seeking a judgment that it infringedademt held by plaintiff. The plaintiff
alleges that LendingTree infringes U.S. Patent@N®34,189 for "an apparatus and method using &ndtnetwork gateways and search criteri
for efficient quoting at a remote location”. Thaipliff seeks damages (including pre- and postginent interest thereon), costs and attorneys
fees. In December 2013, the court stayed this pasding review of the patent by the United Staggei and Trademark Office. The Comp
believes the plaintiff's allegations lack merit antknds to defend against this action vigorously.
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Other Litigation

Boschma

Boschma v. Home Loan Center, Inc., No. SACV7-613 (U.S. Dist. Ct., C.D. Cal.). On May 25, 2007, the plaintiffs filed this putaticlass
action against Home Loan Center, Inc. ("HLC") ie th.S. District Court for the Central District o&l@ornia. The plaintiffs allege that HLC
sold them an option "ARM" (adjustable-rate mortgdgan but failed to disclose in a clear and cotispis manner, among other things, that
the interest rate was not fixed, that negative éimaiion could occur and that the loan had a premay penalty. Based upon these factual
allegations, the plaintiffs asserted violationshaf federal Truth in Lending Act, violations of tbafair Competition Law, breach of contract,
and breach of the covenant of good faith and fealidg. The plaintiffs purport to represent a claiall individuals who between June 1, 2003
and May 31, 2007 obtained an option ARM loan thtotid.C on their primary residence located in Cahfar and seek rescission, damages,
attorneys' fees and injunctive relief. The plafsttiave not yet filed a motion for class certifioat but have filed a total of eight complaints in
connection with this lawsuit. Each of the first eevcomplaints has been dismissed by the federadtame courts. The plaintiffs filed the eighth
complaint (a "Second Amended Complaint") in Ora@geinty (California) Superior Court on March 4, 2Gleging only the fraud and Unfair
Competition Law claims. As with each of the seveevpus versions of plaintiffs' complaint, the SeddAmended Complaint was dismissed ir
April 2010. The plaintiffs appealed the dismissadl @n August 10, 2011, the appellate court revettsedrial court's dismissal and directed the
trial court to overrule the demurrer. The case wasanded to superior court. During 2013, the padgreed to a $450,000 settlement, which
was approved in 2013. A nominal payment into thdeseent fund was made in late 2013. The Compapgets administration of the
settlement to be completed by the third quartetGdfd. A provision for the remaining $435,000 isliged in current liabilities of discontinued
operations at December 31, 2013 . The impact o$é¢fitlement was not material.

Mortgage Store, Inc.

Mortgage Store, Inc. v. LendingTree Loans d/b/a Home Loan Center, Inc., No. 6CC250 (Cal. Super. Ct., Orange Cty.). On November 30,
2006, The Mortgage Store, Inc. and Castleview Hooans, Inc. filed this putative class action agaifisC in the California Superior Court
for Orange County. The plaintiffs, two former netléenders, alleged that HLC interfered with Lerglinee's contracts with network lenders
by taking referrals from LendingTree without adegladisclosing the relationship between them drad HLC charged the plaintiffs higher
rates and fees than they otherwise would have tesmyed. Based upon these factual allegationgl#atiffs assert claims for intentional
interference with contractual relations, intentiongerference with prospective economic advantage, violation of the California Unfair
Competition Law and California Business and PratessCode §17500. The plaintiffs purport to repmesdl network lenders from
December 14, 2004 to date, and seek damagesutiestjtattorneys' fees and punitive damages.

The plaintiffs' motion for class certification wgsanted April 29, 2010. On October 17, 2011, thercgranted HLC's motion for summary
judgment. Judgment was entered in favor of HLC @nil®, 2012. On June 15, 2012, the plaintiffsdil@ Notice of Appeal. The plaintiffs file
their opening appellate brief on December 17, 20h2. Company filed its opposition to the plaintifippellate brief in April 2013. Oral
arguments were heard on this matter on Septemh@023. On December 11, 2013, the Court of App#iaireed the grant of summary
judgment in favor of HLC and the time for plaingiffo further appeal such decision has exp

Dijkstra

Lijkel Dijkstra v. Harry Carenbauer, Home Loan Center, Inc. et al., No. 5:11-cv-152-JPB (U.S. Dist. Ct., N.D.WW). On November 7, 2008,
the plaintiffs filed this putative class action@ircuit Court of Ohio County, West Virginia againsarry Carenbauer, HLC, HLC Escrow, Inc.
et al. The complaint alleges that HLC engaged énuthauthorized practice of law in West Virginiag®rmitting persons who were neither
admitted to the practice of law in West Virginiarmmder the direct supervision of a lawyer admittethe practice of law in West Virginia to
close mortgage loans. The plaintiffs assert cldonsleclaratory judgment, contempt, injunctive e&liconversion, unjust enrichment, breach o
fiduciary duty, intentional misrepresentation aud, negligent misrepresentation, violation of\West Virginia Consumer Credit and
Protection Act ("CCPA"), violation of the West Virga Lender, Broker & Services Act, civil conspiyaoutrage and negligence. The claims
against all defendants other than Mr. Carenbaueg, &hd HLC Escrow, Inc. have been dismissed. Tlse eams removed to federal court in
October 2011. On January 3, 2013, the court graamtshditional class certification only with resperthe declaratory judgment, contempt,
unjust enrichment and CCPA claims. The conditiatads includes consumers with mortgage loans aceéiny time after November 8, 2007
who obtained such loans through HLC, and whosesleaTe closed by persons not admitted to the jpeaofilaw in West Virginia or by
persons not under the direct supervision of a lawagenitted
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to the practice of law in West Virginia. On Febmu@6, 2014, the court granted and denied certagaoh party's motions for summary
judgment. With respect to the Class Claims, thetaganted plaintiff's motions for summary judgmaeuiith respect to declaratory judgme
unjust enrichment and violation of the CCPA. Thartgranted HLC's motion for summary judgment wibpect to contempt. In addition, the
court denied HLC's motion to decertify the classthwespect to the claims applicable to the nanmaih{iff only (the "Individual Claims"),
HLC's motions for summary judgment were grantedhwigispect to conversion, breach of fiduciary dirtentional misrepresentation, neglig
misrepresentation and outrage. HLC and the plaimaife reached a tentative settlement agreemehtrespect to the remaining Individual
Claims. The trial for the Class Claims has nothgxn scheduled by the court. The Company belidashe plaintiffs' allegations lack merit
and intends to defend against this action vigosousl

The range of possible loss is estimated to be lt80.6 million and $1.95 million , of which someadl may be covered by insurance. A
reserve of $0.6 million and a corresponding inscearecoverable of $0.5 million have been estabtishethis matter in the consolidated
balance sheet as of December 31, 2013 .

Massachusetts Division of Banks

On February 11, 2011, the Massachusetts Divisiddamiks (the "Division") delivered a Report of Exaiation/Inspection to LendingTree,
which identified various alleged violations of Maskusetts and federal laws, including the allegedfficient delivery by LendingTree of
various disclosures to its customers. On OctobeP@41, the Division provided a proposed ConseneAment and Order to settle the
Division's allegations, which the Division had stthwith other state mortgage lending regulator&tyHfour of such state mortgage lending
regulators (the "Joining Regulators") indicated thaendingTree would enter into the Consent Agneat and Order, they would agree not to
pursue any analogous allegations that they othermiight assert. As of March 14, 2014 , nof¢he Joining Regulators have asserted any
allegations.

The proposed Consent Agreement and Order calis fioe to be allocated among the Division andJihi@ing Regulators and for
LendingTree to adopt various new procedures anctipes. The Company has commenced negotiationgdoavaacceptable Consent
Agreement and Order. It does not believe its mgegaxchange business violated any federal or statggage lending laws; nor does it beli
that any past operations of the mortgage busiress tesulted in a material violation of any suakidaShould the Division or any Joining
Regulator bring any actions relating to the matidiegyed in the February 2011 Report of Examindhimpection, the Company intends to
defend against such actions vigorously. The rafigessible loss is estimated to be between $0.komiand $6.5 million , and a reserve of
$0.5 million has been established for this mattehe consolidated balance sheet as of Decemb&033, .

NOTE 13—RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

On November 7, 2012, the audit committee, compesabmmittee and board of directors approved aly eedemption of 2,097.67
outstanding shares of Series A Redeemable PrefStoml of the Company's wholly-owned subsidiarydiegTree Holdings Corp. owned by
the Chairman and CEO, including all accrued divétferior $3.3 million in cash. The redemption closedNovember 30, 2012. The
redemption value of the preferred stock was detegthin part based on a valuation of the discourgathining dividend stream through the
mandatory redemption date of August 20, 2013.

During 2013, the Company made a contribution off$0illion to an educational trust. The Company'si@han and CEO is the trustee.
However, he will not receive compensation as teusted neither he nor any of his family memberseatéled to distributions from the trust.

NOTE 14—BENEFIT PLANS

The Company operates a retirement savings plaitsfemployees in the United States that is qudlifinder Section 401(k) of the Internal
Revenue Code. Employees are eligible to enrotiénpglan upon date of hire. Participating employaayg contribute up to 50% of their pre-tax
earnings, but not more than statutory limits (getg$17,500 for 2013 and $17,000 for 2012 ). Tampany match contribution is fifty cents
for each dollar a participant contributes to thenplwith a maximum contribution of 6% of a partanip's eligible earnings. Matching
contributions are invested in the same manner &s garticipant's voluntary contributions in theastment options provided under the plan.
Tree.com stock is not included in the availableestient options or the plan assets. Funds corgdiiotthe plan vest according to the
participant's years of service, with less thanahrears of service vesting at 0% , and three yaamsore of service vesting at 100% . Matching
contributions were approximately $0.2 million ar@i3million for the years ended December 31, 20482012 , respectively.
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NOTE 15—RESTRUCTURING EXPENSE

Accrued restructuring liabilities primarily relate lease obligations for call center leases exite2D10, which are expected to be
completed by 2015, and severance for headcounttieds in corporate infrastructure departmentstfRetiring expense and payments ag:
liabilities are as followgin thousands) :

Employee Continuing
Termination Lease
Costs Obligations Other Total
Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 12¢ 3 1,207 $ — % 1,33¢
Restructuring income (29 47 (70 (14¢€)
Payments (200) (2549) 70 (289
Balance at December 31, 2012 $ — % 90€ % — % 90€
Restructuring expense — 56 — 56
Payments — (500 — (500
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ — % 46z $ — % 462

At December 31, 2013, restructuring liabilitiest®t 3 million are included in accrued expensesathdr current liabilities and $0.2
million are included in other long-term liabiliti&s the accompanying consolidated balance shedbetember 31, 2012 , restructuring
liabilities of $0.4 million are included in accruedpenses and other current liabilities and $0IBamiare included in other long-term liabilities
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheed®fet expect to incur significant additional cagtiated to the restructuring noted above.

NOTE 16 —DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Real Estate

On March 10, 2011, management made the decisioffiraiized a plan to close all of the field officesthe proprietary full-service real
estate brokerage business known as RealEstateRieAl, TORS®. The Company exited all markets by Ma3dh2011. In September 2011,
the remaining assets of RealEstate.com were stlidhveonsisted primarily of internet domain named ttlademarks. Accordingly, these real
estate businesses are presented as discontinuediopg in the accompanying consolidated finanstialements for all periods presented. No
significant future cash flows are anticipated frthra disposition of this business.

The revenue and net loss for the real estate assigehat are reported as discontinued operatidhg iaccompanying consolidated
statements of operations are as folldimghousands) :

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012
Revenue $ 1 3 93
Loss before income taxé&s $ (200 $ (410
Income tax expense — —
Net loss $ (200 $ (410

(a) The loss before income taxes for the year @émember 31, 2012 includes restructuring expen$6.2 million.

The liabilities of real estate businesses thateperted as discontinued operations in the accoyipgronsolidated balance sheets are as
follows (in thousands) :

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Current liabilities $ (45 $ (20€)
Net liabilities $ 45 $ (20€)

57






TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LendingTree Loans

On May 12, 2011, the Company entered into an gssehase agreement, later amended on Februani 2, 2t provided for the sale of
substantially all of the operating assets of itadiegTree Loans business to Discover. The salecoapleted on June 6, 2012. Discover has
participated as a network lender since closindefttansaction. An evaluation of the facts anduoitstances of the transaction and the
applicable accounting guidance for discontinuedajiens indicates that the LendingTree Loans bussiistould be reflected as discontinued
operations in the accompanying consolidated fir@rstatements for all periods presented. The comiincash flows related to this transaction
are not significant and, accordingly, are not degtoebe direct cash flows of the divested business.

The Company agreed to indemnify Discover for a tinea inaccuracy of any representation, warrantyomenant made by it in the asset
purchase agreement, for any liability of LendingTt®ans that was not assumed, for any claims tstdtskholders against Discover and for its
failure to comply with any applicable bulk salew]aubject to certain limitations. Discover subemiti claim for indemnification relating to t
sale prior to the closing of certain loans thateMésted in the asset purchase agreement as torlyeyed to Discover at closing. In May 2013,
this indemnification claim and other miscellanedams were settled by agreeing to credit Discowe®fl.3 million in future services. A
majority of these credits were applied againstisessduring the year ended December 31, 2013 rdrhaining liability for future services is
included in current liabilities of discontinued oatons in the accompanying consolidated balaneetsit December 31, 2013 .

The revenue and net income (loss) for LendingTieank that are reported as discontinued operatioteiaccompanying consolidated
statements of operations are as folldimsthousands) :

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012
Revenue $ (1,520 $ 86,74(
Income (loss) before income tax@s $ (4,867) $ 26,16(
Income tax expense (54) (1,249
Gain from sale of discontinued operations, netsf t 9,561 24,37:
Net income $ 4,640 % 49,28«

(&) Income before income taxes for the year efmmkmber 31, 2012 includes goodwill and intangdsiset impairment charges of $1.4
million and restructuring expense totaling $0. 1liomi .

The assets and liabilities of LendingTree Loans @ha reported as discontinued operations in therapanying consolidated balance
sheets are as followm thousands) :

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Current assets 521 407
Non-current assets 12¢ 12¢
Current liabilities (31,959 (30,81)
Non-current liabilities (259 (259
Net liabilities $ (31,569 $ (30,529

Significant Assets and Liabilities of LendingTree loans

Upon closing of the sale of substantially all of thperating assets of the LendingTree Loans busiresune 6, 2012, LendingTree Loans
ceased to originate consumer loans. The remairpegations are being wound down. These wind-dowinities have included, among other
things, selling the balance of loans held for sal@vestors, which has been completed, payinguodf then terminating the warehouse lines of
credit, which occurred on July 21, 2012, and sgjttierivative obligations, which has been compleltéability for losses on previously sold
loans will remain with LendingTree Loans. Belowaigliscussion of these significant items.
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Loans Held for Sale

LendingTree Loans originated all of its residentés! estate loans with the intent to sell therthensecondary market. Loans held for sale
consisted primarily of residential first mortgagais that were secured by residential real estedaghout the United States.

Loans held for sale were recorded at fair valudh) wie exception of any loans that had been repgezh from investors or loans originatec
prior to January 1, 2008 on which LendingTree Lodidsnot elect the fair value option. The fair valof loans held for sale was determined
using current secondary market prices for loank siihilar coupons, maturities and credit quality.

Interest on mortgage loans held for sale was razedras earned and was only accrued if deemedctible Interest was generally
deemed uncollectible when a loan became three mantimore delinquent or when a loan had a deféettitig its saleability. Delinquency
was calculated based on the contractual due datedban. Loans were written off when deemed uactble.

There were no loans held for sale as of Decembe2@13. As of December 31, 2012, LendingTree Laaamtained one loan with a
principal amount of $0.4 million , which has a faffsetting reserve for uncollectibility.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, LendirggLoans repurchased two loans with a total unpaitipal balance of $0.7 million .

Fair Value Measurements

A financial instrument's categorization within tiaér value hierarchy is based upon the lowest leféhput that is significant to the fair
value measurement. Transfers in and out of Leveldt,3 are recorded at fair value at the beginnififpe reporting period.

Following is a description of valuation methodokgiused for instruments measured at fair valueietisas the general classification of
such instruments pursuant to the fair value hiénarc

LendingTree Loans entered into commitments withsoomers to originate loans at specified interesisréihterest rate lock
commitments—"IRLCs"). IRLCs were reported as ddnxainstruments at fair value, with changes im falue being recorded in discontinued
operations. IRLCs for loans to be sold to investmisng a mandatory or assignment of trade ("AOT&}hnd were hedged using "to be
announced mortgage-backed securities" ("TBA MB® were valued using quantitative risk models. IRIeCs derive their base value from
an underlying loan type with similar characteristicsing the TBA MBS market, which is actively qubtind easily validated through external
sources. The most significant data inputs useligmaluation included, but were not limited toahotype, underlying loan amount, note rate,
loan program and expected sale date of the lodrC¢Ror loans sold to investors on a best-effoasi®were hedged using best-efforts forware
delivery commitments and were valued on an indigidoan basis using a proprietary database progrénto January 1, 2012. These
valuations were based on investor pricing tablegtifed by product, note rate and term. The vaduret were adjusted at the loan-level to
consider the servicing-release premium and loatingriadjustments specific to each loan. Effectaeudry 1, 2012, LendingTree Loans begar
valuing IRLCs for loans sold to investors on a keffrts basis using quantitative risk models daaa level basis. The decision to modify the
valuation calculation for IRLCs for loans sold obest-efforts basis evolved from a desire to aehjmincipally two goals: 1) to include this
portion of the IRLCs into the main operating systeemdingTree Loans used for fair value (known asvM)Rallowing it to improve its estima
of loan funding probability and 2) to include elerteof the all-in fair value that the Company contd calculate in the previous models. The
most significant data inputs used in the valuatibthese IRLCs included, but were not limited toyastor pricing tables stratified by product,
note rate and term, adjusted for current marketlitimms. These valuations were adjusted at the leasl to consider the servicing-release
premium and loan pricing adjustments specific tthdaan. LendingTree Loans applied an anticipata funding probability based on its @
experience to value IRLCs, which resulted in ttassification of these derivatives as Level 3. Tale of the underlying loans and the
anticipated loan funding probability were the m&ighificant assumptions affecting the valuatiodRIfCs. A significant change in the
unobservable inputs could have resulted in a s@anif change in the ending fair value measurenfdribecember 31, 2013 and 2012 , there
are no IRLCs outstanding.
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Loans held for sale measured at fair value andtsaiavestors using a mandatory or AOT method ve¢se hedged using TBA MBS and
valued using quantitative risk models. The valuati@s based on the loan amount, note rate, loajrgoroand expected sale date of the loan.
Loans held for sale measured at fair value andtsailavestors on a best-efforts basis were hedgeuybest-efforts forward delivery
commitments and were valued using a proprietargiaete program prior to January 1, 2012. The bésti®#aluations prior to that date were
based on daily investor pricing tables stratifigdoboduct, note rate and term. These valuationg wdjusted at the loan level to consider the
servicing-release premium and loan pricing adjustsigpecific to each loan. Effective January 1,20®ndingTree Loans began valuing the
loans held for sale and sold to investors on a®#stts basis using quantitative risk models. Tiest significant data inputs used in the
valuation of these loans included investor pridiaigles stratified by product, note rate and temjysted for current market conditions. Loans
held for sale, excluding impaired loans, were dfeeskas Level 2. Loans held for sale measurediatvblue that became impaired were
transferred from Level 2 to Level 3, as the estenddtfair value was based on LendingTree Loanseepce considering lien position and
current status of the loan. A significant changéh@unobservable inputs could have resulted igrifant change in the ending fair value
measurement. LendingTree Loans recognized intaresine separately from other changes in fair value.

Under LendingTree Loans' risk management policyndirgTree Loans economically hedged the changtsrimalue of IRLCs and loans
held for sale caused by changes in interest ratesing TBA MBS and entering into besfforts forward delivery commitments. These hed
instruments were recorded at fair value with charigdair value recorded in current earnings asraponent of revenue from the origination
and sale of loans. TBA MBS used to hedge both IR&@$1oans were valued using quantitative risk rieodased primarily on inputs relatec
characteristics of the MBS stratified by produciygon and settlement date. These derivatives wassified as Level 2. Prior to January 1,
2012, best-efforts forward delivery commitments evealued using a proprietary database program uisuggtor pricing tables considering the
current base loan price. Effective January 1, 20&2t-efforts forward delivery commitments wereueal using quantitative risk models based
on investor pricing tables stratified by produaitenrate and term, adjusted for current market itiond. An anticipated loan funding
probability was applied to value best-efforts commeints hedging IRLCs, which resulted in the classifon of these contracts as Level 3. The
current base loan price and the anticipated loadifig probability were the most significant assuon affecting the value of the best-efforts
commitments. A significant change in the unobsdesaiputs could have resulted in a significant @ge&in the ending fair value measurement.
The best-efforts forward delivery commitments heddbans held for sale were classified as LevebXuch contracts were transferred from
Level 3 to Level 2 at the time the underlying la@as originated. For the purposes of the tablesipele refer to TBA MBS and best-efforts
forward delivery commitments collectively as "Fordidelivery Contracts".

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis

There were no assets and liabilities that are nmedsat fair value on a recurring basis at Decerthe2013 and 2012 ; however, there
were during the year ended December 31, 2012.

The changes in assets and liabilities that are unedsat fair value on a recurring basis using $icgniit unobservable inputs (Level 3)
during the year ended December 31, 2012 are asv®(In thousands) :

December 31, 2012

Interest Rate Lock Forward Delivery Loans Held
Commitments Contracts for Sale

Balance at January 1, 2012 $ 9,12: $ 18 $ 29t
Transfers into Level 3 — — 564
Transfers out of Level 3 — (84%) —
Total net gains (losses) included in earnings izgedland unrealized) 73,37¢ 84¢ (147
Purchases, sales, and settlements:

Purchases — — —

Sales (5,640 (20 (497

Settlements (3,407 — (227)
Transfers of IRLCs to closed loans (73,459 — —
Balance at December 31, 2012 $ — 3 — 3 —
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The following presents the gains (losses) includeshrnings for the year ended December 31, 268lb2img to assets and liabilities that
measured at fair value on a recurring basis usgmgficant unobservable inputs (Level @) thousands) :

Year Ended December 31, 2012

Interest Rate Forward Loans
Lock Delivery Held
Commitments Contracts for Sale
Total net gains (losses) included in earnings, tvikie included in discontinued
operations $ 73,37¢ $ 84¢ $ (1479)
Change in unrealized losses relating to assetdiamitities still held at
December 31, 2012, which are included in discortihoperations $ — ¢ — 3 (412)

The gain recognized in the consolidated statenafriperations for derivatives for the year endedddaber 31, 2012 was as folloyia
thousands) :

Year Ended
December 31,
Location of Gain Recognized in Income on Derivative 2012
Interest Rate Lock Commitments Discontinued operations $ 73,37¢
Forward Delivery Contracts Discontinued operations 4,244
Total gain on derivatives $ 77,62

Assets and liabilities under the fair value option

LendingTree Loans elected to account for loans fegldale originated on or after January 1, 200@iatvalue. Electing the fair value
option allowed a better offset of the changes inalues of the loans and the forward deliverytcacts used to economically hedge them,
without the burden of complying with the requirernsefor hedge accounting.

LendingTree Loans did not elect the fair value apion loans held for sale originated prior to Jayda 2008 and on loans that were
repurchased from investors on or subsequent taltitat As of December 31, 2013 and 2012 , there weoans held for sale or carried at the
lower of cost or market ("LOCOM") value assesse@nrindividual loan basis.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the chiarfgé value of loans held for sale for which tiaér value option was elected was a
gain of $2.7 million and is included in disconticueperations in the consolidated statement of djpera

Loan Loss Obligations

LendingTree Loans sold loans it originated to iteeson a servicing-released basis, so the riséssfor default by the borrower was
generally transferred to the investor. However,diegTree Loans was required by these investorsatikengertain representations and
warranties relating to credit information, loan dowentation and collateral. These representatiodsvamnranties may extend through the
contractual life of the loan. Subsequent to tha lsale, if underwriting deficiencies, borrower filaar documentation defects are discovered in
individual loans, LendingTree Loans may be obligdterepurchase the respective loan or indemn#yirtkestors for any losses from borrowel
defaults if such deficiency or defect cannot beeduwithin the specified period following discovehy.the case of early loan payoffs and early
defaults on certain loans, LendingTree Loans maneheired to repay all or a portion of the premiinitially paid by the investor.

The Company's HLC subsidiary continues to be liftniéhese indemnification obligations, repurchabBgations and premium repaym
obligations following the sale of substantially aflthe operating assets of its LendingTree Loarsiriess in the second quarter of 2012. As of
December 31, 2013, approximately $21.2 milliobéing held in escrow pending resolution of certdithese contingent liabilities. The
Company has been negotiating with certain secontlarket purchasers to settle any existing and éutontingent liabilities, but it may not be
able to complete such negotiations on acceptabigsteor at all. Because LendingTree Loans doesemice the loans it sold, it does not
maintain nor generally have access to the curralainises and loan performance data with respehetmtlividual loans previously sold to
investors. Accordingly, LendingTree Loans is unabldetermine, with precision, its maximum expodoreébreaches of the representations
warranties it made to the investors that purchaseti loans.
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During the fourth quarter of 2013, the Companysetdliits estimation process for evaluating the aaegof the reserve for loan losses to
use a settlement discount framework. This mod@&heses the lifetime losses on the population ofaigimg loans originated and sold by
LendingTree Loans using actual defaults for loaith similar characteristics and projected futuréadés. It also considers the likelihood of
claims expected due to alleged breaches of repe®rs and warranties made by LendingTree Loadglampercentage of those claims
investors estimate LendingTree Loans may agreeporchase. A settlement discount factor is thefieppo the result of the foregoing to
reflect publicly announced bulk settlements forikimoan types and vintages, as well as LendingTr@ans' non-operating status, in order to
estimate a range of potential obligation.

The estimated range of remaining loan losses ubisgettlement discount framework was determindokt$17 to $31 million at
December 31, 2013 and resulted in a range thasimakr to the prior methodology employed. As sunh adjustment to the reserve was mad
in the fourth quarter of 2013 as a result of thengje in methodology. The reserve balance recorsiefl Recember 31, 2013 was $28.5
million . Management has considered both objecdiivé subjective factors in the estimation processglven current general industry trends in
mortgage loans as well as housing prices and maxjgectations, actual losses related to Lendingloags' obligations could vary
significantly from the obligation recorded as o thalance sheet date or the range estimated above.

Additionally, Tree.com has guaranteed certain Icaoid to two investors in the event that LendingTeans is unable to satisfy its
repurchase and warranty obligations related to soenfs.

The following table represents the loans sold liergeriod shown and the aggregate loan lossesgihi@acember 31, 2013 :

December 31, 2013

Original
Principal
Original Number of Balance of Amount of
Number of Principal Loans with Loans with Aggregate
Period of Loan Sales Loans Sold Balance Losses Losses Losses
(in billions) (in millions) (in millions)
2013 — 3 — —  $ — 3 =
2012 9,20( 1.€ — — —
2011 12,50( 2.7 1 0.8 0.1
2010 12,40( 2.8 4 1.1 0.1
2009 12,80( 2.8 5 1.2 0.2
2008 11,00( 2.2 33 6.€ 2.2
2007 36,30( 6.1 16C 22.1 8.2
2006 55,00( 7.S 207 24.t 13.£
2005 and prior years 86,70( 13.C 89 12.2 5.C
Total 235,90 % 39.4 49¢ $ 68.4 $ 29.2

In the second quarter of 2012, LendingTree Loamspteted settlements with two buyers of previouslychased loans. These settlements
of $0.5 million and $3.3 million , respectively]ate to all existing and substantially all futuosses on loans sold to these buyers. The
settlement amounts were included as charge-offsetoeserve in the second quarter of 2012. Thkesetht amounts for these settlements wer
not determined on an individual loan basis andtherefore, not included in the loss amounts didoabove for the years such loans were
sold.

Based on historical experience, it is anticipatexd tendingTree Loans will continue to receive mepase requests and incur losses on
loans sold in prior years. However, the tsaitlements discussed above will substantiallyiakite future repurchase requests from those b
for the loan types included in those settlements.
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The activity related to loss reserves on previossly loans is as follow@n thousands) :

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012
Loan loss reserve, beginning of period $ 27,18: % 31,51:
Provisions 1,531 6,97
Change in estimate — (6,499
Charge-offs to reserves 70 (4,819
Loan loss reserve, end of period $ 28,54: % 27,18:

During 2012, in order to reflect the Company's é&xitn the mortgage loan origination business anddimmercial objective to pursue b
settlements with investors, management reviseédtimation process for evaluating the adequackefaserve for loan losses. The revised
methodology resulted in a $6.5 million reductiorttte loss reserve on previously sold loans.

The liability for losses on previously sold loasdricluded in current liabilities of discontinuegesations in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets.

Warehouse Lines of Credit

As a result of the closing of the sale of subs#digtall of the operating assets of the LendingTiteans business on June 6, 2012, all three
then-existing warehouse lines of credit totalin@%® million expired and terminated on July 21, 20Borrowings under these lines of credit
were used to fund, and were secured by, consursielergial loans that were held for sale. Loans utitese lines of credit were repaid using
proceeds from the sales of loans by LendingTreento@he LendingTree Loans business was highly dépdron the availability of these
warehouse lines.

NOTE 17 —FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The following disclosures represent financial instents in which the December 31, 2013 and 201hgrthlances are not carried at fair
value in their entirety on the consolidated balastoeets. The estimated fair value of these finam@g&ruments has been determined by the
Company using available market information and appate valuation methodologies. However, considleraidgment is required to interpret
market data to develop the estimates of fair valeeordingly, the estimates presented herein ar@@cessarily indicative of the amounts that
could be realized in a current market exchange.uBeeof different market assumptions or estimati@thodologies may have a material
impact on the estimated fair value amounts.

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value
Cash and cash equivalefits $ 91,667 $ 91,667 $ 80,19( $ 80,19(
Restricted cash and cash equivaléits 26,01 26,01° 29,41« 29,41«
Accrued expenses (23,265 (23,265 (29,960 (29,960

(a) The carrying amounts of cash and cash equitsabnd restricted cash and cash equivalents tedléc the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets approximate fair value, as thegnametained with various high-quality financial itistions or in short-term duration
high-quality debt securities.

(b) The Company's restricted cash and cash egumitsafinancial instruments include letters of dredid surety bonds, for which we had
$2.5 million and $6.5 million in restricted castDstcember 31, 2013 and 2012 , respectively, aateodll for the surety bonds. These
commitments remain in place to facilitate certdithe Company's commercial operations.
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NOTE 18—SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company has omeportable segment, lending. The Company formefigrred to this reportable segment as its mortgagenent. Th
auto, education and home services operating segraemincluded in the "Other" category in the red@tion of segment information below.

The expenses presented below for the lending seganerithe operating segments shown in the Othegosy include allocations of
certain corporate expenses that are identifiabdedirectly benefit those segments. The unallocaigrenses included in the "Corporate"
category are those corporate overhead expensearéhadt directly attributable to an operating segiand include: finance, legal, executive
technology support and human resources.

Adjusted EBITDA is the primary metric by which tbhief operating decision maker evaluates the perdioce of the Company's
businesses, on which its internal budgets are basédy which management is compensated. AdjudBd@BA is defined as operating incol
or loss (which excludes interest expense and tadjgsted to exclude amortization of intangibled dapreciation, and excluding (1) non-cash
compensation expense, (2) non-cash intangible aspairment charges, (3) gain/loss on disposabkséts, (4) restructuring and severance
expenses, (5) litigation settlements and contingsnand legal fees for certain patent litigatid),ddjustments for significant acquisitions or
dispositions, and (7) one-time items. For the mlvipresented in this report, there are no adjussiienone-time items, except for a $0.9
million related to a discretionary cash bonus payine employee stock option holders and a one-tiordribution to an educational trust of
$0.4 million .

Assets and other balance sheet information aresest by the chief operating decision maker.
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Summarized information by segment and reconciligtim Adjusted EBITDA and income (loss) before meotaxes is as followsn

thousands) :
Year Ended December 31, 2013
Lending Other Corporate Total
Revenue $ 127,98! $ 10,63: $ 62 9 139,24(
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenuéexclusive of depreciation shown separately bel ow) 5,46¢ 613 46( 6,542
Selling and marketing expense 83,69 7,44¢ (22 91,12:
General and administrative expense 3,62¢ 2,24¢ 18,78« 24,65¢
Product development 4,30z 962 — 5,26¢
Depreciation 1,452 1,64z 40€ 3,501
Amortization of intangibles — 147 — 147
Restructuring and severance 78 46 35 15¢
Litigation settlements and contingencies — 31 8,92 8,95¢
Total costs and expenses 98,62¢ 13,13t 28,58 140,34
Operating income (loss) 29,36( (2,509 (27,969 (1,107%)
Adjustments to reconcile to Adjusted EBITDA:
Amortization of intangibles — 147 — 147
Depreciation 1,452 1,642 40€ 3,501
Restructuring and severance 78 46 35 15¢
Loss on disposal of assets — — 16E 16E
Non-cash compensation 1,681 68¢ 3,257 5,627
Discretionary cash bonus — — 92C 92C
Trust contribution — — 35C 35C
Litigation settlements and contingencies — 31 8,92 8,95t
Adjusted EBITDA $ 32,57 $ 52 ¢ (13,90) $ 18,71%
Operating income (loss) $ (1,10%)
Interest expense (19
Income (loss) before income taxes $ (1,12¢)
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Year Ended December 31, 2012

Lending Other Corporate Total
Revenue $ 61,17¢ $ 14,62( $ 1,64 77,44
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation showassely below) 3,23¢ 53€ 521 4,29t
Selling and marketing expense 35,25( 13,671 7 48,93¢
General and administrative expense 3,47( 2,88¢ 15,87: 22,23:
Product development 2,271 1,25¢ (6) 3,52¢
Depreciation 1,53¢ 1,991 57¢ 4,10¢
Amortization of intangibles — 35¢ — 35¢
Restructuring and severance 20 11 (88) (57)
Litigation settlements and contingencies — — (3,100 (3,100
Total costs and expenses 45,79 20,71¢ 13,78¢ 80,29
Operating income (loss) 15,38¢ (6,099 (12,137 (2,85))
Adjustments to reconcile to Adjusted EBITDA:
Amortization of intangibles — 35¢ — 35¢
Depreciation 1,53¢ 1,991 57¢ 4,10¢
Restructuring and severance 20 11 (88) (57
Loss on disposal of assets 38¢ 34t 5 73€
Non-cash compensation 987 507 3,09: 4,58
Litigation settlements and contingencies — — (3,109 (3,109
Adjusted EBITDA $ 18,31¢ $ (2,887 $ (11,650 3,77¢
Operating income (loss) (2,85))
Interest expense (8817)
Income (loss) before income taxes (3,739
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ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants orcéenting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As required by Rule 13a-15(b) of the Securitiestaxge Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act"), managemeith the participation of our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officeonducted an evaluation, as of the end of thege&overed by this report, of the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and pracesias defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e).dgament necessarily applied its
judgment in assessing the costs and benefits bf satrols procedures, which by their nature cavipie only reasonable assurance regar
management's control objectives. Management ddesxpect that our disclosure controls and procesdiwitt prevent or detect all errors and
fraud. A control system, irrespective of how welkidesigned and operated, can only provide redderassurance and cannot guarantee that
will succeed in its stated objectives.

Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executived®@ffand Chief Financial Officer concluded thatpd®ecember 31, 2013, our
disclosure controls and procedures were effectiyirdvide reasonable assurance that the informagiguired to be disclosed by us in the
reports we file or submit under the Exchange Acetorded, processed, summarized and reportednwtitaitime periods specified in the SE
rules and forms, and that such information is aadated and communicated to our management, inadualim Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allomdély decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Finangal Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and taiaing adequate internal control over financiglaring, as defined in Rule 13a-15(f)
under the Exchange Act. Our internal control dirncial reporting is a process designed to p@vehsonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacet of financial statements for external purposeadcordance with GAAP. Our internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies @nocedures that: (1) pertain to the maintenaficecords that in reasonable detail accuratel
and fairly reflect our transactions and dispos#iof our assets; (2) provide reasonable assurhatéransactions are recorded as necessary t
permit preparation of financial statements in adaace with GAAP and that our receipts and experelitare being made only in accordance
with authorizations of our management and our thrsg and (3) provide reasonable assurance regppd@vention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of agsets that could have a material effect on ttenfiial statements. Because of its inherent
limitations, internal control over financial repio may not prevent or detect misstatements. Alsgjections of any evaluation of effectiven
to future periods are subject to the risk that mstmay become inadequate because of changesiiitions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management, with the participation of our Chief Eixéive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, assabtie effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting as of December&113 . In making this assessment, our managensedtthe criteria for effective internal
control over financial reporting described in "Imal Control-Integrated Framework" (1992) issuedh®y Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission ("COSBgsed on our evaluation under the framework irinkernal Control-Integrated
Framework, issued by the COSO, management hasumtattthat our internal control over financial rejpay was effective as of December 31,
2013 . The effectiveness of our internal contra@rdinancial reporting as of December 31, 2013kb&en audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP, an independent registered public accounting,fas stated in their report appearing under "Befinancial Statements and
Supplementary Data" included elsewhere in this ahraport.

Remediation of Previously Identified Material Weakress

Management previously identified and disclosed gena weakness in our internal control over finahceporting related to the
application and monitoring of our accounting focome taxes. Specifically, management determinedidvaot have controls designed and in
place to ensure effective oversight of the workéqrened by, and the accuracy of financial informatgrovided by, third-party tax advisors.
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In response to this material weakness, managertrenggthened our processes over accounting for iedaxes. These actions included
designing and implementing new controls in ourfieocesses, redefining the role of the consultamdsimproving communication with and
monitoring of the consultants. Management testedrtiplemented and improved controls and found ttebe effectively designed and
operating, leading the Company to conclude thatrfaterial weakness had been remediated as of ec&h, 2013 .

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

As described above under Remediation of Previoldggtified Material Weaknesses, there were chamgear internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in the Exchange, &utles 13a-15(f)) that occurred during the quasteted December 31, 2013 that have
materially affected, or are reasonable likely tdemially affect, our internal control over finantiaporting.

ITEM 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART IlI

As set forth below, the information required bytRHr(Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14) is incorporakeuiein by reference to Tree.com's
definitive proxy statement to be used in connectitth its 2014Annual Meeting of Stockholders and which will bledi with the Securities ai
Exchange Commission not later than 120 days dfteenhd of the Company's fiscal year ended DeceBhet013 (the " 2014 Proxy
Statement”), in accordance with General Instruc®g8) of Form 10-K.

ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govente

The information required by Item 10 will be contdhin, and is hereby incorporated by referencth®n2014 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by Item 11 will be contdihin, and is hereby incorporated by referencth®n2014 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners aianagement and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by Item 12 will be contdhin, and is hereby incorporated by referencth®n2014 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, abitector Independence

The information required by Item 13 will be contdihin, and is hereby incorporated by referencth®n2014 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
The information required by Item 14 will be contdihin, and is hereby incorporated by referencth®n2014 Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a) List of documents filed as part of this report

(1) Consolidated Financial Statements of Tree.oo

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfiimg: PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the YEaded December 31, 2013 and 2012 .

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&012012 .

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' EquitthialYears Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 .

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the YEaded December 31, 2013 and 2012 .

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(2) Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule$ tree.com

Schedule
Number

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other financial statements and schedules rst¢di have been omitted since the required infoonasi included in the consolidated
financial statements or the notes thereto, or isapplicable or required.

(3) Exhibits

The documents set forth below, numbered in accaelarnth Item 601 of Regulation S-K, are filed heitbvor incorporated herein by
reference to the location indicated below.

Exhibit
Number Description Location
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation o Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant's Current Report onnfr8-K
Tree.com, Inc. filed August 25, 2008
3.2 Second Amended and Restated By-laws of Tree.cam, In Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant's Quarterly Rémor Form 10-Q
filed November 12, 2013
10.1 Employment Agreement between Douglas R. Lebda and Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant's Registration Steget on
IAC/InterActiveCorp, dated as of January 7, 2008* Form S-1 (No. 333-152700), filed August 1, 2008
10.z Employment Agreement by and between David Norris an  Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant's Quarterly Reporform 10-
LendingTree, LLC, dated June 30, 2008* Q filed May 12, 2010
10.2 Employment Agreement between Robert L. Harris and Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant's Registration Stetet on
LendingTree, LLC, dated as of June 30, 2008* Form S-1 (No. 333-152700), filed August 1, 2008
10.2 Employment Agreement between Matt Packey and Exhibit 10.16 to the Registrant's Registration Stant on
LendingTree, LLC, dated as of August 3, 2008* Form S-1 (No. 333-152700), filed August 1, 2008
10.5 Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement between Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's Current ReporfFomm 8-K
Douglas R. Lebda and IAC/InterActiveCorp, datedfis filed August 20, 2008
August 15, 2008*
10.€ Amendment No. 2 to the Employment Agreement between Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current ReporfForm 8-K

Douglas R. Lebda and Tree.com, Inc.*
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Number Description Location
10.7 Amendment No. 1 to the Employment Agreement between Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current Reportomrm 8-K
Robert Harris and Tree.com, Inc.* filed March 27, 2009
10.¢ Amendment No. 1 to the Employment Agreement between Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Current Reporfomm 8-K
Matthew Packey and Tree.com, Inc.* filed March 27, 2009
10.¢ Severance Agreement between Greg Hanson, RealEstatanc Exhibit 10.8 to the Registrant's Quarterly Reporform 10-
Tree.com, dated April 22, 2009* Q filed May 12, 2010
10.1C Amendment to Employment Agreement between Davidislor Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant's Quarterly Reporform 10-
and Tree.com, Inc., dated December 3, 2009* Q filed May 12, 2010
10.11 Confidential Severance Agreement and Release bpeiween Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant's Quarterly Reporform 10-
Robert L. Harris and Tree.com, Inc., dated March@®,0* Q filed May 12, 2010
10.1z Change in Control Letter from Tree.com, Inc. to gskanson, Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant's Quarterly Reporform 10-
dated March 26, 2010* Q filed May 12, 2010
10.1: Amendment No. 3 to the Employment Agreement between Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Quarterly Reporform 10-
Douglas R. Lebda and Tree.com, Inc., dated MayQ00* Q filed May 12, 2010
10.1¢ Amendment No. 2 to Employment Agreement betweeridav Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant's Quarterly Reporform 10-
Norris and Tree.com, Inc., dated May 10, 2010* Q filed May 12, 2010
10.1t Severance Agreement between Tree.com, Inc. andh&fatt Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Quarterly Reporf@rm 10-
Packey, dated May 10, 2010* Q filed August 3, 2010
10.1€ Letter Agreement between Tree.com, Inc. and Cipfso Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Quarterly Reporf@rm 10-
Hayek, dated June 28, 2010* Q filed August 3, 2010
10.17 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement by amekba Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current ReporFomrm 8-K
Tree.com, Inc. and Douglas R. Lebda, dated Oct®6e2010* filed November 1, 2010
10.1¢ Employment Agreement between Tree.com, Inc. andeite  Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current ReporfForm 8-K
Ozonian, dated October 31, 2010* filed November 1, 2010
10.1¢ Confidential Severance Agreement and Release, dédech 31, Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Current Reporfonm 8-K
2011, by and between Tree.com, Inc. and Steveni@zbn filed April 6, 2011
10.2( Letter Agreement dated as of April 20, 2011 by betiveen Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant's Quarterly Reporf@rm 10-
Tree.com, Inc. and Gabriel Dalporto. Q filed May 20, 2013
10.21 Employment Agreement by and between David Norriés an  Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant's Quarterly Reporform 10-
Tree.com, Inc. effective as of February 7, 2012* Q filed May 15, 2012
10.22 Letter Agreement dated as of July 27, 2012 by atdiden Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Reporform 10-
Tree.com, Inc. and Alexander Mandel* Q filed November 14, 2012
10.2: Severance Letter dated as of September 9, 2012TFremcom, Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant's Quarterly Reporform 10-
Inc. to Gabriel Dalporto. Q filed May 20, 2013
10.2¢ Letter Agreement dated as of December 11, 201ztybatweent
Tree.com, Inc. and Carla Shumate*
10.2¢ Transition Services and Separation Agreement anck@é t
Release dated as of December 13, 2012 by and betwee
LendingTree, LLC and Christopher Hayek*
10.2¢ Employment Agreement dated January 9, 2014 by ehdden 1
Douglas Lebda and Tree.com
10.27 Employment Agreement dated January 9, 2014 by eteden T

Gabe Dalporto and Tree.com
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Exhibit

Number Description Location
10.2¢ Restricted Share Grant and Stockholder's Agreerdatgd as of Exhibits 99.2 and 99.3 to the Registrant's CurRsyiort on
August 15, 2008, by and among IAC/InterActiveCorp, Form 8-K filed August 20, 2008
LendingTree Holdings Corp. and Douglas R. Lebdgetioer
with Exhibit A thereto, Amended and Restated Ciegte of
Incorporation of LendingTree Holdings Corp.*
10.2¢ Amendment No. 1 to the Stock Option Award Agreement  Exhibit 10.15 to the Registrant's Quarterly Reporform 10-
between Douglas R. Lebda and Tree.com, Inc., ddtsd10, Q filed May 12, 2010
2010*
10.3C Amendment No. 3 to the Master Repurchase Agreerdated Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current ReporfForm 8-K
July 22, 2010, by and between Home Loan Center aind filed July 28, 2010
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
10.31 Amendment No. 1 to the Restricted Share Grant and Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant's Quarterly Reporf@rm 10-
Stockholder's Agreement, dated August 30, 2010 dxtw Q filed November 12, 2010
Tree.com, Inc., LendingTree Holdings Corp. and Dasi@R.
Lebda*
10.32 Award Letter between Greg Hanson and Tree.com Bldirg Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Current Report on F8 filed
Company, Inc. dated January 28, 2011* February 3, 2011
10.3: Third Amended and Restated Tree.com, Inc. 2008kSind Exhibit 10.86(a) to the Registrant's Post-Effecthrmendment
Annual Incentive Plan* to its Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333700),
filed July 13, 2012
10.3¢ Form of Notice of Restricted Stock Unit Award* Bl 10.86(b) to the Registrant's Post-Effective éamdment
to its Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333700),
filed July 13, 2012
10.3¢ Second amended and restated Tree.com, Inc. 20088 &tol Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's current reporfonm 8-K
Annual Incentive Plan* filed May 1, 2009
10.3¢ Form of Restricted Stock Award* Exhibit 10.86(0)the Registrant's Post-Effective Amendmen
to its Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333700),
filed July 13, 2012
10.37 Form of Notice of Stock Option Award* Exhibit 10.86(d) to the Registrant's Post-Effecthraendment
to its Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333700),
filed July 13, 2012
10.3¢ Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Dinmestto Exhibit 10.15 to the Registrant's Registrati@tatement on
Form S-1 (No. 333-152700), filed August 1, 2008
10.3¢ Form of Notice of Restricted Stock Unit Award* Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant's Current ReporForm 8-K
filed March 27, 2009
10.4C Form of Restricted Stock Award* Exhibit 10.5 t@tRegistrant's Current Report on Form 8-K
filed March 27, 2009
10.41 Form of Notice of Stock Option Award* Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant's Current ReporForm 8-K
filed March 27, 2009
10.4z Option Cancellation Agreement, made and enteredasatof the Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Reporfonm 8-K
28th day of April, 2009, by and between Tree.cams, hnd filed May 1, 2009
Douglas R. Lebda*
10.4: Form of Amendment to Restricted Stock Awards fouflas R. Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant's Quarterly Reporform 10-
Lebda* Q filed May 12, 2010
10.4¢ Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement* Exhitit11 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Fbom
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Exhibit

Number Description Location
10.4t Form of Notice of Restricted Stock Unit Award* Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report-orm 10-
Q filed May 12, 2010
10.4¢ Form of Notice of Stock Option Award* Exhibit 1@ 1o the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 1C
Q filed May 12, 2010

10.47 Standard Terms and Conditions to Restricted Stogkrd Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's Current Report on F8¢R filed
Letters of Tree.com BU Holding Company, Inc.* February 3, 2011

10.4¢ Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of Janua@0@8, by Exhibit 10.13 to the Registrant's Registration &tegnt on
and among Countrywide Bank, FSB and Home Loan Celmte Form S-1 (No. 333-152700), filed August 1, 2008
(the "Master Repurchase Agreement")

10.4¢ Notice, dated June 25, 2008, issued by CountryWidechouse Exhibit 10.14 to the Registrant's Registration Stegnt on
Lending, regarding certain amendments to the Md&&purchas Form S-1 (No. 333-152700), filed August 1, 2008
Agreement

10.5C Amendment to Master Repurchase Agreement No. 1 miade Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Reporfomm 8-K
entered into as of February 23, 2009 by and betulezn filed February 27, 2009
Warehouse Lending Division of Countrywide Bank, FS&

Home Loan Center, Inc.

10.51 Amendment No. 3 to Master Repurchase Agreemergddat  Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Reporfonm 8-K
July 22, 2010, by and between Home Loan Center aind filed July 28, 2010
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.

10.52 Amendment No. 4 to Master Repurchase Agreemergdde of Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Reporfomm 8-K
October 29, 2010 by and between Home Loan Cemterahd filed October 25, 2010
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.

10.5: Warehousing Credit Agreement, dated as of Noverabe2007, Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrant's Registration Stant on
by and among Home Loan Center, Inc. d/b/a LendiegTroans Form S-1 (No. 333-152700), filed August 1, 2008
National City Bank and National City Bank in itspaeity as
Agent for the Banks (as defined therein)

10.5¢ Second Amendment to Warehousing Credit Agreemeatlemn Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Reporfomm 8-K
and entered into as of the 12th day of Decemb&82and to be filed December 17, 2008
effective as of the 30 th day of December, 2008ty among
Home Loan Center, Inc. d/b/a LendingTree Loansjddat City
Bank and National City Bank in its capacity as Agfen the
Banks (as defined therein).

10.5¢ Loan Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 16, 2088veen Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant's Registration Stant on
Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. and Home Loan Cefer, Form S-1 (No. 333-152700), filed August 1, 2008

10.5¢ Amended and Restated Restricted Share Grant andi&t@ers' Exhibit 10.8 to the Registrant's Registration Stegnt on
Agreement, dated as of July 7, 2003, by and amangsE Form S-1 (No. 333-152700), filed August 1, 2008
Merger Corp., LendingTree, Inc., InterActiveCormlahe
Grantees named therein, as amended (filed as E@8ili to
Amendment No. 1 to IAC/InterActiveCorp's Registoati
Statement on Form S-4 (SEC File No. 333-105876) fdn
July 10, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.57 Correspondent Loan Purchase Agreement, dated/A&gribP6, Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant's Registration Steget on
2004, between CitiMortgage, Inc. and Home Loan &emtc. Form S-1 (No. 333-152700), filed August 1, 2008

10.5¢ Separation and Distribution Agreement, dated asugfust 20, Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Registration Steget on

2008, by and among IAC/InterActiveCorp, HSN, Iroterval
Leisure Group, Inc., Ticketmaster and Tree.com, Inc
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Exhibit

Number Description Location

10.5¢ Tax Sharing Agreement, dated as of August 20, 269&nd Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current ReporfFomm 8-K
among IAC/InterActiveCorp, HSN, Inc., Interval Leig filed August 25, 2008
Group, Inc., Ticketmaster and Tree.com, Inc.

10.6( Employee Matters Agreement, dated as of Augus2@08, by Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Current Reporfonm 8-K
and among IAC/InterActiveCorp, HSN, Inc., Intertaisure filed August 25, 2008
Group, Inc., Ticketmaster and Tree.com, Inc.

10.61 Transition Services Agreement, dated as of Aug0s2@08, by Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant's Current Reporfonm 8-K
and among IAC/InterActiveCorp, HSN, Inc., Intertaisure filed August 25, 2008
Group, Inc., Ticketmaster and Tree.com, Inc.

10.62 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of AugQseR08, Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant's Current ReporForm 8-K
among Tree.com, Inc., Liberty Media Corporation aimerty  filed August 25, 2008
USA Holdings, LLC

10.6¢ Spinco Assignment and Assumption Agreement, dadeaf a  Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant's Current ReporfFomrm 8-K
August 20, 2008, among IAC/InterActiveCorp, Treengdnc., filed August 25, 2008
Liberty Media Corporation and Liberty USA Holdindg,C

10.6¢ Stock Purchase Agreement, dated February 8, 2@d®&ekn Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current ReporfFomm 8-K
Tree.com, Inc. and Douglas R. Lebda* filed February 11, 2009

10.6% Early Purchase Program Addendum to Loan Purchase Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current ReporfFomm 8-K
Agreement, made and entered into as of May 1, B0ghd filed May 6, 2009
between Bank of America, N.A. and Home Loan Ceriter,

10.6€ Master Repurchase Agreement, made and enteredsrib Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current ReporForm 8-K
May 1, 2009, by and between Bank of America , MAd Home filed May 6, 2009
Loan Center, Inc.

10.67 Transactions Terms Letter for Master Repurchased&gent, Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Current Reporfonm 8-K
made and entered into as of May 1, 2009, by anddsat Bank filed May 6, 2009
of America, N.A. and Home Loan Center, Inc.

10.6¢ Master Repurchase Agreement dated as of Octob@083, by Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Reporfonm 8-K
and between Home Loan Center, Inc. and JPMorgaseCBank,filed October 30, 2009
N.A.

10.6¢ Side Letter dated October 30, 2009 regarding thstéta Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current ReporForm 8-K
Repurchase Agreement between JPMorgan Chase Bahk, a filed October 30, 2009
Home Loan Center, Inc.

10.7C Third Amendment to Warehousing Credit Agreementlenand Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current ReporfForm 8-K
entered into as of the 18th day of December, 2808 to be filed December 23, 2009
effective as of the 29th day of December, 200%y among
Home Loan Center, Inc. d/b/a LendingTree Loans Bd6XK,
National Association, successor to National CitpRats
capacity as Agent for the Banks (as defined thgrein

10.71 Fourth Amendment to Warehousing Credit Agreemeatjeranc Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Reporfonm 8-K

entered into as of February 15, 2010 by and amamgeHLoan filed February 19, 2010
Center, Inc. d/b/a LendingTree Loans, PNC Bankjdvat

Association (successor to National City Bank) ahtCHBank,

National Association (successor to National CityBain its

capacity as Agent for the Banks (as defined thgrein
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Number Description Location

10.72 Amendment No. 1 to Transactions Term Letter, madkemtere(Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current ReporfForm 8-K
into as of April 28, 2010 by and between Home LGamter, Inc.filed April 30, 2010
d/b/a LendingTree Loans and Bank of America

10.7: Amendment No. 1 to Transactions Term Letter, madkemtere(Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Reporfonm 8-K
into as of April 28, 2010 by and between Home LGamter, Inc filed April 30, 2010
d/b/a LendingTree Loans and Bank of America

10.7¢ Amendment No. 1 to Stock Purchase Agreement between Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Quarterly Reporform 10-
Tree.com, Inc. and Douglas R. Lebda, dated MayQ0p* Q filed May 12, 2010

10.7¢ Amendment No. 1 to Early Purchase Program Addenunoan Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Reporfonm 8-K
Purchase Agreement, dated July 15, 2010, by anai@Bank of filed July 21, 2010
America, N.A. and Home Loan Center, Inc.

10.7¢ Mandatory Forward Loan Volume Commitment, date¢ 18, Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current ReporfForm 8-K
2010, by and among Bank of America, N.A. and HoroarL  filed July 21, 2010
Center, Inc.

10.77 Transaction Terms Letter for Master Repurchase égent, Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant's Current ReporfFomm 8-K
dated July 15, 2010, by and among Bank of AmeNcA, and filed July 21, 2010
Home Loan Center, Inc.

10.7¢ Share Exchange Agreement dated August 30, 201Webat Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Reporfomm 8-K
Tree.com, Inc. and Douglas R. Lebda* filed September 1, 2010

10.7¢ Second Amendment to Side Letter dated as of Oct2®e2010 Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current Reporfonm 8-K
with respect to the Home Loan Center, Inc. ware@dasility  filed October 25, 2010.
with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.

10.8( Asset Purchase Agreement dated November 15, 20a8dy Exhibit 2.1 to Registrant's Current Report on F@&Hfiled
among Home Loan Center, Inc., First Residentialtlyige November 16, 2010
Network, Inc. dba SurePoint Lending, and the shadshs of
First Residential Mortgage Network named therein

10.81 Letter Agreement dated as of January 24, 2011 tybatween Exhibit 10.66 to the Registrant's Annual Reporfonm 10-K
RealEstate.com, Inc. and Steven Ozonian* filed February 28, 2011

10.8Z First Amendment to Asset Purchase Agreement datediML4, Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant's Current Report omf8-K
2011 by and among HLC, SurePoint and the sharefsofiety filed March 21, 2011
thereto

10.8% Second Amendment to Asset Purchase Agreement dated Exhibit 2.2 to the Registrant's Current Report omf8-K
March 15, 2011 by and among HLC, SurePoint and the filed March 21, 2011
shareholders party thereto

10.8¢ Amendment No. 5 to Master Repurchase Agreemergddat  Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current ReporfForm 8-K
March 31, 2011, by and between Home Loan Centerand  filed April 6, 2011
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.

10.8t Third Amendment to Side Letter, dated March 31,122@y and Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current Reporfonm 8-K
between Home Loan Center, Inc. and JPMorgan Chask,B filed April 6, 2011
N.A.

10.8¢ Asset Purchase Agreement dated May 12, 2011 bwmamwhg  Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant's Current Report omfi-8-K

Tree.com, Inc., Home Loan Center, Inc., Lending Tk,
HLC Escrow, Inc. and Discover Bank.**
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Exhibit
Number

Description

Location

10.8i

10.8¢

10.8¢

10.9C

10.91

10.92

10.9¢

10.9¢

10.9¢

10.9¢

10.9:

10.9¢

10.9¢

10.10(

10.10:

10.10:

Form of Assignment and Assumption Agreement

Form of Bill of Sale

Escrow Agreement Terms

Form of Voting and Support Agreement of Douglad &bda

Form of Voting and Support Agreement of Liberty Need
Corporation

Form of Voting and Support Agreement of Second €ubLC

Exhibit 2.2 to the Registrant's Current Report omfr8-K
filed May 16, 2011

Exhibit 2.3 to the Registrant's Current Report onnfr8-K
filed May 16, 2011

Exhibit 2.4 to the Registrant's Current Report omf-8-K/A
filed August 12, 2011

Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's Currentdepn Form 8-K
filed May 16, 2011

Exhibit 99.2 to the Registrant's Current ReporForm 8-K
filed May 16, 2011

Exhibit 99.3 to the Registrant's CurrenpB# on Form 8-K
filed May 16, 2011

Amendment No. 6 to Master Repurchase Agreemergddet of Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current ReporfFomm 8-K

June 29, 2011, by and between Home Loan Centerait
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.

Fourth Amendment to Side Letter, dated as of Jh&Q11,
with respect to the Home Loan Center, Inc. warebdasility
with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.

Amendment No. 1 to Transaction Terms Letter dagedfa

filed July 6, 2011

Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current Reporfomm 8-K
filed July 6, 2011

Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Current ReporfFomm 8-K

June 29, 2011, which supplements that certain M&spurchasfiled July 6, 2011

Agreement dated as of May 1, 2009 by and betweeneHman

Center, Inc. and Bank of America, N.A.
Amendment No. 2 to Transactions Terms Letter dasedf

Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current ReporfFomm 8-K

July 12, 2011, which supplements that certain M&R&purchasdiled July 15, 2011

Agreement dated as of May 1, 2009 by and betweeneHman

Center, Inc. and Bank of America, N.A.

Amendment No. 2 to Early Purchase Program Addendunoan Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current ReporFomm 8-K

Purchase Agreement dated as of July 12, 2011, which
supplements that certain Loan Purchase Agreemeady
between Bank of America, N.A. and Home Loan Ceriter,
dated April 16, 2002.

Extension Letter Agreement dated as of August 0112
regarding the Master Repurchase Agreement by ambba

Bank of America, N.A. and Home Loan Center, IndedaMay 1

2009

Asset Purchase Agreement dated September 15, 3Cdridb

among LendingTree, LLC, RealEstate.com, Inc. andkista
Leader, Inc.**

Bill of Sale dated September 16, 2011 by and among

filed July 15, 2011

Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report~orm 10-
Q filed August 15, 2011

Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant's Current Report omfr8-K
filed September 21, 2011

Exhibit 2.2 to the Registrant's Current Report omfr8-K

LendingTree, LLC, RealEstate.com, Inc. and Markeader, Inc.filed September 21, 2011

Assignment and Assumption Agreement dated Septefrther

Exhibit 2.3 to the Registrant's Current Report onnfr8-K

2011 by and among LendingTree, LLC, RealEstate.¢om and filed September 21, 2011

Market Leader, Inc.

Amendment No. 3 to Transaction Terms Letter dagedfa
September 30, 2011, which supplements that cevtaster

Repurchase Agreement dated as of May 1, 2009 bypetween

Home Loan Center, Inc. and Bank of America, N.A.
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Exhibit

Number Description Location

10.10¢ Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of Octob@013, by Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current ReporfFonm 8-K
and between Home Loan Center, Inc. and Citibank, N. filed October 19, 2011

10.10¢ Pricing Side Letter dated as of October 13, 20%Jard betweenExhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current ReporForm 8-K
Home Loan Center, Inc. and Citibank, N.A. filed October 19, 2011

10.10¢ Amendment No. 7 to Master Repurchase Agreementidet®f Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant's Quarterly Repaorfrarm 10-
October 28, 2011, by and between Home Loan Cenierand Q filed November 14, 2011
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.

10.10¢ Amendment No. 5 to Side Letter dated as of Oct@Be2011, Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant's Quarterly Reportorm 10-
which supplements that certain Master Repurchaseehgent Q filed November 14, 2011
dated as of October 30, 2009 by and between Horaa Lo
Center, Inc. and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.

10.10° Amendment No. 2 to Master Repurchase Agreementadet®f Exhibit 10.11 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report=orm 10-
November 1, 2011, which supplements that certaint®&ta Q filed November 14, 2011
Repurchase Agreement dated as of May 1, 2009 bypetween
Home Loan Center, Inc. and Bank of America, N.A.

10.10¢ Amendment No. 4 to Transaction Terms Letter datedfa Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrant's Quarterly Reportorm 10-
November 1, 2011, which supplements that certaist&ta Q filed November 14, 2011
Repurchase Agreement dated as of May 1, 2009 bpetween
Home Loan Center, Inc. and Bank of America, N.A.

10.10¢ Amendment Number One dated as of December 13, 20tht Exhibit 10.97 to the Registrant's Annual Reporfonm 10-K
Master Repurchase Agreement dated as of Octob&013,by filed April 16, 2012
and between Home Loan Center, Inc. and CitiBank, N.

10.11( Master Repurchase Agreement dated as of Januafigd,by  Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Repaorfr@rm 10-
and between Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgaget@ldg.C  Q filed May 15, 2012
and Home Loan Center, Inc.

10.11. Amendment No. 2 dated as of January 20, 2012 tivitster Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Quarterly Reporform 10-
Repurchase Agreement dated as of October 13, 20ahd Q filed May 15, 2012
between Home Loan Center, Inc. and Citibank, N.A.

10.11: Amendment No. 3 dated as of January 31, 2012 tMtster Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Quarterly Reporf@rm 10-
Repurchase Agreement dated as of October 13, 204hd Q filed May 15, 2012
between Home Loan Center, Inc. and Citibank, N.A.

10.11: Amendment to Asset Purchase Agreement dated ashofi&ry 7 Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant's Current Report omfr8-K
2012 by and among Home Loan Center, Inc., HLC Egchac., filed February 8, 2012
LendingTree, LLC, Tree.com, Inc., Discover Bank &jiscover
Financial Services**

10.11« Amended and Restated Master Repurchase Agreementa® Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant's Quarterly Repaorf@rm 10-
of February 17, 2012 by and between Citibank, MuAd Home Q filed May 15, 2012
Loan Center, Inc.

10.11¢ Amendment No. 8 to Master Repurchase Agreementidet®f Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant's Quarterly Repaorfarm 10-
April 25, 2012, by and between Home Loan Centar, &md Q filed May 15, 2012
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.

10.11¢ Change in Control Letter dated as of July 27, 268 2nd Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Quarterly Reporform 10-
between Tree.com, Inc. and Alexander Mandel* Q filed November 14, 2012

10.117 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement* t

10.11¢ Form of Notice of Restricted Stock Unit )

Award*
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Exhibit
Number

Description Location

10.11¢
21.1
23.1
24.1

31.1

31.2

32.1

32.2

101.CAL
101.DEF

101.INS
101.LAB
101.PRI
101.SCt

Form of Notice of Stock Option Award* t
Subsidiaries of Tree.com, Inc. t
Consent of independent registered public accouffiting

Power of Attorney (included on signature page af Annual
Report on Form 10-K)

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursudo Rule 13a t
14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchahefeof 1934

as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarb@rkes- Act of
2002

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursudo Rule 13a-t
14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchafgteof 1934

as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarb@rkes- Act of
2002

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursiido 18 U.S.Ctt
Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 9€&dbarbanes
Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursudo 18 U.S.C. 1
Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 9¢G&dbarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuine 1t
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhen 1+
XBRL Instance Document Tt
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document Tt
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenim 1t
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document Tt

—+ —+

T Filed herewith

t1 This certification is being furnished solelyatcompany this report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 13580 ,isnot being filed for purposes of
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 198dlia not to be incorporated by reference intofdimg of the registrant, whether made
before or after the date hereof, regardless ofg@meral incorporation language in such filing.

t11 Furnished herewith. Pursuant to Rule 406 T gfuReion S-T, the Interactive Data Files on Exhilfil hereto are deemed not filed or part
of a registration statement or prospectus for psep®f Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Actd#31 as amended, are deemed not filed for
purposes of Section 18 of the Securities and Exghdct of 1934, as amended, and otherwise areutjéc to liability under those sections.

* Management or compensation plan or agreement.

** Certain schedules to this Exhibit have been ¢ediin accordance with Regulation S-K Item 601(p){he Company agrees to furnish
supplementally a copy of all omitted scheduleh®3EC upon its request.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyisthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduaty authorized.

Date: March 17, 2014
TREE.COM, INC.
By: /s DOUGLAS R. LEBDA

Douglas R. Lebda
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each imtlial whose signature appears below constitutesappdints Katharine
Pierce his true and lawful attorney and agent, fithpower of substitution and resubstitution, foam and in his name, place and stead, in any
and all capacities, to sign any and all amendmtenttse Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-Ktlfer fiscal year ended December 31, 2013
and to file the same with all exhibits thereto, afidther documents in connection therewith, with Securities and Exchange Commission,
granting unto said attorney and agent full powet anthority to do and perform each and every adttaimg requisite and necessary to be d
as fully to all intents and purposes as he miglaoaid do in person, hereby ratifying and confirghall that said attorney and agent may
lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities indicateti@n the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ DOUGLAS R. LEBDA Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Director March 17, 2014
Douglas R. Lebda (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ ALEXANDER MANDEL Chief Financial Officer March 17, 2014
Alexander Mandel (Principal Financial Officer)
/sl CARLA SHUMATE Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer March 17, 2014
Carla Shumate (Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ PETER HORAN Director March 17, 2014
Peter Horan
/s/ JOSEPH LEVIN Director March 17, 2014
Joseph Levin
/s/ NEAL DERMER Director March 17, 2014
Neal Dermer
/s/ STEVEN OZONIAN Director March 17, 2014

Steven Ozonian

/sl W. MAC LACKEY Director March 17, 2014
W. Mac Lackey
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Schedule Il
TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Balance at Charges to
Beginning of Charges to Other Balance at
Description Period Earnings Accounts Deductions End of Period
(In thousands)
2013:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 505 $ 24¢ $ — % (349) ® 3 40¢
Deferred tax valuation allowance 54,96 (5,287 @ — — 49,67
2012:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 86 $ 40¢€ $ — % 1 ® 3 502
Deferred tax valuation allowance 68,13¢ (13,17¢ @ — — 54,96

(& Amount is primarily related to Tree.com neergiing losses and other deferred tax assetsdingaccrued expenses and goodwill,
which impacted the income tax provision.

(b) Write-off of uncollectible accounts receivat

80



Exhibit 10.117

RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD AGREEMENT

Important Note : You must login to your account at to accept thisAward and obtain other important information concerning this

Award, such as a copy of the Fourth Amended and R&ged Tree.com 2008 Stock and Annual Incentive Plaand the Terms anc
Conditions for Restricted Stock Awards. Additional copies of these documents are also available on thtyEquity page of the Compan
intranet or upon request from your Human ResourceDepartment.

This Restricted Stock Award Agreement (the “Agreatfjeis made between Tree.com, Inc., a Delawargamwtion (“Tree.com”),anc
[NAME]. The Grant Date for the Restricted Sharesuaded under this Agreement is [DATE].

Tree.com sponsors the Tree.com Amended and Ref2868&] Stock and Annual Incentive Plan (the “Plaiffis Agreement represents
award of Shares of Restricted Stock under the Pllirtapitalized terms used herein, to the extesttdefined, shall have the same meanir
set forth in the Plan.

The Shares of Restricted Stock covered by this émgent are being awarded subject to the followingn$éeand provisions:

1.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the PlantaigdAgreement, Tree.com awards to you [NUMBERA®s of Restricted Sto
(the “Restricted Shares”).

In order for all or any portion of the RestrictetiaBes to vest, you must be continuously employedrtee.com (or any of i
Subsidiaries or Affiliates) to the vesting datewhich the applicable performance conditions are, mgetdescribed in Section 3. °
actual number of Restricted Shares that vest wildetermined based on the extent to which the pedoce conditions describec
Section 3 are met. Nothing in this Agreement or Bt@n shall confer upon you any right to continnettie employ or service
Tree.com (or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates)interfere in any way with their rights to termate your employment or service
any time, [subject to the terms of [EMPLOYMENT AGRKEENT]].

You will earn and become vested in the Restrictear&s in accordance with the conditions of thigiBe@. Until they become vest
the Restricted Shares shall be subject to canicglland forfeiture in accordance with Section SolelUntil vested, you may not st
transfer, pledge, assign or otherwise alienateypothecate the Restricted Shares (such period gluvhich restrictions apply is t
“Restriction Period”). Subject to the Performanceas set forth below, the Restricted Shares sleall &s follows:

€) If Tree.coms EBITDA is $[XXX] or more for the [YEAR] fiscal yar, [XXX] Restricted Shares will become vestec
[DATE] if you have been in continuous employmentservice with Tree.com (or any of its Subsidiaeg\ffiliates) to tha
date.

(b) If Tree.com$ EBITDA is $[XXX] or more for the [YEAR] fiscal yar, [XXX] Restricted Shares will become vestec
[DATE] if you have been in continuous employmentservice with Tree.com (or any of its Subsidiaeg\ffiliates) to tha
date.

(c) If Tree.com$ EBITDA is $[XXX] or more for the [YEAR] fiscal yar, [XXX] Restricted Shares will become vestec
[DATE] if you have been in continuous employmentservice with Tree.com (or any of its Subsidiaeg\ffiliates) to tha
date.

(d) If Tree.com’s EBITDA is less than $[XXX] foriteer the [YEAR] or the [YEAR] fiscal year, but Teecoms cumulativi

EBITDA is $[XXX] or more that fiscal year and thenimediately following fiscal year (the “Second Fis¥@ar”), [XXX]
Restricted Shares will become vested on the [MONDAY] immediately following the Second Fiscal Ydayou have bee
in continuous employment or service with Tree.camapy of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates) to thattd.

(e) If Tree.coms EBITDA did not equal or exceed $[XXX] for eithére [YEAR] or the [YEAR] fiscal year, but its cunative
EBITDA for the [YEAR] through [YEAR] fiscal year p®d was $[XXX] or more, all [NUMBER] Restricted 8tes wil
become vested on [DATE] if you have been in cordirsiemployment or service with Tree.com (or anjo8ubsidiaries
Affiliates) to that date.




[ Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of aa@fpe in Control while you are still employed by &@m (or any of i
Subsidiaries or Affiliates), [XXX]% of the themutstanding unvested Restricted Shares subjedtisoAward shall vest upon t
occurrence of such Change in Control.]

[Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event yopesience a Termination of Employment due to yowtker Disability, then all «
the theroutstanding unvested Restricted Shares subjebit@tvard shall vest upon such Termination of Ergpient.]

Any cash dividends declared on the Shares shailebi subject to the vesting of the underlying Retgtd Shares in accordance v
this Section (and shall be paid only if and whethsuwesting conditions are satisfied), and subjeetrty adjustment pursuant to Sec
3(d) of the Plan, dividends payable in Shares dbalpaid in the form of Restricted Shares and dfwbkimilarly held subject to t
vesting of the underlying Restricted Shares in ataace with this Section.

You agree that you shall comply with (or provideeqdate assurance as to future compliance wittgpgdlicable securities laws &
income tax laws as determined by Tree.com witheeisp your receipt of the Restricted Shares. Iditah, you agree that, up
request, you will furnish a letter agreement pringdthat (a) you will not distribute or resell any said shares in violation of t
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, (b) you willeimnify and hold Tree.com harmless against alilitglfor any such violation ar
(c) you will accept all liability for any such vition. You expressly acknowledge and agree to beddy Section 14(o) of the Pl
which contains provisions addressing the Compapgly on recoupment of equity or other compensatio

You represent and warrant that you understand ederél, state and local income tax consequencékeofiranting of Restricts
Shares. Under Section 83 of the Code, the Fair dtavklue of the Restricted Shares on the date arfgifure restrictions applicat
to such Restricted Shares lapse will be reportablerdinary income at that time. You may volunyagilect to be taxed at the time
Restricted Shares are acquired to the extent tieaF&air Market Value of the Restricted Shares edgdke amount of considerat
paid by you (if any) for such Restricted Sharethat time rather than when such Restricted Sharasecto be subject to such forfei
restrictions, by filing an election under Sectia3(l8 of the Code with the Internal Revenue Serviithin thirty (30) days after tt
Grant Date. YOU ACKNOWLEDGE THAT IT IS YOUR SOLE FHPONSIBILITY, AND NOT TREE.COMS, TO FILE £
TIMELY ELECTION UNDER CODE SECTION 83(b), EVEN IFQU REQUEST TREE.COM OR ITS REPRESENTATIVES
MAKE THIS FILING ON YOUR BEHALF. MOREOVER, YOU ARERELYING SOLELY ON YOUR OWN ADVISORS WITI
RESPECT TO THE DECISION AS TO WHETHER OR NOT TO EIA CODE SECTION 83(b) ELECTION.

You acknowledge and agree that upon your ceasirigetemployed by Tree.com or any of its Subsidiaoieg\ffiliates during th
Restriction Period all then outstanding unvestedtfRged Shares subject to this Award will be cdedeand forfeited withol
consideration and returned to Tree.com upon youmiFation of Employment. For the avoidance of doutznsfers of employme
among Tree.com and its Subsidiaries and Affiliateishout any break in service, is not a TerminatafnEmployment. In order
facilitate the transfer to Tree.com of any Shanesypant to the terms hereof and as a conditiohisfAward, you shall timely exect
the enclosed stock power (Assignment Separate @ertificate). The stock power may be used by Tmem.to transfer any unves:
Shares to Tree.com in accordance with this Sec¥a. further hereby irrevocably appoint (which ajpiment is coupled with ¢
interest) Tree.com as your agent and attoriveyfact to take any necessary or appropriate actiocatsse Shares to be returne
Tree.com in accordance with this Section, includimithout limitation executing and delivering stoplowers and instruments
transfer, making endorsements and/or making, timitiaor issuing instructions or entittement ordea8,in your name and on yc
behalf. Without limiting the foregoing, you exprigsacknowledge and agree that any transfer agerthéoShares is fully authoriz
and protected in relying on, and shall incur nbility in acting on, any documents, instrumentgj@sements, instructions, order:
communications from Tree.com in connection with 8teres or the transfer thereof, and that any sacisfer agent is a third pa
beneficiary of this Agreement.

In the event of any conflict between this Agreemamd the Plan, the Plan shall control; providedf #n action or provision that
permissive under the terms of the Plan, and reduireder this Agreement, shall not be deemed a icbrihd this Agreement sh
control. In the event of any ambiguity in this Agneent, or any matters as to which this Agreemensient, the Plan shall govern.

Tree.com may modify, amend or waive the terms afryRestricted Shares, prospectively or retroagtivelit no such modificatio
amendment or waiver shall materially impair yoghis without your consent, except as required Ipliegble law, NASDAQ or stoc
exchange rules, tax rules or accounting rules.




8. Your acceptance of the Restricted Shares congtitybeir authorization of the release from time toetito Tree.com or any of
Subsidiaries or Affiliates and to the Agent (togeththe “Relevant Companiestf any and all personal or professional data tk
necessary or desirable for the administration afryRestricted Shares and/or the Plan (the “Releldatmation”). Without limiting
the above, this authorization permits your emplgytompany to collect, process, register and trarief¢he Relevant Companies
Relevant Information (including any professionaldapersonal data that may be useful or necessarnth®rpurposes of tl
administration of the Restricted Shares and/orRtlam and/or to implement or structure any furthemts of equity awards (if any
The acceptance of the Restricted Shares also tdmstiyour authorization of the transfer of the éRaht Information to ar
jurisdiction in which Tree.com, your employing coamy or the Agent considers appropriate. You shalehaccess to, and the righ
change, the Relevant Information, which will onky lised in accordance with applicable law.

9. Your Award is not intended to constitute “noalified deferred compensationtithin the meaning of Section 409A of the Code
the rules and regulations issued thereunder (“@ed®9A”"). In no event shall Tree.com be requirecay you any “grossip” or
other payment with respect to any taxes or pemaitgposed under Section 409A or Code Sections 2804999 with respect to a
amounts or benefits paid to you in respect of youard.

10. In the event any provision of this Agreement shalheld illegal or invalid for any reason, theghdity or invalidity shall not affect tt
remaining parts of the Agreement, and the Agreersieall be construed and enforced as if the illegahvalid provision had not be
included. This Agreement and the Plan, constittitedinal understanding between you and Tree.cayarding the Restricted Shai
Any prior agreements, commitments or negotiatiarcerning the Restricted Shares are superseded.

11. Any certificate(s) for the Restricted Shares maythie discretion of Tree.com, be deposited in eganith the Secretary of Tree.ct
(or his/her designee) to be held until vesting.dttick certificates evidencing Shares free fromstriaive legend shall be deliverec
you until you have paid to Tree.com the amount thast be withheld with respect to those Sharesniedieral, state and local inco
and employment tax laws (the “Applicable Withholglifaxes”)or you and Tree.com have made arrangements thatgaeed to i
writing by Tree.com for the payment of such taxésless you inform Tree.com in writing before theligable date of vesting tt
you will timely pay the Applicable Withholding Tageamount then due with cash, Tree.com shall autoafigtretain that number
Shares (valued at their Fair Market Value as ofaglicable date of vesting of the Restricted S$jatteat would satisfy the Applical
Withholding Taxes.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Tree.com has caused this Ageeno be executed by its duly authorized offigard you have hereunto set y
hand, all effective as of the Grant Date listedvahd®y signing below, you are also acknowledgingeiet of copies of the Plan and the P&an’
prospectus.

TREE.COM, INC.
By:
Title:

[NAME]




ASSIGNMENT SEPARATE FROM CERTIFICATE
(Stock Power)

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned does herebygasand transfer unto

Name:

Address:

Social Security or
Taxpayer Identification Number:

shares of the Stock of
represented by Certificate No(s).
herewith, standing in the name of the undersigard,does hereby appoint

attorney, with full power of substitution, to trdessaid shares on the books of said corporation.

Sgnature;

Date:

[NAME]



Exhibit 10.11€

Notice of Restricted Stock Unit Award Granted Underthe
Fourth Amended and Restated Tree.com, Inc. 2008 Sik and Annual Incentive Plan
(the “2008 Amended Plan”)

Important Note : You must login to your account at to accept thig\ward and obtain other important information concerning this
Award, such as a copy of the Fourth Amended and Regted Tree.com 2008 Stock and Annual Incentive Plaand the Terms and
Conditions for Restricted Stock Unit Awards (the “Terms and Conditions”). Additional copies of these dcuments are also available on
the MyEquity page of the Company intranet or upon equest from your Human Resources Department. You &oowledge that you havi
received copies of the Plan and the Plan’s prosperst

Award Recipient:

Restricted Stock Unit Restricted stock units (“RSUs”) granted under theé®Amended Plan.

Award:

Award Date:

Vesting Schedule: Subject to your continuous employment with Tree.@oris Subsidiaries or Affiliates, your RSUs

shall, subject to the provisions of the 2008 AmehBEn and the Terms and Conditions, vest and
no longer be subject to any restriction as of th&timg dates and the achievement of any applicable
performance goals, as set forth below:

Impact of a Termination Except as otherwise provided in the 2008 Amended Bt in the Terms and Conditions, or any

of Employment: Individual Agreement, all of your unvested RSUsl wé forfeited and canceled without
consideration in their entirety upon a TerminatidfEmployment.

Terms and Conditions: Capitalized terms used (but not defined) in thisa#avNotice shall have the meanings set forth in

the 2008 Amended Plan.

Your RSUs are subject to the Terms and Conditiowista the 2008 Amended Plan. We strongly
encourage you to review the Terms and Conditionstia@® 2008 Amended Plan. These documents
will help provide you with a full understanding ydur RSU award.

Terms and Conditions for Restricted Stock Unit Awad
Overview

These Terms and Conditions apply to the restristeck units (the “Award”) awarded to you by Treexrcdnc. (“Tree.com” or the “Company”
pursuant to Section 7 of the Fourth Amended andaRsss Tree.com 2008 Stock and Annual Incentive Rtz “2008 Amended Plan”). You
were notified of your Award by way of an award wet{the “Award Notice”). All capitalized terms uskerein, to the extent not defined, shall
have the meaning as set forth in the 2008 Amendted P

Continuous Service

In order for RSUs to vest, you must be continuoeshployed by Tree.com or any of its Subsidiarieafdiliates during the Restriction Period
(as defined below) or as otherwise provided insthsting section below. Nothing in your Award Notiteese Terms and Conditions, or the

2008 Amended Plan shall confer upon you any rigltiontinue in the employ or service of Tree.comamy of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates or

interfere in any way with their rights to termingteur employment or service at any time and for ango reason.

Vesting
Subject to the Award Notice, these Terms and Canditand the 2008 Amended Plan, the RSUs in respgcur Award, shall vest and no

longer be subject to satisfaction of any restrictim the dates and subject to any applicable pagnce conditions (such period during which
restrictions apply is the “Restriction Period”)faows:




The vesting of your Award is conditioned upon yoantinuous employment with Tree.com or its Subsidgaor Affiliates through each
respective vesting date.

[Notwithstanding the foregoing, 100% of your thamstanding and unvested portion of your Award shadlt upon the occurrence of a Change
in Control which occurs during your employment wittee. Com (or any Subsidiary or Affiliate). Thente"Change in Control” is defined in
the 2008 Amended Plan, and includes certain e\affasting Tree.com (not events only affecting sfietiusinesses of Tree.com).]

[Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event yopesience a Termination of Employment due to yowatll@r Disability, then 100% of your
then-outstanding and unvested portion of your Avgdrall vest upon such Termination of Employment.]

[Include any other specific vesting events apprawethe Compensation Committee.]
Termination of Employment

Upon the Termination of your Employment with Tremrcor any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates duritige Restriction Period for any reason,
any unvested portion of this RSU Award shall bédibed and canceled in its entirety without consatien effective immediately upon such
Termination of Employment.

For the avoidance of doubt, transfers of employraembng the Company and its Subsidiaries and Afi§iawithout any break in service, is not
a Termination of Employment.

Settlement

Subject to your satisfaction of the tax obligatidescribed immediately below under “Taxes and Wittlimg,” as soon as practicable after any
RSUs in respect of your Award have vested and alemger subject to the Restriction Period (butdrevent later than two and one-half
months after the end of the fiscal year in whiokh RSUs vest), such RSUs shall be settled. For R&thsettled, Tree.com shall issue one S
(or cash equivalent) for each RSU that has vedtetlithstanding the foregoing, Tree.com shall bétked to hold the Shares or cash issuable
to you upon settlement of all RSUs that have vestgi Tree.com or the agent selected by Tree.apadminister the 2008 Amended Plan (the
“Agent”) has received from you (i) a duly executegtrm W-9 or W-8 and (ii) payment for any federats, local or foreign taxes of any kind
required by law to be withheld with respect to sSR3Us.

Taxes and Withholding

No later than the date as of which an amount ipeesof any RSUs first becomes includable in yausg income for federal, state, local
foreign income or employment or other tax purpo3ese.com or its Subsidiaries and/or Affiliateslghanless prohibited by law, have the ri
to deduct any federal, state, local or foreign seodeany kind required by law to be withheld wigspect to such amount due to you, including
deducting such amount from the delivery of Sharesash issued upon settlement of the RSUs thas gige to the withholding requirement. In
the event Shares are deducted to cover tax witifggdthe number of Shares withheld shall genetedlye a Fair Market Value equal to the
aggregate amount of Tree.com’s withholding obligaion the date of settlement. If the event thatsargh deduction and/or withholding is
prohibited by law, you shall, prior to or contemgoeously with the settlement of your RSUs, be regluio pay to Tree.com, or make
arrangements satisfactory to Tree.com regardingalyenent of, any federal, state, local or forexes of any kind required by law to be
withheld with respect to such amount.

Non-Transferability of the RSUs

Until such time as your RSUs are ultimately setttedy shall not be transferable by you by mearsate, assignment, exchange, encumbranc
pledge, hedge or otherwise.

No Rights as a Stockholder

Except as otherwise specifically provided in th@2@mended Plan, unless and until your RSUs atkedetith Shares, you shall not be
entitled to any rights of a stockholder with resgedhe RSUs (including the right to vote the uglag Shares or receive dividends).
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Tree.com declaaed pays dividends on the Common Stock durindréheriction Period for particular RS!
in respect of your Award, you will be credited wabditional amounts for each RSU underlying suctafiequal to the dividend that would
have been paid with respect to such RSU as ifdtdeen an actual share of Common Stock, which atrehall remain subject to restrictions
(and as determined by the Committee may be




reinvested in RSUs or may be held in kind as restliproperty) and shall vest concurrently withwhsting of the RSUs upon which such
dividend equivalent amounts were paid (and shadidited at the same time as the underlying RSdsaso subject to satisfaction of tax
withholding).

Other Restrictions

The RSUs shall be subject to the requirement that any time the Committee shall determine tlijathe listing, registration or qualification of
the shares of Common Stock subject or related tinegon any securities exchange or under any stde=leral law, or (ii) the consent or
approval of any government regulatory body is neagsor desirable as a condition of, or in conmectiith, the delivery of shares, then in any
such event, the award of RSUs shall not be effeatiMess such listing, registration, qualificatioansent or approval shall have been effectec
or obtained free of any conditions not acceptablhé Committee.

Conflicts and Interpretation

In the event of any conflict between these Ternts@anditions and the 2008 Amended Plan, the 2008mded Plan shall control; provided,
that an action or provision that is permissive uritle terms of the 2008 Amended Plan, and requinetr these Terms and Conditions, shall
not be deemed a conflict and these Terms and Gonslishall control. In the event of any ambiguitythese Terms and Conditions, or any
matters as to which these Terms and Conditionsikmet, the 2008 Amended Plan shall govern. Inethent of (i) any conflict between the
Award Notice (or any information posted on Tree.tmtranet or given to you directly or indirectlyrough the Agent (including information
posted on https://www.benefitaccess.com) and Toe®@books and records, or (i) ambiguity in the @ Notice (or any information posted
on Tree.com’s intranet or given to you directhiradirectly through the Agent (including informatigosted on
https://www.benefitaccess.com), Tree.com’s bookkracords shall control.

Amendment

Tree.com may modify, amend or waive the terms aofryRSUS, prospectively or retroactively, but notsomdification, amendment or waiver
shall materially impair your rights without yourresent, except as required by applicable law, NASIAGtock exchange rules, tax rules or
accounting rules.

Data Protection

The acceptance of your RSUs constitutes your alzthitton of the release from time to time to Treenamr any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates
and to the Agent (together, the “Relevant Compénhifsany and all personal or professional datd ihaecessary or desirable for the
administration of your RSUs and/or the 2008 Amenidkth (the “Relevant Informationyithout limiting the above, this authorization péts
your employing company to collect, process, regiatel transfer to the Relevant Companies all Relelvdormation (including an

professional and personal data that may be usefidcessary for the purposes of the administratigrour RSUs and/or the 2008 Amended
Plan and/or to implement or structure any furth@nts of equity awards (if any)). The acceptancgoofr RSUs also constitutes your
authorization of the transfer of the Relevant Infation to any jurisdiction in which Tree.com, yamploying company or the Agent considers
appropriate. You shall have access to, and thé tigthange, the Relevant Information, which willyobe used in accordance with applicable
law.

Sections 409A, 280G and 4999 of the Code

Your Award is not intended to constitute “nonquetif deferred compensation” within the meaning aft®a 409A of the Code and related
rules and regulations (“Section 409A"). In no evemall Tree.com be requireéa pay you any “gross-up” or other payment with ezggo any
taxes or penalties imposed under Section 409A ¢aleCSection 280G or 4999) with respect to any atsoninbenefits paid to you in respect of
your Award.

Notification of Changes
Any changes to these Terms and Conditions shakeklie posted on Tree.com’s intranet or commurdcgither directly by Tree.com or

indirectly through any of its Subsidiaries, Affilés or the Agent) to you electronically via e-n{ail otherwise in writing) after such change
becomes effective.



Exhibit 10.11¢

Notice of [YEAR] Stock Option Award Granted Under the
Fourth Amended and Restated Tree.com, Inc. 2008 Sik and Annual Incentive Plan

Important Note : You must login to your account at to accept thisAward and obtain other important information concerning this
Award, such as a copy of the Fourth Amended and Ri&ged Tree.com 2008 Stock and Annual Incentive Plafthe “Amended 200:
Plan”) and the Terms and Conditions for Option Awards (the “Terms and Conditions”). Additional copies of these documents are al
available on the MyEquity page of the Company intraet or upon request from your Human Resources Depament. You acknowledg:
that you have received copies of the Plan and thdd®'’s prospectus.

Award Recipient:

[YEAR] Stock Option Under the Amended 2008 Plan:

Award:
You have been awarded a nonqualified option to iaegux Shares of Tree.com common stoc
an “Exercise Price” obxxx per Share (“Stock Option”);

Award Date: , 201

Vesting Schedule: Subject to your continued employment with Tree.aorits Subsidiaries or Affiliates, your Stock
Option shall, subject to the provisions of the Amhedh 2008 Plan, vest and no longer be subject to
any vesting restrictiorin three equal annual installments (rounded to nearegtole number)
on each of the first three anniversaries of your Avd Date, beginning [DATE].

Expiration Date: Once vested, your Stock Option will expire uponéhdier of (i) the expiration of the 12-month
period following your Termination of Employment fany reason other than death, Disability or
Retirement, (ii) the expiration of the one-yearipéifollowing your Termination of Employment
due to death, Disability or Retirement or (iii) y€ars from your Award Date (the “Expiration
Date”), except as otherwise provided in the Amen2{g@B Plan or the attached Terms and
Conditions.

If you do not exercise your vested Stock Optiorobethe Expiration Date, your unexercised
Stock Option will be forfeited and canceled inetgirety.

Impact of a Termination of  Except as otherwise provided in the Amended 20@8,RInd any employment agreement

Employment: between you and Tree.com, the unvested portiohi®fStock Option will be forfeited without
consideration and canceled in its entirety uporr Ji@armination of Employment.
Terms and Conditions: Capitalized terms used (but not defined) in thisatavNotice shall have the meanings set forth in

the Amended 2008 Plan.

Your Stock Option is subject to the Terms and Coowlé attached hereto and to the Amended
2008 Plan, which are posted wmw.benefitaccess.comand incorporated herein by reference,
and any employment agreement between you and ®rae(Copies of these documents are also
available upon request from your Human Resourcgmiment. In the event of a conflict
between the Terms and Conditions and this Notiie NMotice shall control.

Without a complete review of these documents, ydunat have a full understanding of all the
material terms of your Stock Option.




Terms and Conditions for Stock Option Award
Overview

These Terms and Conditions apply to the stock ogtite “Award”) awarded to you by Tree.com, Incl¢e.com” or the “Company”)
pursuant to Section 5 of the Fourth Amended andafss Tree.com 2008 Stock and Annual Incentive Rtz “2008 Amended Plan”). You
were notified of your Award by way of an award weti{the “Award Notice”). All capitalized terms uskdrein, to the extent not defined, shall
have the meaning as set forth in the 2008 Amenthed P

Continuous Service

In order for the Award to vest, you must be corunsly employed by Tree.com or any of its Subsidimdr Affiliates during the Restriction
Period (as defined below) or as otherwise providdtie Vesting section below. Nothing in your Awatdtice, these Terms and Conditions, ot
the 2008 Amended Plan shall confer upon you artyt tigcontinue in the employ or service of Tree.aamany of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates
or interfere in any way with their rights to terrate your employment or service at any time ancfgror no reason.

Vesting

Subject to the Award Notice, these Terms and Canditand the 2008 Amended Plan, the Award shatlared no longer be subject to
satisfaction of any restriction on the dates argjesii to any applicable performance conditionstigueriod during which restrictions apply is
the “Restriction Period”) as set forth in the VegtiSchedule section of the Award Notice.

[Notwithstanding the foregoing, 100% of your themstanding and unvested portion of your Award shedlt upon the occurrence of a Change
in Control which occurs during your employment wittee. Com (or any Subsidiary or Affiliate). Thente"Change in Control” is defined in
the 2008 Amended Plan, and includes certain e\affasting Tree.com (not events only affecting sfietiusinesses of Tree.com).]

[Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event yopesience a Termination of Employment due to youirBeent, death or Disability, then
100% of your then-outstanding and unvested poudfoyour Award shall vest upon such Termination offfoyment.]

[Include any other specific vesting events apprdwethe Compensation Committee.]
Termination of Employment

Upon your Termination of Employment with Tree.conaay of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates during tRestriction Period for any reason, any
unvested portion of this Award shall be forfeitediaanceled in its entirety without consideratiffe@ive immediately upon such Termination
of Employment. The then vested portion of this t@ption may remain exercisable after your TermaraEmployment to the extent
permitted under Plan section 5(i).

For the avoidance of doubt, transfers of employraembng the Company and its Subsidiaries and Ai§iawithout any break in service, is not
a Termination of Employment.

Exercise

When you wish to exercise this Award, you mustfgdtie Company by filing a “Notice of Exercise” ihe form prescribed by Tree.com at the
address given on the form. Your notice must spéduifiy many Shares you wish to purchase and is subj¢lce minimum purchase limitation
set forth in Plan section 5(g). The notice can dordgome effective after it is received and apprdwethe Company. If someone else wants to
exercise this Stock Option after your death, tlespn must prove to the Company’s satisfactiontibair she is entitled to do so.

When you submit your Notice of Exercise, you mustude payment of the aggregate Exercise PricthébEhares you are purchasing.
Payment may be made in one (or a combination)) akfiified or bank check or (ii) to the extent emped by the Committee by any of the
methods described in Plan sections 5(g)(i), 50g)Xi 5(g)(iii).




Taxes and Withholding

No later than the date as of which an amount ipaetsof any part of this Award first becomes inelbk in your gross income for federal, st
local or foreign income or employment or other paxposes, Tree.com or its Subsidiaries and/oriAfék shall, unless prohibited by law, have
the right to deduct any federal, state, local oeifyn taxes of any kind required by law to be wélthwith respect to such amount due to you,
including deducting such amount from the deliveirsbares or cash issued upon settlement of the d\tixat gives rise to the withholding
requirement. In the event Shares are deductedvier tax withholdings, the number of Shares withis#dll generally have a Fair Market Va
equal to the aggregate amount of Tree.com’s wittihglobligation on the date of exercise of the Bi@ption. If the event that any such
deduction and/or withholding is prohibited by lageu shall, prior to or contemporaneously with te&#lement of your Award, be required to
pay to Tree.com, or make arrangements satisfatdoryee.com regarding the payment of, any fedstate, local or foreign taxes of any kind
required by law to be withheld with respect to saofount. To the extent approved by the Committea,gay satisfy the applicable tax
withholding amounts as permitted under Plan secti{dl).

Non-Transferability of the Award

Your Award shall not be transferable by you by nseahsale, assignment, exchange, encumbrance,glbddge or otherwise except as may
be permitted under Plan section 5(j).

No Rights as a Stockholder

Until your Award is exercised and settled with Sisaryou shall not be entitled to any rights ofcalsholder with respect to the Award
(including the right to vote the underlying Shapeseceive dividends). Moreover, if Tree.com deztaand pays dividends on the Common
Stock during the Restriction Period, this Awardlwibt be credited with any dividends.

Other Restrictions

The Award shall be subject to the requirement that, any time the Committee shall determine {ijahe listing, registration or qualification
of the Shares of Common Stock subject or relatetetb upon any securities exchange or under atgy atdederal law, or (ii) the consent or
approval of any government regulatory body is neagsor desirable as a condition of, or in conmectiith, the delivery of Shares, then in i
such event, the Award and/or any issuance of Shendsr the Award shall not be effective unless disting, registration, qualification,
consent or approval shall have been effected @imdd free of any conditions not acceptable taQbmmittee.

Conflicts and Interpretation

In the event of any conflict between these Ternts@aonditions and the 2008 Amended Plan, the 2008mded Plan shall control; provided,
that an action or provision that is permissive uritle terms of the 2008 Amended Plan, and requinettr these Terms and Conditions, shall
not be deemed a conflict and these Terms and Gonslishall control. In the event of any ambiguitythese Terms and Conditions, or any
matters as to which these Terms and Conditionsikmat, the 2008 Amended Plan shall govern. Inethent of (i) any conflict between the
Award Notice (or any information posted on Tree.tmtranet or given to you directly or indirectlyrough the Agent (including information
posted on https://www.benefitaccess.com) and Toe®@books and records, or (i) ambiguity in the @ Notice (or any information posted
on Tree.com’s intranet or given to you directhyiradirectly through the Agent (including informatigosted on
https://www.benefitaccess.com), Tree.com’s boolkkracords shall control.

Amendment

Tree.com may modify, amend or waive the terms ofr yowards, prospectively or retroactively, but nels modification, amendment or
waiver shall materially impair your rights withogur consent, except as required by applicable B&4SDAQ or stock exchange rules, tax
rules or accounting rules.

Data Protection

The acceptance of your Award constitutes your aightion of the release from time to time to Treencor any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates
and to the Agent (together, the “Relevant Compdanifsany and all personal or professional datd ithaecessary or desirable for the
administration of your Award and/or the 2008 Ameah@an (the “Relevant Information”). Without limig) the above, this authorization
permits your employing company to collect, procesgister and transfer to the Relevant CompanléRedévant Information (including any
professional and personal data that may be usefdaessary for




the purposes of the administration of your Award/anthe 2008 Amended Plan and/or to implementroctire any further grants of equity
awards (if any)). The acceptance of your Award alsastitutes your authorization of the transfethef Relevant Information to any jurisdicti

in which Tree.com, your employing company or theeAigconsiders appropriate. You shall have accesstbthe right to change, the Relevan
Information, which will only be used in accordamnigh applicable law.

Sections 409A, 280G and 4999 of the Code

Your Award is not intended to constitute “nonqualif deferred compensation” within the meaning afti®a 409A of the Code and related
rules and regulations (“Section 409A”). In no eveimall Tree.com be requiréd pay you any “gross-up” or other payment with exdggo any
taxes or penalties imposed under Section 409A ¢aleCSection 280G or 4999) with respect to any atsoainbenefits paid to you in respect of
your Award.

Notification of Changes
Any changes to these Terms and Conditions shhkelie posted on Tree.com’s intranet or commurdc@ither directly by Tree.com or

indirectly through any of its Subsidiaries, Affiles or the Agent) to you electronically via e-n{ail otherwise in writing) after such change
becomes effective.



SUBSIDIARIES OF TREE.COM, INC.

Name

Exhibit 21.1

Jurisdiction of

Formation

LendingTree, LLC

Tree BU Holding Company, Inc.
DegreeTree, Inc. f/k/a Tree Insurance Agency, Inc.
Tree Home Services, Inc.

Home Loan Center, Inc.

HLC Escrow, Inc.

LendingTree Settlement Services, LLC
Realestate.com, Inc.

LT Real Estate, Inc.

Robin Acquisition Corp.

iNest Realty, Inc.

DE
DE
DE
DE
CA
CA
DE
DE
DE
DE
IL



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtlee Registration Statement on Form S-8 (N 8-882670) of Tree.com, Inc. of our
report dated March 17, 2014 relating to the finahsiatements, financial statemen t schedule améfflctiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, which appears in this FormKLO-

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Charlotte, North Carolina
March 17, 2014



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR RULE 15d-14(a) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Douglas R. Lebda, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on ForaKifor the period ended December 31, 2013 of Tmwa,dnc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary t
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgtsiunder which such statements were made, nigtadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant's other certifying officer(spdrare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isihg prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over finanogdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodgiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting principles

C) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratigslosure controls and procedures and presentusi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehlis report based on
such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegignt's internal control over financial reportthgt occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regis's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the registrant's internal control over finahceporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(spdrhave disclosed, based on our most recent el@tuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakres in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant's ability to record, process, summaaizé report financial
information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that innedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@niifiole in the
registrant's internal control over financial repugt

Dated: March 17, 2014

/s/ DOUGLAS R. LEBDA

Douglas R. Lebda
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR RULE 15d-14(a) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Alexander Mandel, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form lfaikthe period ended December 31, 2013 ree.com, Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary t
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant's other certifying officer(spdrare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedarecaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isihg prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over finanogdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting principles

C) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratigslosure controls and procedures and presentsi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on
such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegignt's internal control over financial reportthgt occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regis's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the registrant's internal control over finahceporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(spdrhave disclosed, based on our most recent el@tuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thdataumnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakges in the design or operation of internal cboirer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrbgistrant's ability to record, process, summaaizé report financial
information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that innedvmanagement or other employees who have a si@gniifiole in the
registrant's internal control over financial repugt

Dated: March 17, 2014

/sl ALEXANDER MANDEL

Alexander Mandel
Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer)




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Douglas R. Lebda, certify, pursuant to 18 U.SS€ction 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section B Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that to my knowledge:
(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fisgahr ended December 31, 2013 of Tree.com, Inc."Reeort") which this statement
accompanies fully complies with the requirementSe€tion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchafgeof 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or
780(d)); and

(2) the information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finargmaldition and results of operations of
Tree.com, Inc.

/sl DOUGLAS R. LEBDA

Douglas R. Lebda
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

Dated: March 17, 2014




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Alexander Mandel, certify, pursuant to 18 U.SSection 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section B Garbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that to my knowledge:
(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fisgahr ended December 31, 2013 of Tree.com, Inc."Reeort") which this statement
accompanies fully complies with the requirementSe€tion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchafgeof 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or
780(d)); and

(2) the information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finaremaidition and results of operations of
Tree.com, Inc.

/s/ ALEXANDER MANDEL

Alexander Mandel
Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer)

Dated: March 17, 2014




